
 

 

 

CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

Thursday, February 17, 2022 at 6:30 PM 
City Hall Council Chambers, 7286 Dietz Elkhorn, Fair Oaks Ranch 

AGENDA 

 

OPEN MEETING 

1. Roll Call - Declaration of a Quorum 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
CITIZENS and GUEST FORUM 

To address the Council, please sign the Attendance Roster located on the table at the entrance of the 
Council Chambers. In accordance with the Open Meetings Act, Council may not discuss or take action 
on any item which has not been posted on the agenda. Speakers shall limit their comments to five (5) 
minutes each.  

3. Citizens to be heard. 

 
PRESENTATIONS  

4. Presentation of a 10-Year Employee Service Award to Stacy Love, Investigator. 

Joanna Merrill, IPMA-SCP, Director of Human Resources and Communications 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All of the following items are considered to be routine by the City Council, there will be no separate 
discussion on these items and will be enacted with one motion. Items may be removed by any Council 
Member by making such request prior to a motion and vote.  

5. Approval of the January 20, 2022 Regular City Council meeting minutes. 

Christina Picioccio, TRMC, City Secretary 

6. Approval of a Resolution to approve the 2021 Property Tax Levy. 

Scott Huizenga, Assistant City Manager, Administrative Services 

7. Approval of a Resolution ordering a General Election to be held May 7, 2022, for the election 
of Council Member Places 3, 4, and 5. 

Christina Picioccio, TRMC, City Secretary 

8. Approval of a Resolution authorizing a Joint Election Agreement with Kendall County 
Elections relating to the May 7, 2022 election and authorizing the City Manager to execute 
all documents in connection therewith. 

Christina Picioccio, TRMC, City Secretary 
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CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA February 17, 2022 
 

 
 

 

 

CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

CONSIDERATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 

9. Consideration and possible action accepting the FY 2020-2021 financial statement audit. 

Scott Huizenga, Asst. City Manager 
Michael Del Toro, ABIP, PC 

10. Consideration and possible action approving a Resolution allocating the Fiscal Year 2020-
21 General Fund balances and carryover of encumbrances and continuing appropriations 

Scott Huizenga, Assistant City Manager 

11. Consideration and possible action authorizing the City Manager to sign Professional Service 
Agreements for On-Call Engineering Services in support of Roadway CIP, Drainage CIP, 
Water, Wastewater and Reuse CIP, and general civil engineering projects. 

Clayton Hoelscher, Procurement Manager 
Grant Watanabe, P.E., Director of Public Works & Engineering Services 

12. Consideration and possible action on filling the Planning & Zoning Commission’s Place 5 
unexpired term. 

Gregory C. Maxton, Mayor 
Bobbe Barnes, P&Z Chairperson 

13. Consideration and possible action on filling the open Zoning Board of Adjustment Place 1 
and Alternate Places 6 and 7. 

Christina Picioccio, TRMC, City Secretary 

 

REPORTS FROM STAFF AND COMMITTEES 

14. Police Department Annual Report. 
Tim Moring, Chief of Police 

15. Presentation of Financial Update and Quarterly Investment Report for Quarter 1 of Fiscal 
Year 2022. 

Scott Huizenga, Assistant City Manager, Administrative Services 

 

REQUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

16. Announcements and reports by Mayor and Council Members. 

17. Announcements by the City Manager. 

18. Requests by Mayor and Council Members that items be placed on a future City Council 
agenda. 
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CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA February 17, 2022 
 

 
 

 

 

CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

CONVENE INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Pursuant to Section 551.101 of the Open Meetings Act, Texas Gov’t Code, a quorum of the governing 
body hereby convenes into closed session: 

Sec. 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney) the City Council will meet in private consultation with 
legal counsel to seek the advice of its attorneys about pending or contemplated litigation, a 
settlement offer, and/or on a matter in which the duty of the attorney to the governmental body 
under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar of Texas conflicts with 
Chapter 551 of the Government Code; to wit:  

19. To receive legal advice from Special Counsel and the City Attorney regarding the City’s 
ground water rights. 

20. To receive legal advice advice from the City Attorney regarding the Bobcat Trucking, Inc. 
application (Permit Application No. 167675) to the Texas Commission On Environmental 
Quality (TCEQ) for an air quality standard permit for permanent rock and concrete 
crushers.   

21. Cause No. 2018-CI-00202; the City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas vs. Edward I. Hill, Robert E. 
Heckendorn, Craig M. Luitjen, Roger Fuentes, Wesley A. Pieper, Esther W. Hicks, William A. 
McDowell, Yolanda D. Ayala, PG Pfeiffer Ranches LLC, Maureen Pfeiffer Stevenson Family 
Trust. 

22. Development issues related to the development agreement for Boerne Ranch Estates/The 
Reserve. 

 

Sec. 551.072 (Deliberation Regarding Real Property)  

23. The City Council will meet in closed session to deliberate the purchase, exchange, lease, or 
value of real property that may be considered for future location of water and wastewater 
system improvements. 

 

Sec. 551.074 (Personnel Matters)  

24. To deliberate the possible removal of an appointed public officer; to wit: MDD Board 
Member Place 3.  The board member may request the deliberation by the City Council be 
held in public rather than closed session. 

 

RECONVENE INTO OPEN SESSION 

Discussion and possible action on items discussed in Executive Session.  

ADJOURNMENT 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
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CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA February 17, 2022 
 

 
 

 

 

CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

 

Signature of Agenda Approval:  s/Tobin E. Maples                                                                    

Tobin E. Maples, City Manager  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I, Christina Picioccio, TRMC, City Secretary, certify that the above Notice of Meeting was posted on 
the outside bulletin board at the Fair Oaks Ranch City Hall, 7286 Dietz Elkhorn, Fair Oaks Ranch, 
Texas, and on the City’s website www.fairoaksranchtx.org, both places being convenient and readily 
accessible to the general public at all times.  

As per Texas Government Code 551.045, said Notice was posted by 6:30 PM, February 14, 2022 and 
remained so posted continuously for at least 72 hours before said meeting was convened. 

 

The Fair Oaks Ranch City Hall is wheelchair accessible at the side entrance of the building from 
the parking lot. Requests for special services must be received forty-eight (48) hours prior to the 
meeting time by calling the City Secretary’s office at (210) 698-0900.  Braille is not available.  The 
City Council reserves the right to convene into Executive Session at any time regarding an issue 
on the agenda for which it is legally permissible; pursuant to Texas Government Code Chapter 
551. Section 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney), 551.072 (Deliberations about Real Property), 
551.073 (Deliberations about Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters), 551.076 
(Deliberations about Security Devices) and 551.087 (Economic Development). 
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CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

Thursday, January 20, 2022 at 6:30 PM 
City Hall Council Chambers, 7286 Dietz Elkhorn, Fair Oaks Ranch 

MINUTES 

 

OPEN MEETING 

1. Roll Call - Declaration of a Quorum 

Council Present: Mayor Maxton and Council Members: Stroup, Elizondo, Bliss, Koerner, Parker, 
and Muenchow 

With a quorum present, the meeting was called to order at 6:31 PM. 

2. Pledge of Allegiance – The Pledge of Allegiance was recited in unison. 

CITIZENS and GUEST FORUM 

3. Citizens to be heard – No citizens signed up to be heard. 

PRESENTATIONS  

4. City Manager, Tobin Maples and Mayor Maxton recognized City Secretary, Christina 
Picioccio, for her achievement of Texas Municipal Clerks Certification. 

5. John Schuggs, representative from Matrix Consulting Group, presented to Council 
the Police Utilization Study. 

6. Julio Colunga, Assistant Director of Public Works, and Mike Garza, P.E., PTOE, RSP1, 
General Engineering Consultant, Legacy Engineering Group, presented to Council 
the Annual Street Maintenance Plan Update. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

7. Approval of the January 6, 2022 Regular City Council meeting minutes. 

8. Approval of the second reading of an Ordinance amending the City of Fair Oaks Ranch 
Code of Ordinances Chapter 1 “General Provisions” by adding a new article entitled 
“Stormwater Pollution Prevention”. 

9. Approval of the second reading of an Ordinance amending the City of Fair Oaks Ranch 
Code of Ordinances Chapter 12 "Traffic & Vehicles" Article 12.04 "Operation of Golf 
Carts on Public Streets" by establishing regulations for the operation of recreational 
off-road vehicles and utility vehicles on city-owned streets and providing additional 
clarification regarding child safety restraints as defined by the Texas Transportation 
Code. 

10. Approval of the second reading of an Ordinance amending the City Council Rules of 
Procedure. 
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CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES January 20, 2022 
 

 
 

 

 

CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

11. Approval of a Preliminary Plat request from Elkhorn Ridge SA, LLC for Elkhorn Ridge 
Unit 4 proposing 26 single-family residential lots, generally located north of the 
intersection of Dietz Elkhorn Road and Elkhorn Ridge, City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas 

12. Approval of a request for an extension of time for consideration and possible action 
regarding the approval of a Preliminary Plat request from Green Land Ventures Ltd., 
for Stone Creek Ranch Unit 2C proposing 35 single-family residential lots, generally 
located north-west of the intersection of Rolling Acres Trail and Ammann Road, City 
of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas 

MOTION: Made by Council Member Koerner, seconded by Council Member Muenchow, to 
approve the Consent Agenda. 

VOTE:  7-0;  Motion Passed. 

CONSIDERATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS  

13. Consideration and possible action approving a Preliminary Plat request from Green 
Land Ventures Ltd., for Stone Creek Ranch Unit 2C proposing 35 single-family 
residential lots, generally located north-west of the intersection of Rolling Acres Trail 
and Ammann Road, City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas. 

This agenda item was not considered as the request for an extension was approved in the Consent 
Agenda. 

16. Consideration and possible action to approve the City’s proposed 5-year Drainage 
Capital Improvement Plan. 

This item was considered out of order at the request of Mayor Maxton. 

MOTION: Made by Council Member Elizondo, seconded by Council Member Parker, to 
approve the proposed FY2022-27 Drainage Capital Improvement Plan. 

AMENDED MOTION: Made by Council Member Koerner, seconded by Council Member Muenchow, 
to amend the proposed FY2022-27 Drainage Capital Improvement Plan with 
the movement of project #23 to the “Nice to Do” list. 

VOTE TO AMEND: 7-0;  Motion Passed. 

VOTE ON AMENDED 
MOTION: 7-0;  Motion Passed. 

14. Consideration and possible action approving a Resolution adopting an amendment to 
the City's Flexible Benefit Plan Section 6.2(c) definition of "medical expenses" and 
authorizing the City Manager to sign applicable documents. 

MOTION: Made by Council Member Bliss, seconded by Council Member Stroup, to approve a 
Resolution adopting the provisions of the Internal Revenue Service Announcement 
2021-7 and to authorize the City Manager to take all actions as deemed necessary to 
effectuate this Resolution. 

VOTE:  6-0;  Motion Passed. (Council Member Muenchow was not present during the vote) 
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CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES January 20, 2022 
 

 
 

 

 

CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

15. Consideration and possible action approving a Resolution approving a Resolution to 
formalize the Application of Benefit Plan Surplus Funds. 

MOTION: Made by Council Member Elizondo, seconded by Council Member Koerner, to approve 
a resolution formalizing the allocation of surplus or “forfeited” funds under Article VI 
Section 7.2 of the Benefit Plan “Application of Benefit Plan Surplus” to revert back to 
the City in accordance with Benefit Plan and IRS guidelines and to authorize the City 
Manager to execute applicable documents. 

VOTE:  7-0;  Motion Passed. 

17. Consideration and possible action authorizing the City Manager to execute a contract 
with Trox to purchase equipment for live streaming public meetings. 

MOTION: Made by Council Member Elizondo, seconded by Council Member Muenchow, to 
authorize the City Manager to execute a contract with Troxell Communications plus 
any additional requirements needed to support stand up and operation of the system 
at an amount not to exceed $35,000. 

VOTE:  7-0;  Motion Passed. 

18. Consideration and possible action on filling the Planning & Zoning Commission’s Place 
5 unexpired term. 

MOTION: Made by Council Member Koerner, seconded by Council Member Muenchow, to leave 
Place 5 P&Z Commissioner’s unexpired term unfilled until October 1, 2022. 

After Council discussion the consensus was to defer the item until the Mayor could reach out to the 
Planning & Zoning Commission Chairperson to get feedback on the need to fill the position. 

Council Member Koerner withdrew her motion. 

REPORTS FROM STAFF AND COMMITTEES 

19. Update on May 2022 Elections. 

City Secretary, Christina Picioccio, provided an update on new information regarding the upcoming 
May 7, 2022 General Election and the effects of a special Constitutional Amendment election 
happening at the same time. A presentation was made to Council showing various options. Council 
provided direction to staff to pursue a contract with Kendall County.  All residents eligible to vote 
in the City election will cast their ballots at Kendall County Polling Sites inclusive of Van Raub 
Elementary (within the city limits). 

REQUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

20. Announcements and reports by Mayor and Council Members. 

Council Member Stroup informed everyone that the FORHA Adopt a Highway event has been 
rescheduled to January 29, 2022. 

Council Member Elizondo informed all present that the Kendall County Law Enforcement Alumni 
Association is hosting two free events. An Active Shooter Preparedness Training at 10:00 AM on 
Saturday, January 29, 2022 at Apache Rifleworks and a Refuse to be a Victim Seminar at 9:00 AM in 
the Bevy Hotel, February 5, 2022.  
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CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES January 20, 2022 
 

 
 

 

 

CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

21. Announcements by the City Manager. 

City Manager, Tobin Maples, reminded everyone that bulk pickup is ongoing and currently on 
schedule. Mr. Maples also thanked all staff for their hard work in preparing for the predicted storm 
weather event. 

22. Requests by Mayor and Council Members that items be placed on a future City Council 
agenda.  N/A 

CONVENE INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION 

City Council convened into Executive Session at 10:13 PM regarding: 

Pursuant to Section 551.101 of the Open Meetings Act, Texas Gov’t Code, a quorum of the governing 
body hereby convenes into closed session: 

Sec. 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney) the City Council will meet in private consultation with 
legal counsel to seek the advice of its attorneys about pending or contemplated litigation, a 
settlement offer, and/or on a matter in which the duty of the attorney to the governmental body 
under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar of Texas conflicts with 
Chapter 551 of the Government Code; to wit:  

25. Development issues related to the development agreement for Boerne Ranch Estates/The 
Reserve. 

Sec. 551.072 (Deliberation regarding real property) 

26. The City Council will meet in closed session to deliberate the purchase, exchange, lease, or 
value of real property that may be considered for future location of water and wastewater 
system improvements.  

City Council did not convene into Executive Session regarding: 

23. To receive legal advice from Special Counsel and the City Attorney regarding the City’s 
ground water rights. 

24. Cause No. 2018-CI-00202; the City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas vs. Edward I. Hill, Robert E. 
Heckendorn, Craig M. Luitjen, Roger Fuentes, Wesley A. Pieper, Esther W. Hicks, William A. 
McDowell, Yolanda D. Ayala, PG Pfeiffer Ranches LLC, Maureen Pfeiffer Stevenson Family 
Trust. 

RECONVENE INTO OPEN SESSION 

City Council reconvened into Open Session at 10:38 PM. No action was taken. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Maxton adjourned the meeting at 10:38 PM. 

 
ATTEST:  Gregory C. Maxton, Mayor 

   
   

Christina Picioccio, TRMC, City Secretary   
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CITY COUNCIL CONSIDERATION ITEM 
CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

February 17, 2022 
 

 
AGENDA TOPIC: Approval of a Resolution to approve the 2021 Property Tax Levy 

DATE: February 17, 2022 

DEPARTMENT: Finance 

PRESENTED BY: Consent Agenda - Scott Huizenga, Assistant City Manager, Administrative 
Services 

 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 

Pursuant to the Texas Property Tax Code, Chapter 26.09(e), after City Council sets the 2021 
property tax rate, the levy roll is determined, by the property tax collector, based on said approved 
property tax rate, and presented to Council for approval:  The assessor shall enter the amount of 
tax determined as provided by this section in the appraisal roll and submit it to the governing body 
of the unit for approval.  The appraisal roll with amounts of tax entered as approved by the 
governing body constitutes the unit's tax roll. 

City Council, on September 27, 2021, set the 2021 property tax rate at $.3518 on each $100 taxable 
valuation of property.  See attached 2021 Levy Total report for calculation of Total Levy. 

POLICY ANALYSIS/BENEFIT(S) TO CITIZENS: 

Compliance with state law. 

LONGTERM FINANCIAL & BUDGETARY IMPACT: 

M&O Levy @ $.3223 tax rate: $5,993,284.64* M&O Tax Revenue Budgeted: $5,714,476** 
I&S Levy @ $.0295 tax rate: 548,563.13* I&S Tax Revenue Budgeted: 547,171 
 Total Levy: $6,541,847.77 Property Tax Revenue Budgeted: $6,261,647 

* Levy is calculated at 100% of Total Taxable value without consideration for properties still in 
dispute with the appraisal review board. 

** Amounts are per the adopted FY 21-22 Budget, and are based on historical collection rates, 
the City budgeted at 99.1% collection, and based on a taxable value that accounts for 
properties still in dispute with the appraisal review board.  

LEGAL ANALYSIS: 

Approved as to form. 

RECOMMENDATION/PROPOSED MOTION: 

Consent Agenda - As approval of the levy roll is required by statute, “I move to approve a resolution 
approving the City of Fair Oaks Ranch 2021 property tax levy roll of $6,541,847.77.” 
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A RESOLUTION 

APPROVAL OF THE 2021 PROPERTY TAX LEVY ROLL FOR THE CITY OF FAIR OAKS 
RANCH, TEXAS 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Texas Property Tax Code, Vernon’s Texas Codes Annotated, Section 

26.09(e) the City Council of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas, must officially approve the tax levy 

roll of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas for the year 2021. 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved that: 

1. The City Council of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch hereby officially approves the 2021 property 

tax levy roll as required by the Property Tax Code, Vernon’s Texas Codes Annotated, Section 

26.09(e) in the amount of $6,541,847.77 based on a tax rate of $0.3518 per $100 valuation of 

a total taxable value of $1,859,424,810. 

2. A signed copy of this Resolution shall be submitted, by the City Secretary, to the city’s property 

tax collector, Bexar County Tax Assessor Collector. 

3. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and approval. 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED on this 17th day of February 2022. 

  ____________________________________________________  
Gregory C. Maxton, Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
 ___________________________________________   ____________________________________________________  
Christina Picioccio, City Secretary  Denton Navarro Rocha Bernal & Zech, P.C., 

City Attorney 
 
 

Page 10

Item #6.



 

CITY COUNCIL CONSIDERATION ITEM 
CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

February 17, 2022 
 

 
AGENDA TOPIC: Approval of a Resolution ordering a General Election to be held May 7, 2022, 

for the election of Council Member Places 3, 4, and 5 

DATE: February 17, 2022 

DEPARTMENT: City Secretary 

PRESENTED BY: Consent Agenda – Christina Picioccio, TRMC, City Secretary 

 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 

The Texas Election Code requires City Council to order the election no later than the 78th day 
(February 18, 2022) before Election Day, May 7, 2022.  This year Council Places 3, 4, and 5 are up 
for reelection.  The City Secretary presented to council at the January 20, 2022, council meeting 
various options regarding the May election.  Council directed staff to proceed with ordering the 
election and to contract with Kendall County to run our city elections. 

POLICY ANALYSIS/BENEFIT(S) TO CITIZENS: 

Affords the citizens the opportunity to elect their local government officials and complies with 
State Election Code and City Charter. 

LONGTERM FINANCIAL & BUDGETARY IMPACT: 

Costs estimates provided by Kendall County are $7, 197.85.  Total election budget is $38, 222.00. 

LEGAL ANALYSIS: 

Approved as to form. 

RECOMMENDATION/PROPOSED MOTION: 

Consent Agenda - I move to approve a Resolution ordering a General Election to be held May 7, 
2022, for the election of the Council Member Places 3, 4, and 5. 
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A RESOLUTION 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS, 
CALLING FOR A GENERAL ELECTION TO BE HELD ON MAY 07, 2022 FOR THE 
ELECTION OF CERTAIN CITY OFFICERS; PROVIDING PROCEDURES AND 
DEADLINES FOR THE FILING OF CANDIDATE APPLICATIONS TO BE PLACED ON 
THE BALLOT; FOR THE LOCATION AND TIME FOR EARLY VOTING; AUTHORIZING 
CONTRACTS WITH THE ELECTION ADMINISTRATOR OF KENDALL COUNTY, TEXAS 
TO CONDUCT THE ELECTIONS; AUTHORIZING THE ELECTIONS TO BE HELD AS A 
JOINT ELECTION; AND FOR NOTICE OF SAID ELECTIONS TO THE PUBLIC AS 
REQUIRED BY LAW 

WHEREAS, the laws of the State of Texas provide that on May 7, 2022, there shall be a general 
election for municipal officers; and, 

WHEREAS, the City of Fair Oaks Ranch is a Home Rule municipality located in Bexar County, 
Comal County and Kendall County, adopted as authorized by Article XI, Section 5, of the Texas 
Constitution; and  

WHEREAS, Section 4.01 of the City’s Charter requires the City of Fair Oaks Ranch to conduct an 
election for city officers annually on an authorized uniform election date; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 3 of the Texas Election Code, the City Council of the City of Fair 
Oaks Ranch, Texas hereby calls for the above general election for municipal officers and hereby 
sets forth the procedures and requirements for the conduct of said election as prescribed by 
the Texas Election Code; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 271 of the Texas Election Code, the City will contract with the 
Kendall County Elections Administrator to conduct this election. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIR OAKS 
RANCH, TEXAS: 

SECTION 1. The City of Fair Oaks Ranch hereby orders a Municipal General Election to be held 
on May 7, 2022, an authorized uniform election date, for the purpose of: 

a. Electing Council Members for Places 3, 4, and 5. 

i. The Council Member elected to Places 3, 4, and 5, shall serve a term of 3 
years, with their terms terminating in 2025, or when their successors are 
duly elected;  

ii. That at said election each of the aforementioned named City Council 
positions shall be voted upon separately and that the candidate receiving 
the majority votes for each said City Council position shall be elected to 
that office;  

iii. That qualified persons desiring to be candidates in the aforementioned 
City Council Places shall file applications for candidacy with the City 
Secretary beginning at 8 AM on the 19th day of January and not later than 
5:00 PM on the 18th day of February, 2022. 
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SECTION 2. All qualified voters of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch shall be entitled to vote in said 
election. 

SECTION 3. Early voting in said elections shall be conducted during the early voting period 
designated as April 25 through May 3, 2022.  The Kendall County Election 
Administrator is hereby charged with the duty of conducting early voting in said 
election, as required by law.  Applications for ballot by mail shall be mailed to: 

Staci L. Decker, REO, Elections Administrator elections@co.kendall.tx.us 
Kendall County Elections    Office Number:  830-331-8701 
221 Fawn Valley Dr., STE 100 
Boerne, TX  78006 
https://www.co.kendall.tx.us/page/Elections 
 

SECTION 4. The main early polling place for the holding of said election shall be at the Kendall 
County Courthouse Annex, 221 Fawn Valley, Boerne, Texas 78006 on the 
following dates and times; and the entire City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas, for the 
purpose of holding said election shall be and constitute one Municipal election 
precinct.  

 
Mon. April 25 – Fri. April 29 .............................................. 8:00 AM to 6:00 PM 
Sat. April 30 .......................................................................... 10:00 AM to 6:00 PM 
Sun. May 1 .......................................................................................................... Closed 
Mon. May 2 – Tue. May 3 .................................................... 7:00 AM to 7:00 PM 

SECTION 5. The polling place on Election Day shall be open from 7:00 AM to 7:00 PM. 

SECTION 6. Pursuant to Section 61.012, Texas Election Code, as amended, the City shall 
provide at least one accessible voting system in each polling place used in the 
election.  Such voting system shall comply with Texas and federal laws 
establishing the requirement for voting systems that permit voters with physical 
disabilities to cast a secret ballot.  Touch screen machines may be used for early 
voting and Election Day voting by personal appearance.  Certain early voting may 
be conducted by mail.  The Elections Administrator shall also utilize a Central 
Counting Station (the “Station”) as provided by Section 127.001, et seq., Texas 
Election Code, as amended.  Kendall County Election Administrator Staci L. 
Decker, serving as the Elections Official Manager and Presiding Judge of the 
Stations, will appoint the Election Judges and Station Clerks for each Station 
location, and will establish a written plan for the orderly operation of the Station 
locations in accordance with the provisions of the Texas Election Code.  The 
Elections Administrator will appoint the Tabulation Supervisors which will also 
serve as the Programmers for the Stations.  Lastly, the Elections Administrator 
will publish notice and conduct testing on the automatic tabulation equipment 
relating to the Stations and conduct instruction for the officials and clerks for the 
Stations in accordance with the provisions of the Texas Election Code.  Voting by 
Mail ballot and Provisional Voting shall be done on paper ballot. 
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SECTION 7. The City Secretary shall serve as the election officer of the May 7, 2022, General 
Election of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch as required and authorized by law. 

SECTION 8. The City Secretary is hereby authorized and directed to post notice of said 
election, in both English and Spanish, on a bulletin board used for posting notices 
of the City Council meetings of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch at 7286 Dietz Elkhorn, 
City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas (the polling places for the holding of said election) 
not later than the twenty-first (21) day before Election Day.  Said notice shall 
remain posted through the end of Election Day.  

SECTION 9. The City Secretary is further authorized and directed to cause notice of said 
election to be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Fair 
Oaks Ranch at least once, not earlier than the thirtieth (30th) day nor later than 
the tenth (10th) day before Election Day. 

SECTION 10. The City Secretary shall send a copy of the notice of said election to the County 
Clerk and Voter Registrar of Bexar, Comal, and Kendall County no later than the 
60th day before Election Day. 

SECTION 11.  The Council authorizes the City Manager to negotiate and enter into one or more 
joint election agreements with other governmental organizations in accordance 
with the provisions of the Texas Election Code in such form as shall be approved 
by the City Manager, or his/her designee, and the City Attorney. 

SECTION 12. The Council authorizes the City Manager to negotiate and enter into contracts 
with the Elections Administrator to conduct the elections in accordance with the 
provisions of the Texas Election Code in such form as shall be approved by the 
City Manager and the City Attorney. 

SECTION 13. If any provision of this Resolution or the application thereof to any person or 
circumstance shall be held to be invalid, the remainder of this Resolution and the 
application of such provision to other persons and circumstances shall 
nevertheless be valid, and this Council declares that this Resolution would have 
been enacted without such invalid provision.   

APPROVED on this the 17th day of February 2022. 

 
  _________________________________________________  

Gregory C. Maxton, Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 ___________________________________________   _________________________________________________  

Christina Picioccio, City Secretary  Denton Navarro Rocha Bernal & Zech, 

P.C., City Attorney 
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CITY COUNCIL CONSIDERATION ITEM 

CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 
February 17, 2022 

 
 

 

AGENDA TOPIC: Approval of a Resolution authorizing a Joint Election Agreement with 
Kendall County Elections relating to the May 7, 2022 election and 
authorizing the City Manager to execute all documents in connection 
therewith 

DATE: February 17, 2022 

DEPARTMENT: City Secretary 

PRESENTED BY: Consent Agenda - Christina Picioccio, TRMC, City Secretary 
 

 

 

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 

Texas Election Code Section 271.002 authorizes two or more political subdivisions to enter 
into an agreement to hold elections jointly. As such, the Federal and State Governments 
encourage entities such as cities, school districts, water districts, etc. to contract with their 
local County Elections Office to administer respective elections jointly with other entities. 
The intent of administering joint elections is to provide convenient, simple and cost-effective 
elections.   

By way of background, the cost for Fair Oaks Ranch to hold a stand-alone election is 
approximately $30,000.  Historically, the City has contracted with Bexar County and has held 
the election in the City Hall Council Chambers.  As of 2021, the city campus has been expected to be 
under construction for the new Civic Center and City Hall renovations making it tenuous to hold elections 
on premises.  In May and July of 2021, the city contracted with Kendall County to run its city elections as 
Kendall County was the only county to obtain a poling site within the city limits for all its residents.   

The City Secretary presented to council at the January 20, 2022, council meeting various 
options regarding the May 2022 election.  Council directed staff to proceed with ordering the 
election and to contract with Kendall County to run our city elections. 

POLICY ANALYSIS/BENEFIT(S) TO CITIZENS: 

Contracting with Kendall County Elections to be part of their joint ballot is convenient for our 
citizens and less expensive than conducting a stand-alone election.  Entering into a Joint Election 
Agreement with Kendall County will provide for multiple early voting poll sites, experienced 
poll workers and efficient Election night results. 

LONGTERM FINANCIAL & BUDGETARY IMPACT: 

Costs estimates as provided in Exhibit B are $7, 197.85.  Total election budget is $38, 222.00. 
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LEGAL ANALYSIS: 

Approved as to form 

RECOMMENDATION/PROPOSED MOTION: 

Consent Agenda - I move to approve a Resolution approving a Joint Election Agreement with 
Kendall County Elections and authorize the City Manager to sign the Agreement. 
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A RESOLUTION 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, 
TEXAS APPROVING A JOINT ELECTION AGREEMENT AMONG THE CITY OF FAIR 
OAKS RANCH, KENDALL COUNTY ELECTIONS, AND OTHER GOVERNMENTAL 
ENTITIES RELATING TO CONDUCTING A JOINT ELECTION ON MAY 7, 2022 
AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS IN 
CONNECTION THEREWITH ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH 

WHEREAS, Section 271.002 of the Elections Code provides that if the elections ordered by the 
authorities of two or more political subdivisions are to be held on the same day in all or part of the 
same county, the governing bodies of the political subdivisions may enter into an agreement to 
hold the elections jointly in the election precincts that can be served by common polling places; 
and 

WHEREAS, the City of Fair Oaks Ranch along with several other political subdivisions all located 
within Kendall County desire to enter in a joint election agreement setting forth each entity’s 
individual obligations with respect to conducting their respective elections on May 7, 2022; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that entering into a Joint Election Agreement with these political 
subdivisions will provide a simple, convenient and cost saving election which will benefit the 
voters within the City of Fair Oaks Ranch and that the terms set forth in the Joint Election 
Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are in the city’s best interest and should be adopted. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIR OAKS 
RANCH, TEXAS: 

Section 1. Approval of Joint Election Agreement.  The City Council hereby approves the Joint 
Election Agreement attached as Exhibit A - C. 

Section 2. Authority to Execute Agreement.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to 
execute the Joint Election Agreement on behalf of the City and any other documents 
in connection with said Agreement. 

Section 3. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage by the City 
Council. 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED on this 17th day of February, 2022. 

 ________________________________________________ 
Gregory C. Maxton, Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 ______________________________________________  _________________________________________________ 
Christina Picioccio, TRMC, City Secretary Denton Navarro Rocha Bernal & Zech, P.C., 

City Attorney 
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EXHIBIT A 

JOINT ELECTION AGREEMENT 

between Kendall County and the following Local Political Subdivision (LPS): 

City of Boerne 
City of Fair Oaks Ranch 

Boerne Independent School District 
Comal Independent School District 

Cow Creek Groundwater Conservation District 
Kendall County Municipal Utility District No. 1 

This Agreement is entered into by and between the Kendall County Elections Administrator 
“ADMINISTRATOR” and the entities listed above. They may be referred to, individually, as an 
“Entity” or, collectively, as the “Entities,” acting by and through their duly appointed and qualified 
representatives, pursuant to Texas Election Code Section 271.002(a). 

It is agreed that the Entities will hold an election on Saturday, May 7th, 2022 (the “Joint Election”) 
under the following terms and conditions: 

I. 

Each Entity shall share the expense of the Main Early Voting and Election Day polling locations 
consisting of on-site voting equipment, payroll of election workers, and other costs common to each 
Entities election, as applicable to the specific Entity and agreed upon by the election services contract. 
Each Entity understands they will appear on a joint ballot and use joint forms and election materials, 
which will better serve the voters. 

II. 

The Entities agree that the Kendall County Elections Administrator, Staci L. Decker, will serve as the 
Early Voting Clerk and the Central Count Station Manager for the May 7th, 2022 election. 

III. 

The Entities agree that a single ballot, containing all the measures and offices to be voted on at a 
particular polling place, shall be used in this Joint Election.   

IV. 

Each Entity is responsible for giving notice of their election pursuant to Section 4.003 of the Texas 
Election Code. 
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V. 
 

ADMINISTRATOR will tabulate the ballots and provide each entity a Certification of Election Results 
along with the returns of the election.   
 

VI. 
 

Each Entity will be responsible for canvassing its respective precinct returns for the Joint Election.   
 

VII. 
 
If an Entity cancels its election pursuant to section 2.053 of the election code, that Entity shall 
promptly notify ADMINISTRATOR. Cancellation of an Entities election shall not void this agreement 
for any remaining Entity conducting an election on Saturday, May 7th, 2022. 
 

VIII. 
 

The undersigned persons are the duly authorized signatories of their Entities, and their signatures 
represent acceptance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, as passed and approved by their 
respective governing bodies. 
 

IX. 
 
This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts. Together the counterparts shall be 
deemed an executed original instrument. An original signed copy of this agreement shall be provided 
to each entity who enters into contract with ADMINISTRATOR. 
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THIS IS THE SIGNATURE PAGE AFFIXED TO THE MAY 7, 2022 JOINT ELECTION AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
KENDALL COUNTY AND LOCAL POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Administrator:                
       
                                         

BY: _________________________________________________ 
   (SEAL)               STACI L. DECKER, ELECTIONS ADMINISTRATOR 
                 KENDALL COUNTY ELECTIONS OFFICE 
                                                      
                                  

Signed and agreed to this ____ day of _____________________, 2022. 
 
 
                                   
 
 
 
The Local Political Subdivision “LPS”:               
 
 
Approved by the ______________________________ in its meeting held the __________ day of 
__________________ , 2022, and executed by its authorized representative.     
       
                                             
    BY: __________________________________________ 
           
     Printed Name: __________________________ 
     Official Title: ____________________________ 
 
     Name of Entity: __________________________    
                                                      
               
                                        Signed and agreed to this ____ day of _____________________, 2022. 
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May 7, 2022 Joint Election
(Estimate of Election Expenses)

Exhibit B

Estimate of Election Expenses Additional Info Election 
Summary

Kendall 
County

City of 
Boerne City of F.O.R. Boerne ISD Comal ISD Cow Creek Trinity Glen 

Rose KC MUD#1

Section A. Estimated Cost of Election
Ballot printing costs $1,500.00 $187.50 $187.50 $187.50 $187.50 $187.50 $187.50 $187.50 $187.50
Publication of Notices (Public Test/EV/ED) $1,000.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00
Electronic Voting Systems Programming (Coding/Audio/Layout) $10,000.00 $1,250.00 $1,250.00 $1,250.00 $1,250.00 $1,250.00 $1,250.00 $1,250.00 $1,250.00
SUPPLIES: Ballot By Mail $1,000.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00
SUPPLIES:  EV, ED, EVBB and CC $1,000.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00 $125.00

SUBTOTAL $14,500.00 $1,812.50 $1,812.50 $1,812.50 $1,812.50 $1,812.50 $1,812.50 $1,812.50 $1,812.50

Section B.  Early Voting Workers

Main Early Voting Location (Annex)
Mon - Fri (8am-6pm) 10 x 40hrs x $12 $4,800.00 $600.00 $600.00 $600.00 $600.00 $600.00 $600.00 $600.00 $600.00

Sat (10am-4pm) 10 x 6hrs x $12 $720.00 $90.00 $90.00 $90.00 $90.00 $90.00 $90.00 $90.00 $90.00
****IF PETITIONED - Sun 6 x 5hrs x $12 $360.00 $45.00 $45.00 $45.00 $45.00 $45.00 $45.00 $45.00 $45.00

Mon - Wed (8am-6pm) 10 x 30hrs x $12 $3,600.00 $450.00 $450.00 $450.00 $450.00 $450.00 $450.00 $450.00 $450.00
Thurs - Fri (7am-7pm) 10 x 24hrs x $12 $2,880.00 $360.00 $360.00 $360.00 $360.00 $360.00 $360.00 $360.00 $360.00

Branch Early Voting Location (Van Raub)
Mon - Fri (8am-6pm) 4 x 40hrs x $12 $1,920.00 n/a n/a $960.00 $960.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Sat (10am-4pm) 4 x 6hrs x $12 $288.00 n/a n/a $144.00 $144.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Mon - Wed (8am-6pm) 4 x 30hrs x $12 $1,440.00 n/a n/a $720.00 $720.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Thurs - Fri (7am-7pm) 4 x 24hrs x $12 $1,152.00 n/a n/a $576.00 $576.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a

SUBTOTAL $17,160.00 $1,545.00 $1,545.00 $3,945.00 $3,945.00 $1,545.00 $1,545.00 $1,545.00 $1,545.00
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May 7, 2022 Joint Election
(Estimate of Election Expenses)

Exhibit B

Election Day Judges & Clerks
Vote Center # 1  (City Hall) 2 x 15 x $14 / 4 x 15 x $12 $1,140.00 $380.00 $380.00 n/a n/a n/a $380.00 n/a n/a
Vote Center # 2 (First Baptist Church) 2 x 15 x $14 / 4 x 15 x $12 $1,140.00 $570.00 $570.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Vote Center # 3 (Bergheim VFD) 2 x 15 x $14 / 4 x 15 x $12 $1,140.00 $1,140.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Vote Center # 4 (Burdick Comm. Center) 2 x 15 x $14 / 4 x 15 x $12 $1,140.00 $228.00 $228.00 $228.00 n/a n/a $228.00 $228.00 n/a
Vote Center # 5 (Kendall Co. Fairgrounds) 2 x 15 x $14 / 4 x 15 x $12 $1,140.00 $380.00 $380.00 n/a n/a n/a $380.00 n/a n/a
Vote Center # 6 (Kendalia Comm. Center) 2 x 15 x $14 / 4 x 15 x $12 $1,140.00 $285.00 n/a n/a n/a $285.00 $285.00 n/a $285.00
Vote Center # 7 (Boerne Bible Church) 2 x 15 x $14 / 4 x 15 x $12 $1,140.00 $380.00 $380.00 n/a n/a n/a $380.00 n/a n/a
Vote Center # 8 (Sisterdale Comm. Center) 2 x 15 x $14 / 4 x 15 x $12 $1,140.00 $570.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a $570.00 n/a n/a
Vote Center # 9 (Comfort Baptist Church) 2 x 15 x $14 / 4 x 15 x $12 $1,140.00 $380.00 n/a n/a $380.00 n/a $380.00 n/a n/a
Vote Center # 10 (Waring Fire House) 2 x 15 x $14 / 4 x 15 x $12 $1,140.00 $1,140.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Vote Center # 11 (Nineteen:Ten Church) 2 x 15 x $14 / 4 x 15 x $12 $1,140.00 $1,140.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Vote Center # 12 (Van Raub School House 2 x 15 x $14 / 4 x 15 x $12 $1,140.00 $285.00 n/a $285.00 $285.00 n/a n/a $285.00 n/a
Training - Election Workers
Early Voting Clerks 50 x $30 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Election Day Judges & Clerks 90 x $30 $2,700.00 $2,700.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Delivery of Election Equipment and Supplies
Presiding Judges 11 x $15 $165.00 $165.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Alternate Judges 11 x $10 $110.00 $110.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Early Voting Ballot Board - JUDGES 4 x 10hrs x $14 $560.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00
Early Voting Ballot Board - CLERKS 4 x 10hrs x $12 $480.00 $60.00 $60.00 $60.00 $60.00 $60.00 $60.00 $60.00 $60.00
Central Count Station Personnel - JUDGES 4 x 10hrs x $14 $560.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00
Central Count Station Personnel - CLERKS 6 x 5hrs x $12 $360.00 $45.00 $45.00 $45.00 $45.00 $45.00 $45.00 $45.00 $45.00
Provisional & Late Ballot Board Personnel 4 x 4hr x $14 $224.00 $28.00 $28.00 $28.00 $28.00 $28.00 $28.00 $28.00 $28.00

Election Day Site Support Personnel 1 x 15 x $12 $180.00 $180.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Vendor Site Support (ES&S) $5,000.00 $5,000.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
OT - Week 1 of EV (Elections Office) **No Charge to LPS** n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
OT - Week 2 of EV (Elections Office) **No Charge to LPS** n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
OT - Election Day (Elections Office) **No Charge to LPS** n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

SUBTOTAL $25,519.00 $16,806.00 $2,211.00 $786.00 $938.00 $558.00 $2,876.00 $786.00 $558.00

Section D.  Miscellaneous Expenses

Early Voting Ballot Board / Central Count Station / Late Ball  

Site Support / Elections Office Personnel
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May 7, 2022 Joint Election
(Estimate of Election Expenses)

Exhibit B

Postage (Mail Media to ES&S) $200.00 $200.00 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Personal Vehicle Mileage (Setup/Opening/Closing) **No Charge to LPS** n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

SUBTOTAL $200.00 $200.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
$57,379.00 $20,363.50 $5,568.50 $6,543.50 $6,695.50 $3,915.50 $6,233.50 $4,143.50 $3,915.50

Section E.  Administrative Fee

Elections Services Contract Administrative Fee (Election Total x 10%) $5,737.90 $556.85 $654.35 $669.55 $391.55 $623.35 $414.35 $391.55

SUBTOTAL $5,737.90 $556.85 $654.35 $669.55 $391.55 $623.35 $414.35 $391.55

$63,116.90 $20,363.50 $6,125.35 $7,197.85 $7,365.05 $4,307.05 $6,856.85 $4,557.85 $4,307.05

Sections A-D Total

TOTAL ESTIMATED COST OF ELECTION:
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Exhibit C 

 
MAY, 2022 JOINT ELECTION 

 
 

KENDALL COUNTY, TEXAS 
 

Division of Expenses 
 

Item to be Divided Special Notes 
Ballot Printing Costs 
 

To be divided equally among entities 
conducting an election. 
 

Publication of Notices 
o Notice of Public Test of Equipment 
o Early Voting Notices 
o Election Day Notices (to include polling locations) 

To be divided equally among entities 
conducting an election. 

Programming Media:  Election Systems and Software 
 

To be divided equally among entities 
conducting an election. 
 

Supplies: Ballot By Mail, Early Voting, Election Day & 
Central Count 
 

To be divided equally among entities 
conducting an election. 
 

Early Voting Clerks (Main location) 
 

To be divided equally among entities 
conducting an election. 
 

Early Voting Clerks (Branch location) 
 

To be paid for by the requesting entity. 
 
 

Election Day Judges & Clerks 
 

This will be split according to the 
precincts your jurisdiction falls within. 
 

Training of Election Workers 
 
 

This will be paid for by the County. 
(Only when it’s a County ORDERED Election) 

Pickup & Delivery of Election Equipment and Supplies 
 

This will be split according to the 
precincts your jurisdiction falls within. 
 

Early Voting Ballot Board Personnel 
 

To be divided equally among entities 
conducting an election. 
 

Central Count Station Personnel 
 

To be divided equally among entities 
conducting an election. 
 

Provisional & Late Ballot Board Personnel 
 

To be divided equally among entities 
conducting an election. 
 

Election Day Site Support Personnel (Including Vendor Support) 
 

This will be paid for by the County. 
(Only when it’s a County ORDERED Election) 
 

Postage 
 

To be divided equally among entities 
conducting an election. 
 

Vehicle Mileage (Employees) To be paid for by the requesting entity. 
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CITY COUNCIL CONSIDERATION ITEM 
CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

February 17, 2022  
 

 
AGENDA TOPIC: Consideration and possible action accepting the FY 2020-21 Audit 

DATE: February 17, 2022 

DEPARTMENT: Finance 

PRESENTED BY: Scott Huizenga, Assistant. City Manager, Administrative Services 
Michael Del Toro, ABIP, PC 

 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 

As required by Texas Local Government Code Section 103.101, cities in Texas are required to 
conduct an independent annual audit of their financials.  Accordingly, the City of Fair Oaks Ranch 
retained the firm of ABIP, PC to prepare said audit services.   

Representatives from ABIP, PC will attend the meeting to present the Fiscal Year 2020-2021 audit 
and answer questions. 

The entire audited annual comprehensive financial report (ACFR) can be found on the City’s 
website on the Finance Departmental Page:  

https://www.fairoaksranchtx.org/127/Finance 

POLICY ANALYSIS/BENEFIT(S) TO CITIZENS: 

Compliance with state law, citizen transparency and best practice financial management. 

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL & BUDGETARY IMPACT: 

The audit resulted in an unmodified (“clean”) audit opinion. 

LEGAL ANALYSIS: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDATION/PROPOSED MOTION: 

I move to accept the Fiscal Year 2020-2021 annual audit as presented by ABIP, PC. 
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7286 Dietz Elkhorn   ∙   Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas 78015   ∙   210‐698‐0900   ∙   866‐258‐2505   ∙   Fax 210‐698‐3565   ∙   
www.fairoaksranchtx.org  

i 

 
 
 
 
 
February 17, 2022 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council and Citizens of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch: 
 
 
The City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas is required to publish each year a complete set of financial statements 
presented in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards by a firm of licensed certified public accountants. Pursuant to that requirement, 
we hereby issue the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch (the City) for the fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2021. 
 
This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the City and management deems the 
enclosed data is accurate in all material respects and reported in a manner designed to present fairly the financial 
position and results of operations of all City activities and funds. Management assumes full responsibility for the 
completeness and reliability of the information contained in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of 
internal control that it has established for this purpose. Because the cost of internal controls should not exceed 
anticipated benefits, the objective is to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial 
statements are free of any material misstatements. The City also acknowledges all disclosures that are necessary to 
enable the reader to gain an understanding of the City’s financial activities have been included. 
 
The City’s financial statements have been audited by ABIP, PC, a firm of licensed public accountants. The goal of 
the independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the City for the fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2021 are free of material misstatement. The independent audit involved examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the overall financial presentation. 
The independent auditor has concluded, based on the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an 
unmodified opinion that the financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2021 are fairly presented in 
conformity with GAAP. The independent auditor’s report is presented as the first component of the financial section 
of this report. 
 
As required by GAAP, management has provided a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany 
the basic financial statement in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). The letter of transmittal 
is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The City’s MD&A can be found 
immediately following the report of the independent auditors. 
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ii 

PROFILE OF THE CITY 
 
Fair Oaks Ranch was created by a group of visionaries who had both the foresight and the political courage to dream 
of a special community and make it a reality. The ability to make the city a reality was enhanced by having a single 
development company for many years and working with a family that had a desire for their ranch to become a 
unique community. This commonality of vision was the glue that held the development process together and created 
such a unique city.   
 
The City was incorporated in 1988 and became a home rule city in 2017. The City is located 27 miles northwest of 
downtown San Antonio, has a land area of approximately 8.5 square miles and an estimated population of 10,756. 
The City is empowered to levy a property tax on both real and personal property located within its boundaries. 
 
The City has adopted a Council-Manager form of government. Policy-making and legislative authority are vested 
in a governing Council that is comprised of a Mayor and six Council Members. The Mayor and Council Members 
are all elected at large for three-year terms. Elections are staggered with the Mayor and one Council Member elected 
together, three Council Members the following year, and the remaining two Council Members the year after that. 
The City Manager is appointed by the Council and is responsible for implementing council policy and day-to-day 
operations of the City. 
 
The City provides a full range of municipal services including public safety, water and wastewater services, public 
improvements, repair and maintenance of infrastructure, and general administrative services. The City provides 
water service to most of the area, with the San Antonio Water System providing water service to the remaining 
portion of the City. 
 
The City of Fair Oaks Ranch Municipal Development District (MDD) meets the criteria of a component unit; 
therefore, it has been included in the report as a discretely presented component unit. The MDD is governed by a 
seven-member board, consisting of two Council Members and four other members appointed by City Council. The 
MDD is funded through a half-cent Section 4B sales tax. The City is financially accountable for the MDD because 
the City appoints the governing body and the City is obligated to finance any deficits that may occur. 
 

LOCAL ECONOMY 
 
The information presented in the financial statements are perhaps best understood when it is considered from the 
broader perspective of the specific environment within which the City of Fair Oaks Ranch operates. 
 
The City is located near one of the state’s most active growth areas. It is adjacent to the City of San Antonio, the 
second largest city in Texas. The City has a close proximity to major airports and major military bases. The City is 
also not far from one of the busiest intersections in the San Antonio area, the Interstate 10 and Loop 1604 
intersection. The City of Fair Oaks Ranch’s convenient location along the boundaries of Interstate 10, one of the 
largest transportation arteries in the nation, continues to provide for a positive impact to the City. 
 
Other economic indicators such as the unemployment rate and housing permits have remained positive in this area 
as compared to the national level. Sales tax receipts throughout the past fiscal year saw higher levels than the previous 
fiscal year. The primary reason for the increase in sales tax revenue was due to the change in consumer habits shifting 
from in-person shopping at brick and mortar establishments to shopping online with shipments to home. As a 
bedroom community, the change in consumer habits shifted sales tax revenue from surrounding communities to Fair 
Oaks Ranch due to the sales tax regulations that attribute most online purchases to destination.  
 
Because the City is adjacent to the City of San Antonio, the local economy is heavily influenced by the San Antonio 
Metropolitan Statistical Area. This area enjoys the benefit of a diversified economy. Major anchors of the economy 
in this area are the medical/biomedical industry, the military institutions, tourism, telecommunications, insurance, 
finance, and manufacturing.  
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MAJOR INITIATIVES – COMMUNITY FOCUS 
 

Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 
Since March 2020, the City has faced a global pandemic, economic volatility, and a historic winter storm. The 
City’s EOC has been activated twice since then, first for COVID-19 and second for the winter storm in February 
2021. During both activations the entire team performed at a high level, often innovating in real time to ensure the 
well-being of the community and safety of teammates. During the winter storm, the Utility operated without 
interruption, Public Works sanded and salted the streets, and the Police Department responded to every call 
performing at the highest level. During the fiscal year, the City received approximately $184,000 in federal funding 
to help alleviate the costs associated with both EOC activations.  

Public Safety Study 
The City contracted with Matrix Consulting to begin work on a Standard of Cover and Utilization Study. This study 
will provide recommendations for an innovative and sustainable method of determining current and future police 
department staffing needs as well as recommendations to ensure service delivery meets current best practices and 
community expectations. The study will review current demands and existing resources, gather information on 
community expectations and provide recommendations regarding multi-year and buildout projections based on 
community and police department goals and performance indicators. During the fiscal year, $38,713 of the contract 
was expended. The study will continue into the next fiscal year and should be completed by the second quarter of 
FY 2022. 
 
Fire and EMS Study 
The City contracted with Emergency Services Consulting International to begin work on a Fire and EMS study.  
This study will provide recommendations for a method of determining current and future needs. Current demands 
for Fire and EMS will be reviewed including calls for service, days and times of calls, response times, and 
geographic distribution of incidents. The study will assess community risk and existing emergency service assets 
and infrastructure as well as define baseline emergency response performance standards. The study will provide 
information on funding options and resources needed to provide service in the future. During the fiscal year, $10,812 
of the contract was expended. The study will continue into the next fiscal year and should be completed by the 
second quarter of FY 2022. 
 
Water and Wastewater Rate Study 
The City contracted with Raftelis Financial to update rates for the City’s utility system. The Fair Oaks Ranch 
Utilities was brought under the City authority in 1998. Initially, water charges were based on a single base rate and 
a tiered formula for high use. Modifications to the original base rate system was minimal the first several years, but 
the City implemented a major adjustment in 2011 when fees and a System Availability base charge were added. 
Since then, annual adjustments have been recommended with City Council consideration.  The established structure 
has enabled the utility to operate in a net positive each fiscal year; however, the water revenues continue to subsidize 
the wastewater system. In addition, the current rates primarily address operational elements and do not adequately 
address capital needs of the system. The City is engaging qualified outside consultants to develop a reliable, 
affordable, and sustainable financial plan and rate-making protocol that can serve the needs of the City for years 
into the future. During the fiscal year, $100,190 of the contract was expended. This project will continue into the 
next fiscal year and should be completed by the second quarter of FY 2022. 

Utility Risk and Resilience Assessment 
In 2018 the Environmental Protection Agency mandated new requirements under America’s Water Infrastructure 
Act of 2018 (AWIA) for community water systems to conduct risk and resilience assessments. The act requires 
water utilities to conduct a two-phase compliance effort; 1) Risk and Resilience Assessment (RRA) followed by 2) 
Emergency Response Plan (ERP) for the overall water system. Each community water system serving more than 
3,300 people must assess the risks to and resilience of its system from malevolent acts and natural hazards.  

During the fiscal year, the City contracted with engineering firm Freese and Nichols, Inc. to conduct the assessment 
at a cost of $76,990. The assessment continued throughout the year and is expected to conclude in the first quarter 
of FY 2022. 
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MAJOR INITIATIVES – CAPITAL PROGRAMS 
 

City Campus Renovation Project 
The COVID-19 pandemic served to put a spotlight on the City’s growing issues with adequate office space.  
Currently, the City provides services through 75 full-time employees with most departments in shared office 
environments.  Further, the adoption of the home rule charter expanded the City Council from six to seven members, 
so even the City Council is working within confined space as the current council dias was built to accommodate 
six. To minimize costs, improve customer service and interdepartmental functionality, the City began plans to 
modify the workspace within City Hall. 
  
This fiscal year, the City continued work with a local architect on the design phase of the project and expended 
$33,413 of that contract. In January 2021, the City entered into an agreement with Waterman Construction LLC as 
Construction Manager at Risk for the construction of the project. Construction is estimated to take six months and 
is projected to start in the second quarter of FY 2022.  
 
Street Maintenance 
The City continued its enhanced maintenance practices for over 60 miles of public streets. Since 2000, the City has 
continued an annual street maintenance program such that all streets receive a programmed seal coat to protect the 
street base material and prolong its life. Without such a program, the City would be faced with extraordinary costs 
to fully reconstruct all streets in the City every ten to fifteen years.  As a maturing 33-year-old organization, this is 
a valuable investment and a signature component of our asset management program. The total cost of the project 
for FY 2021 was $460,930. Additionally, the City expended $47,000 for a long-term road condition analysis which 
will provide a detailed report to help develop a Roadway Capital Improvement Plan for future improvements. 
 
Elevated Water Storage Tank 
After the development of the Master Water/Wastewater Plan, City Council adopted the plan recommendations as 
appendices to the Unified Development Code. One of the key findings was the need for a new elevated storage tank 
(EST) to provide emergency and equalization storage on the north side of the City. This finding was the same as 
those of two other engineering studies performed for the City over the past twelve years. On April 18, 2019, the 
City Council executed an engineering design services contract for the EST. To date, the City has held community 
meetings concerning the design, style, and preferred location for the EST. In concert with citizens attending the 
community meetings, the City Council made applicable decisions on these choices and engineering design is now 
90% complete. During the fiscal year, $62,890 of the contract was expended, and the remaining work on the contract 
will be completed during FY 2022. Potential land acquisition and construction of the EST are programmed to begin 
during FY 2022. 

Utility System Upgrades 
In 2014, the council approved SCADA upgrades to the Fair Oaks Ranch utility system. During this process, 
industrialized plant panel personal computer (PC) computers operating with Windows 7 were installed at each plant 
to allow SCADA to operate the system. The SCADA software was also installed on one office PC to serve as the 
SCADA main server for information, alerts, and display in the Water Department office. 
 
That upgraded system became outdated and in need of panel PC and software upgrades. The City contracted with 
Patti Engineering to purchase and replace all panel PC’s, upgrade their operating systems to Windows 10, and 
update the server operating system to Windows Server 2019. Part of the server upgrade included virtualizing the 
server within the City server infrastructure to provide increased flexibility in future upgrades and the City’s backup 
infrastructure. The City expended $159,800 and completed the contract during FY 2021. 
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AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Fair Oaks Ranch for its annual comprehensive 
financial report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020.  This marked the fourth consecutive year the City has 
won this award.  
 
To be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized 
annual comprehensive financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and 
applicable legal requirements. A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that 
our current annual comprehensive financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s 
requirements and we are submitting it to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. 
  
The preparation of this report was made possible by the efficient and dedicated service of the entire staff of the 
finance and administration departments. We appreciate the efforts of everyone involved. We wish to also express 
our appreciation to the Mayor and all City Council members for their unfailing support for maintaining the highest 
standards of professionalism in the management of the City's finances.   
   
 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Summer Fleming, Interim Finance Director 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and 
Members of the City Council  
City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City 
of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas (the “City”), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2021, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.   

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 
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Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component 
unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas, as of 
September 30, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for 
the year then ended in accordance with  accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis, General Fund Budgetary Comparison Information, and the Texas Municipal Retirement System Net 
Pension Liability and Other Postemployment Benefits Liability required schedules as listed in the table of contents 
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the City's basic financial statements.  The introductory section, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial 
statements, budgetary comparison information for the debt service fund, and the statistical section are presented for 
the purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.   
 
The budgetary comparison information for the debt service fund, the strategic projects fund, and the equipment 
replacement fund schedules are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In 
our opinion, the budgetary comparison information schedule is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to 
the basic financial statements taken as a whole.   
 
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of 
the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them. 
 

 
San Antonio, Texas 
February 17, 2022
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CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A) 
 

This section of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch (the “City”) annual comprehensive financial report presents our 
discussion and analysis of the City’s financial performance during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021.  This 
discussion and analysis is intended to assist readers in focusing on significant financial issues and changes in the 
City’s financial position, and identifying any significant variances from the adopted budget. Please read it in 
conjunction with the City’s financial statements, which follow this section. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS  
 

 The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources at September 30, 2021 by total combined net position of $31,905,209. Of this amount, 
$16,022,575 (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to 
citizens and creditors. 
 

 During the year, the City’s total net position increased by $2,913,144 or 10.1%. The net position of 
governmental activities increased by $2,102,196 or 14.6%. The net position of business-type activities 
increased by $810,948, or 5.5%. 
 

 At the end of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances 
of $9,345,852. Of this amount, $96,070 is non-spendable, $153,339 is restricted in use, $5,831,274 is 
assigned and $3,265,169 is unassigned.  
 

 The establishment and maintenance of appropriate reserves within the General Fund is critical to prudent 
financial management. At the end of the current fiscal year, $3,835,321 is assigned to the Operating 
Reserve. The City’s governmental reserve policy is to maintain at least six months’ worth of operating 
expenses in unrestricted reserves. The City currently has seven months of operating expenses in the 
Operating Reserve at September 30, 2021. 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This annual report consists of three parts—management’s discussion and 
analysis (this section), the basic financial statements, and required 
supplementary information.  The basic financial statements include two 
kinds of statements that present different views of the City: 
 
 The first two statements are government-wide financial statements 

that provide both long-term and short-term information about the 
City’s overall financial status. 

 
 The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on 

individual parts of the government, reporting the City’s operations 
in more detail than the government-wide statements. 

 
 The governmental funds statements tell how general government 

services were financed in the short-term as well as what remains for 
future spending. 

 
 Proprietary fund statements offer short-term and long-term financial 

information about the activities the government operates like 
businesses. 

 

Figure A-1, Required Components of 
the City’s Annual Financial Report 
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The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial statements and 
provide more detailed data.  The statements are followed by a section of required supplementary information that 
further explains and supports the information in the financial statements.  Figure A-1 shows how the required parts 
of this annual report are arranged and related to one another. 
 
Figure A-2 summarizes the major features of the City’s financial statements, including the portion of the City 
government they cover and the types of information they contain. The remainder of this overview section of 
management’s discussion and analysis explains the structure and contents of each of the statements. 

Type of Statements Government-Wide Governmental Funds Proprietary Funds

Scope Entire City's government The activities of the City Activities the City
(except fiduciary funds) that are not proprietary operates similar to private
and the City's component or fiduciary businesses:  water and 
units wastewater services

Required financial ● Statement of Net Position ● Balance Sheet ● Statement of Net Position
statements ● Statement of Activities ● Statement of Revenues, ● Statement of Revenues,

Expenditures and Changes Expenses and Changes in
in Fund Balances Net Position

● Statement of Cash Flows
Accounting basis Accrual accounting and Modified accrual Accrual accounting and
and measurement economic resources focus accounting and current economic resources focus
focus financial resources focus
Type of asset/ All assets and liabilities, Only assets expected to All assets and liabilities,
liability information both financial and capital, be used up and liabilities both financial and capital,

short-term and long-term that come due during the and short-term and long-term
year or soon thereafter,
no capital assets included

Type of inflow/ All revenues and expenses Revenues for which cash All revenues and expenses
outflow information during year, regardless of is received during or soon during year, regardless of

when cash is received or after the end of the year; when cash is received or paid
paid expenditures when goods

or services have been
received and payment is
due during the year or
soon thereafter

Fund Statements

Figure A-2,  Major Features of the City's Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

 
 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements report information about the City as a whole using accounting methods 
similar to those used by private-sector companies.  The statement of net position includes all of the government’s 
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflow of resources.  All of the current year’s revenues 
and expenses are accounted for in the statement of activities regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
 
The two government-wide statements report the City’s net position and how they have changed.  Net position, the 
difference between the City’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources 
is one way to measure the City’s financial health or position. 
 
Over time, increases or decreases in the City’s net position is an indicator of whether its financial health is 
improving or deteriorating, respectively. To assess the overall health of the City, one needs to consider additional 
nonfinancial factors such as changes in the City’s tax base. 
 
The government-wide financial statements of the City include the Governmental Activities. Most of the City’s basic 
services are included here, such as general government, public safety, public works, building codes, municipal 
court, and engineering and planning.  Property taxes, franchise fees and charges for services finance most of these 
activities. 
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Fund Financial Statements   
 
The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the City’s most significant funds – not the 
City as a whole. Funds are accounting devices the City uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending 
for particular purposes. 
 
The City has the following kinds of funds: 
 

 Governmental funds – Most of the City’s basic services are included in governmental funds, which focus 
on (1) how cash and other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash flow in and out and (2) the 
balances left at year-end that are available for spending.  Consequently, the governmental fund statements 
provide a detailed short-term view that helps you determine whether there are more or fewer financial 
resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the City’s programs.  Because this information does 
not encompass the additional long-term focus of the government-wide statements, it is useful to compare 
the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented in the government-
wide statements. 

 
 Proprietary funds – Proprietary funds are generally used to account for services for which the City charges 

customers a fee.  Proprietary funds, like the government-wide statements, provide both long-term and short-
term financial information. The City maintains one type of proprietary fund called an enterprise fund, which 
accounts for the operation of the City’s water and wastewater utility. 
 

 Fiduciary funds - Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the primary government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in government-wide financial statements as the 
resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s programs and operations. With the exception 
of agency funds, the accounting for fiduciary finds is much like that used for the proprietary funds. The 
City maintains a private-purpose trust fund for certain employee health benefits. 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the 
government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Other Information 

 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain required 
supplemental information concerning the City’s progress in funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its 
employees and a budgetary comparison schedule. 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS 
 
As of September 30, 2021, total assets and deferred outflow of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflow 
of resources by $31,905,209 (see Table A-1).  Investment in capital assets representing a large portion of the City’s 
net position, $15,729,295, consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding 
balances of borrowings attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. The restricted 
portion of the total net position, totaling $153,339, represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on 
how they may be used. The remaining amount of net position, $16,022,575, is unrestricted and may be used to meet 
the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 
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TABLE A-1 
 

CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH’S NET POSITION 
 

Total

Percentage

Change

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021-2020

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 9,844,549$           7,675,832$        8,633,713$         6,285,927$        18,478,262$      13,961,759$         32.3%

Receivables 592,760           579,449        468,539         574,296        1,061,299     1,153,745        -8.0%
Inventories and prepaids 96,070                  82,635               198,767              209,946             294,837             292,581                0.8%

Total current assets 10,533,379           8,337,916          9,301,019           7,070,169          19,834,398        15,408,085           28.7%

Non-current assets:

Land 116,798                116,798             53,600                53,600               170,398             170,398           0.0%
Building and land improvements 4,037,292        4,037,292     -                     -                    4,037,292          4,037,292        0.0%
Utility plant and easements -                           -                         18,424,624         18,432,221        18,424,624        18,432,221      0.0%
Vehicles and equipment 2,208,651        1,990,684          1,124,837           979,348             3,333,488          2,970,032        12.2%
Infrastructure 10,148,595      10,148,595        -                          -                         10,148,595        10,148,595      0.0%
Construction in progress -                           4,655                 538,019              404,749             538,019             409,404           31.4%
Less: accumulated depreciation (4,368,372)           (3,827,939)         (9,629,697)          (8,902,399)         (13,998,069)       (12,730,338)         10.0%

Total non-current assets 12,142,964           12,470,085        10,511,383         10,967,519        22,654,347        23,437,604           -3.3%

Total assets 22,676,343           20,808,001        19,812,402         18,037,688        42,488,745        38,845,689           9.4%

Deferred outflows of resources:

Deferred OPEB related outflows 31,243                  21,244               9,968                  6,423                 41,211               27,667                  100.0%
Deferred pension related outflows 354,760                355,255             151,576              108,537             506,336             463,792                9.2%

Total deferred outflows

  of resources 386,003                376,499             161,544              114,960             547,547             491,459                11.4%

Liabilities:
Current liabilities 1,021,030             915,954             1,792,864           591,669             2,813,894          1,507,623             86.6%
Non-current liabilities:

Due within one year 531,063                494,490             333,793              241,618             864,856             736,108                17.5%
Due in more than one year 4,261,548             4,623,502          2,171,379           2,464,856          6,432,927          7,088,358             -9.2%
OPEB liability 105,988                86,715               33,622                25,900               139,610             112,615                24.0%
Net pension liability 425,502                403,288             127,502              120,455             553,004             523,743                5.6%

Total liabilities 6,345,131             6,523,949          4,459,160           3,444,498          10,804,291        9,968,447             8.4%

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred OPEB related inflows 10,514                  7,663                 3,343                  2,342                 13,857               10,005                  38.5%
Deferred pension related inflows 236,200                284,583             76,735                82,048               312,935             366,631                -14.6%

Total deferred outflows

  of resources 246,714                292,246             80,078                84,390               326,792             376,636                -13.2%

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 7,647,912             7,523,360          8,081,383           8,307,519          15,729,295        15,830,879           -0.6%
Restricted 153,339                132,938             -                          -                         153,339             132,938                15.3%
Unrestricted 8,669,250             6,712,007          7,353,325           6,316,241          16,022,575        13,028,248           23.0%

Total net position 16,470,501$         14,368,305$      15,434,708$       14,623,760$      31,905,209$      28,992,065$         10.0%

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
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Table A-2 provides a detail of the changes to the City’s net position. 
 
The City’s total revenues were $15,429,463. Revenues from Governmental Activities totaled $9,745,028 (63.2%) 
and revenues from Business-Type Activities totaled $5,684,435 (36.8%). Expenses for the City totaled $12,516,319; 
Governmental Activity expenses totaled $7,642,832 (61.1%) and Business-Type Activity expenses totaled 
$4,873,487 (38.9%). 
 

TABLE A-2 
 

CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH’S CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
 

Total

 Percentage

Change

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021-2020

Revenues:

Program revenues:

Charges for services 915,200$           809,858$           5,681,369$        5,839,886$        6,596,569$        6,649,744$        -0.8%

Operating grants and 

  contributions 190,841             3,728                 -                         -                         190,841             3,728                 5019.1%

General revenues:

Property taxes 6,482,238          6,202,561          -                         -                         6,482,238          6,202,561          4.5%

Non property taxes 2,112,076          1,796,558          -                         -                         2,112,076          1,796,558          17.6%

Investment earnings 4,345                 72,151               3,066                 49,749               7,411                 121,900             -93.9%

Gain on sale of capital assets 19,848               12,534               -                         -                         19,848               12,534               58.4%

Miscellaneous 20,480               66,819               -                         -                         20,480               66,819               -69.4%

Total revenues 9,745,028          8,964,209          5,684,435          5,889,635          15,429,463        14,853,844        3.9%

Expenses:

Mayor and council 4,774                 23,568               -                         -                         4,774                 23,568               -79.7%

City administration 711,344             1,235,258          -                         -                         711,344             1,235,258          -42.4%

City secretary 230,348             159,376             -                         -                         230,348             159,376             44.5%

HR and communications 220,869             168,794             -                         -                         220,869             168,794             30.9%

Finance 322,851             339,295             -                         -                         322,851             339,295             -4.8%

Municipal court 192,956             184,553             -                         -                         192,956             184,553             4.6%

Public safety 3,161,031          3,001,619          -                         -                         3,161,031          3,001,619          5.3%

Engineering and planning 976,254             718,380             -                         -                         976,254             718,380             35.9%

Public works 922,990             870,398             -                         -                         922,990             870,398             6.0%

Building codes and permits 253,665             248,414             -                         -                         253,665             248,414             2.1%

Information technology 394,288             -                         -                         -                         394,288             -                         100.0%

Non-departmental 251,462             459,298             -                         -                         251,462             459,298             -45.3%

Utility -                         -                         4,873,487          5,418,730          4,873,487          5,418,730          -10.1%

Total expenses 7,642,832          7,408,953          4,873,487          5,418,730          12,516,319        12,827,683        -2.4%

Increases (decreases) in net

 position before transfers 2,102,196          1,555,256          810,948             470,905             2,913,144          2,026,161          43.8%

Change in net position 2,102,196          1,555,256          810,948             470,905             2,913,144          2,026,161          43.8%

Net position - beginning 14,368,305        12,813,049        14,623,760        14,152,855        28,992,065        26,965,904        7.5%

Net position - ending 16,470,501$      14,368,305$      15,434,708$      14,623,760$      31,905,209$      28,992,065$      10.0%

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
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Governmental Activities 
 
Overall Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $2,102,196. General revenues such as property 
taxes, sales taxes, and franchise fees are used to support all governmental activities. Property taxes are the largest 
source of governmental revenues, followed by sales tax. 
 
 

 
Revenues for Governmental Activities were $9,745,028 compared to prior year’s revenues of $8,964,209. The 
increase of $780,819 is attributable to the following:  

 
 Property tax revenues increased by $279,677 due primarily to an increase in assessed property values. 
 Sales tax revenue increased by $269,087 due to an increase in online sales shipped to homes within the 

City. With a limited commercial footprint, the change in shopping habits from brick and mortar 
establishments to shopping online had a positive impact in the City’s sales tax revenue. 

 Operating grants and contributions increased by $187,113 primarily attributed to reimbursement for time 
and expense responding to COVID-19 activities including labor and supplies. 

 Charges for service for governmental activities increased by $105,342, primarily attributed to an increase 
in building permits of $93,974, which includes new residential, commercial, remodeling and other permits. 

 Investment earnings reflected a decrease of $67,608 primarily due to declining yields over the period. 
 
Expenses for Governmental Activities were $7,642,832 compared to prior year’s expenses of $7,408,953. The 
increase of $233,849 is due to the following: 
 

 The decrease of $18,794 in Mayor & Council expenses is due to hosting the annual State of the City address 
virtually compared to an in-person format the previous year, and a savings in budgeted professional 
services. 

 The decrease in City Administration of $523,914 is primarily due to a decrease in strategic project 
expenditures completed in the prior year. 

 The increase of $70,972 in City Secretary expenses is primarily due to an increase in election costs. This 
fiscal year consisted of a regularly scheduled election and a special election for a vacated city council seat.  

 The increase of $52,075 in HR and Communications expenses is due to the addition of an HR & 
Communications Specialist for a full year as well as increased recruitment costs related to overall employee 
turnover. 

Property tax, 66.5%

Sales tax, 15.0%

Charges for service, 
9.4%

Franchise fees, 6.7%
Operating grants and 
contributions, 2.0%

Other, 0.5%

Government-wide Revenues by Source - Governmental Activities
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 The decrease of $16,444 in Finance expenses is due to personnel vacancies throughout the year. 
 Expenses for Public Safety increased by $159,412 due to an increase in depreciation for departmental fleet 

as well as two on-going studies for Standards of Cover and Utilization, Fire and Emergency Services. 
 Expenses for Engineering & Planning increased by $257,874 due to contracting with a General Engineering 

Contractor and a City Planning Consultant to continue work on drainage criticality, modifying the Unified 
Development Code, planning and zoning, and City capital improvement plans. 

 The increase of $394,288 in Information Technology (IT) expenses is offset with a $207,836 decrease in 
non-departmental expenses for a net increase of $116,689. This is the first year the City has had an IT 
department consisting of an IT Manager and an IT Network Specialist. In prior years, the cost of software 
and hardware maintenance was recorded in the non-departmental, or shared, category. 

 

 
 
Business-Type Activities  
 
The City’s Business-Type Activities consist solely of water and wastewater services. These activities have rates 
and spending plans established by the City Council. Business-Type Activities increased the City’s net position by 
$810,948, accounting for a 27.8% increase in the City’s total net position.   
 
Revenues for Business-Type Activities totaled $5,684,435 compared to prior year’s revenues of $5,889,635. The 
decrease of $205,200 is due to the following: 
 

 Residential and commercial water and wastewater revenue decreased by $129,027 due to a combination of 
conservation efforts and weather-related effects on water usage, specifically irrigation. 

 The water and wastewater debt service revenue decreased by $110,841 due to a rate decrease during the 
fiscal year. The City was able to decrease the debt service rate charged to users after refinancing a capital 
lease with a Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Bond.  

 Water and wastewater impact fee revenue increased by $76,577 due to increased development of new 
residential homes within the City. 

 Investment earnings reflected a decrease of $46,683 primarily due to declining yields over the period. 
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Expenses for Business-Type Activities were $4,873,487 compared to prior year expenses of $5,418,730. The 
decrease of $545,243 is due to the following: 
 

 The City had a decrease of $379,738 in professional fees from the prior year. Professional fees for the prior 
year include water rights’ legal fees as well as surveying, documenting and recording the City’s water utility 
infrastructure.  

 The Water Utility had a decrease of $130,656 in water reservation fees paid to Guadalupe-Blanco River 
Authority (GBRA). GBRA decreased the debt rate being charged to the City resulting in a savings for this 
expense. 

 The City’s Business-Type Activities had a decrease of $173,880 in interest and fiscal charges due to the 
refinance of a capital lease with a Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Bond in September 2020. 
The bond provides more favorable terms to the City and has a maturity date of September 30, 2029. 

 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

 
Activities of the Primary Government’s General Fund, Debt Service Fund, and Capital Projects Funds are 
considered general government functions. The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on 
near-term inflows, outflows and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s 
financing requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s 
net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
At the close of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$9,345,852, a net increase of $2,052,367 or 28%.   
 
The total increase is shown by fund below. 
 
 General Fund    $   2,118,396 
 Debt Service Fund             12,027 
 Capital Projects Funds                       (78,056) 
 
 Combined fund balance change  $   2,052,367 
 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, the General Fund 
reported a total fund balance of $7,355,562. The fund balance is categorized as follows: $96,070 in nonspendable, 
$109,002 in restricted, $3,885,321 in assigned, and $3,265,169 in unassigned. The assigned fund balance includes 
$3,835,321 in budgeted operating expense reserve held by the City. The unassigned fund balance includes 
$1,267,900 allocated for appropriations in fiscal year 2022 budget.  
 
The fund balance of the General Fund increased by $2,118,396 during the fiscal year. This increase in fund balance 
is due largely to continued strong earnings in tax revenues and permits, as well as an increase in operating grants 
related to COVID-19. 
 
The total fund balance of the City’s capital projects funds at year-end was $1,945,953. These funds are assigned for 
strategic projects and replacement of capital equipment. The fund balance decreased by $78,056 during the fiscal 
year due to continued expenditures on budgeted projects. 
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GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 
 
Over the course of the year, the City revised its budget. Changes from the adopted budget to the final amended 
budget resulted in a net increase of $588,885 in budgeted revenues. This increase can be summarized by the 
following: 
 

 Property tax revenues increased due to a large volume of property value appeals completed by the appraisal 
districts that resulted in an increase in assessed taxable value for properties within the City.  

 Transfers from other funds increased due to an increase in capital equipment replacement funded from the 
Equipment Replacement Fund. 

 
Final budgeted revenue appropriations for the General Fund were $8,325,800 while actual revenues on a budgetary 
basis were $9,437,729, creating a favorable variance of $1,111,929. Variance explanations are listed below: 
 

 Tax revenues are higher than final budgeted amount due to better sales taxes collected than anticipated.  
 Permits revenue was higher than anticipated due to the continuing development of residential homes and 

remodeling. 
 Miscellaneous revenues are higher than final budgeted amounts due to COVID-19 relief funds awarded for 

reimbursement of time and expenses, as well as the sale of surplus City assets. 
 
Changes in original expenditure budget appropriations to the final amended budget appropriations resulted in a net 
$415,243 increase in appropriations. The increase can be summarized by the following: 
 

 General Government increased by $202,942 largely due to an increase in personnel appropriations of 
$145,728 for organizational changes and compensation study results, as well as an increase in capital 
expenditures and professional services of $57,214. General Government includes Administration, City 
Secretary, HR and Communications, Finance, Information Technology and Non-departmental costs. 

Original Final Actual
Budget Budget Results Budget Final to Actual

Resources (Inflows):
Taxes 6,161,691$      6,584,928$      7,341,717$      423,237$      756,789$             
Franchise Fees 632,700           632,700           651,534           -              18,834                 
Permits 242,750           242,750           499,777           -              257,027               
Animal Control 3,400              3,400              1,120              -              (2,280)                 
Fines & Forfeitures 100,263           100,263           139,753           -              39,490                 
Other Fees and Services 268,711           268,711           266,691           -              (2,020)                 
Miscellaneous 18,400            18,400            245,512           -              227,112               
Investment Earnings 69,000            69,000            4,286              -              (64,714)                
Transfers from Other Funds 240,000           405,648           287,339           165,648        (118,309)              

Total 7,736,915$      8,325,800$      9,437,729$      588,885$      1,111,929$           

Charges to Appropriations (Outflows):
General Government 1,954,848$      2,157,790$      1,841,452$      202,942$      (316,338)$            
Public Safety 3,333,905        3,439,150        3,045,958        105,245        (393,192)              
Public Works 565,108           606,171           543,008           41,063          (63,163)                
Engineering and Planning 962,045           1,024,501        969,803           62,456          (54,698)                
Building Codes and Permits 265,700           256,052           253,664           (9,648)          (2,388)                 
Municipal Court 227,491           225,676           192,955           (1,815)          (32,721)                
Transfers to Other Funds 442,993           457,993           472,493           15,000          14,500                 

Total 7,752,090$      8,167,333$      7,319,333$      415,243$      (848,000)$            

Variances

Variances in Budget Appropriations
Year-Ended September 30, 2021

(Budgetary Basis)
General Fund
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 Public Safety increased by $105,245 to capture prior year carryforwards for encumbrances. 
 Public Works increased $41,063 due to an increase in personnel for compensation study results, an increase 

in capital for emergency HVAC replacement, and an increase in maintenance and repairs. 
 Engineering and Planning increased $62,456 due mostly to an increase in professional services to extend 

the scope of work for the Planning Consultant and the General Engineering Consultant. 
 Building Codes and Municipal Court decreased a total of $11,463 due to decreases in personnel costs.   
 Transfers to Other Funds increased $15,000 to account for increased scope of services for a strategic project 

related to stormwater. 
 
Final budgeted expenditure appropriations for the General Fund were $8,167,333 while actual expenditures on a 
budgetary basis were $7,319,333, creating a favorable variance of $848,000. Variance explanations are listed below: 
 

 General Government recognized savings due to vacancies in personnel and savings in professional services. 
 Public Safety savings are mostly attributed to vacancies in personnel and budgeted capital not purchased 

due to supply chain issues.   
 Public Works savings are attributed to vacancies in personnel and associated training costs for personnel. 
 Engineering and Planning savings are due to a vacancy in personnel and budgeted professional services. 
 Municipal Court savings are attributed to budgeted court technology and safety improvements not 

completed, as well as a savings in professional services. 
 Transfers to Other Funds increase is due to an approved increase in a Public Safety Utilization Study.   

 
CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

 
Capital Assets 
 
The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of September 30, 2021 
amounts to $22,654,347 (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment includes land, buildings, vehicles and 
equipment, infrastructure and construction in progress (see Table A-3).  The net decrease in the City’s investment 
in capital assets for the fiscal year was $783,257, which is comprised of a $327,121 decrease in governmental 
activities and a decrease of $456,136 in business-type activities. 

 
TABLE A-3 

 
CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH’S CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
Total

Percentage
Change

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021-2020

Capital assets - not depreciated
Land 116,798$           116,798$           53,600$             53,600$             170,398$           170,398$           0.0%
Construction in progress -                         4,655                 538,019             404,749             538,019             409,404             31.4%

Capital assets - not depreciated
Buildings and land improvements 4,037,292          4,037,292          -                         -                         4,037,292          4,037,292          0.0%
Vehicles and equipment 2,208,651          1,990,684          1,124,837          979,348             3,333,488          2,970,032          12.2%
Infrastructure 10,148,595        10,148,595        -                         -                         10,148,595        10,148,595        0.0%
Utility plant -                         -                         18,424,624        18,432,221        18,424,624        18,432,221        0.0%

Totals at historical cost 16,511,336        16,298,024        20,141,080        19,869,918        36,652,416        36,167,942        1.3%
Total accumulated depreciation (4,368,372)         (3,827,939)         (9,629,697)         (8,902,399)         (13,998,069)       (12,730,338)       10.0%

Net capital assets 12,142,964$      12,470,085$      10,511,383$      10,967,519$      22,654,347$      23,437,604$      -3.3%

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

 

Additional detail regarding capital assets can be found in Note 5 on page 41 of the financial statements. 
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Long-Term Debt 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had a total of $6,865,000 in bonds outstanding. The City had no new 
debt issuances during the fiscal year. More detailed information about the City’s long-term liabilities can be found 
in Note 7 on page 43. 

TABLE A-4 
 

CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH’S LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

Total

Percentage

Change

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021-2020

Bonds payable 4,435,000$  4,880,000$  2,430,000$  2,660,000$  6,865,000$  7,540,000$     -9.0%

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total

 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES 
 
The City’s elected officials considered many factors when setting the fiscal year 2022 budget, tax rates, and fees 
that will be charged for the business-type activities. The City has adopted an ad valorem tax rate of $0.3518 per 
$100 of assessed values for fiscal year 2022, which is a decrease from $0.3735 in fiscal year 2021. Due to growth 
and increased valuations, property tax revenue is expected to increase approximately 2% compared to fiscal year 
2021. 
 
Despite the global pandemic, sales tax revenue in fiscal year 2021 continued to exceed expectations. The City 
budgeted a 9% increase in sales tax revenue for fiscal year 2022, which is in line with recent performance trends. 
 
Water and wastewater volumetric rates remain unchanged for fiscal year 2022. Due to continued growth, the City 
expects revenues to be up slightly compared to fiscal year 2021. 
 
Priorities for fiscal year 2022 focus on the continued development and implementation of the City’s Strategic Plan 
and Capital Improvement Plans.  
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a general 
overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability for the money it receives.  If you have 
questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact City Hall, 7286 Dietz Elkhorn, Fair 
Oaks Ranch, Texas 78015 (210-698-0900) or (866-258-2505). 
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 

 The basic financial statements include integrated sets of financial statements as required by the GASB. 
 The sets of statements include: 
 

 Government-wide financial statements 
 Fund financial statements: 

- Governmental funds 
- Proprietary funds  

 
 In addition, the notes to the financial statements are included to provide information that is essential to 

a user’s understanding of the basic financial statements. 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Component Unit
Municipal

Governmental Business-Type Development
Activities Activities Total District

Cash and cash equivalents 9,844,549$           8,633,713$           18,478,262$         1,716,836$           
Receivables 
  (net of allowance for uncollectibles):

Taxes 171,660           -                      171,660           65,441             
Accounts 421,100           468,539           889,639           -                      

Inventories -                           123,206                123,206           -                           
Prepaids 96,070                  75,561                  171,631           -                           
Capital assets, net:

Land 116,798                53,600                  170,398           -                           
Buildings and land improvements 2,708,093             -                           2,708,093        -                           
Utility plant and easements -                           9,485,587             9,485,587        -                           
Vehicles and equipment 853,330                434,177                1,287,507        -                           
Infrastructure 8,464,743             -                           8,464,743        -                           
Construction in progress -                           538,019                538,019           -                           

Total capital assets 12,142,964           10,511,383           22,654,347           -                           

Total assets 22,676,343           19,812,402           42,488,745           1,782,277             

Deferred outflows related to OPEB 31,243                  9,968                    41,211                  -                           
Deferred outflows related to pensions 354,760                151,576                506,336                -                           

Total deferred outflows of resources 386,003                161,544                547,547                -                           

ASSETS

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Primary Government

 
 

(continued)
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Component Unit
Municipal

Governmental Business-Type Development

Activities Activities Total District

Accounts payable and other 763,573$              237,113$              1,000,686$           845$                     
Accrued liabilities 177,744                56,828                  234,572                -                           
Other liabilities 79,713                  109,077                188,790                -                           
Unearned revenue -                           1,389,846             1,389,846             -                           
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 531,063                333,793                864,856                -                           
Due in more than one year 4,261,548             2,171,379             6,432,927             -                           
    OPEB liability 105,988                33,622                  139,610                -                           
    Net pension liability 425,502                127,502                553,004                -                           

Total liabilities 6,345,131             4,459,160             10,804,291           845                       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows related to pensions 236,200                76,735                  312,935                -                           
Deferred inflows related to OPEB 10,514                  3,343                    13,857                  -                           

Total deferred inflows of resources 246,714                80,078                  326,792                -                           

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 7,647,912             8,081,383             15,729,295           -                           
Restricted for:

Court technology 17,819                  -                           17,819                  -                           
Court security building 57,924                  -                           57,924                  -                           
Court efficiency and felony forfeiture 11,340                  -                           11,340                  -                           
Other court restrictions 4,753                    -                           4,753                    -                           
PEG fees 4,319                    -                           4,319                    -                           
Public safety 12,847                  -                           12,847                  -                           
Debt service 44,337                  -                           44,337                  -                           

Unrestricted 8,669,250             7,353,325             16,022,575           1,781,432             

Total net position 16,470,501$         15,434,708$         31,905,209$         1,781,432$           

LIABILITIES

Primary Government
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
 

For the year ended September 30, 2021 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions

Primary government
Governmental activities:

Mayor and council 4,774$                  -$                         -$                         -$                         
Administration 711,344                274,550                189,014                -                           
City secretary 230,348                -                           -                           -                           
HR and communications 220,869                -                           -                           -                           
Finance 322,851                -                           -                           -                           
Municipal court 192,956                139,753                -                           -                           
Public safety 3,161,031             1,350                    1,827                    -                           
Engineering and planning 976,254                -                           -                           -                           
Public works 922,990                -                           -                           -                           
Building codes and permits 253,665                499,547                -                           -                           
Information technology 394,288                -                           -                           -                           
General government 251,462                -                           -                           -                           

Total governmental activities 7,642,832             915,200                190,841                -                           

Business-type activities:
Water/sewer utility 4,873,487             5,681,369             -                           -                           

Total business-type activities 4,873,487             5,681,369             -                           -                           

Total primary government 12,516,319$         6,596,569$           190,841$              -$                         

Component unit:
Municipal Development District 37,071$                -$                         -$                         -$                         

 General revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes
Non property taxes

Interest and investment earnings

Gain on sale of capital assets

Miscellaneous

Total general revenues

  
Change in net position

Net position - beginning

Net position - ending

Functions and Programs

Program Revenues
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Component Unit
Municipal

Governmental Business-type Development
Activities Activities Total District

(4,774)$                -$                         (4,774)$                
(247,780)              -                           (247,780)              
(230,348)              -                           (230,348)              
(220,869)              -                           (220,869)              
(322,851)              -                           (322,851)              
(53,203)                -                           (53,203)                

(3,157,854)           -                           (3,157,854)           
(976,254)              -                           (976,254)              
(922,990)              -                           (922,990)              
245,882                -                           245,882                

(394,288)              -                           (394,288)              
(251,462)              -                           (251,462)              

(6,536,791)           -                           (6,536,791)           

-                           807,882                807,882                

-                           807,882                807,882                

(6,536,791)           807,882                (5,728,909)           

(37,071)$              

6,482,238             -                           6,482,238             -                           
2,112,076             -                           2,112,076             389,676                

4,345                    3,066                    7,411                    686                       

19,848                  -                           19,848                  -                           

20,480                  -                           20,480                  -                           

8,638,987             3,066                    8,642,053             390,362                

2,102,196             810,948                2,913,144             353,291                

14,368,305           14,623,760           28,992,065           1,428,141             

16,470,501$         15,434,708$         31,905,209$         1,781,432$           

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Primary Government
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Other Total
General Strategic Projects Equipment Governmental Fund Governmental
Fund Fund Replacement Fund Debt Service Fund Funds

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,849,262$           1,078,784$            872,769$                   43,734$                         9,844,549$           
Receivables (net of allowance for 

       uncollectibles):
Property taxes 156,574                -                            -                                 15,086                           171,660                
Accounts 421,100                -                            -                                 -                                     421,100                

Prepaid items 96,070                  -                            -                                 -                                     96,070                  

Total assets 8,523,006$           1,078,784$            872,769$                   58,820$                         10,533,379$         

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 757,973$              5,600$                   -$                               -$                                   763,573$              
Accrued expenditures 177,744 -                            -                                 -                                     177,744                

Other liabilities 79,713                  -                            -                                 -                                     79,713                  

Total liabilities 1,015,430             5,600                     -                                 -                                     1,021,030             

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenues 152,014                -                            -                                 14,483                           166,497                

Total deferred inflows of resources 152,014                -                            -                                 14,483                           166,497                

FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable:
Prepaid items 96,070 -                            -                                 -                                     96,070                  

Restricted for:
Court technology 17,819 -                            -                                 -                                     17,819                  
Court security building 57,924 -                            -                                 -                                     57,924                  
Court efficiency and felony forfeiture 11,340 -                            -                                 -                                     11,340                  
Other court restrictions 4,753 -                            -                                 -                                     4,753                    
PEG fees 4,319 -                            -                                 -                                     4,319                    
Public safety 12,847 -                            -                                 -                                     12,847                  
Debt service -                           -                            -                                 44,337                           44,337                  

Assigned for:
Strategic expenditures -                           1,073,184              -                                 -                                     1,073,184             
Capital equipment -                           -                            872,769                     -                                     872,769                
Legal issues 50,000 -                            -                                 -                                     50,000                  
Six month operating reserve 3,835,321             -                            -                                 -                                     3,835,321             

Unassigned 3,265,169             -                            -                                 -                                     3,265,169             

Total fund balances 7,355,562             1,073,184              872,769                     44,337                           9,345,852             

Total liabilities, deferred inflows 
  of resources and fund balances 8,523,006$           1,078,784$            872,769$                   58,820$                         10,533,379$         

Major Funds
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Total fund balances - total governmental funds  $          9,345,852 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position
  are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,  
  therefore, are not reported in the funds. 12,142,964          

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures and, 
  not due and payable in the current period and therefore, are not reported in the funds. 166,497              

Accrued vacation leave payable is not due and payable in the current period
 and, therefore, is not reported in the funds. (297,559)             

Long-term liabilities, including bonds and capital leases are not due and payable
 in the current period and, therefore, not reported in the governmental funds.

Bonds payable (4,435,000)           
Unamortized bond premium (60,052)               

Net pension liabilities (and related deferred inflows and outflows of resources) do
 not consume current financial resources and are not reported in the funds.

Net pension liability (425,502)             
Pension related deferred inflows (236,200)             
Pension related deferred outflows 354,760              

OPEB liabilities (and related deferred inflows and outflows of resources) do
 not consume current financial resources and are not reported in the funds.

OPEB liability (105,988)             
OPEB related deferred inflows (10,514)               
OPEB related deferred outflows 31,243                

Total net position of governmental activities 16,470,501$        
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Other Total

General Strategic Projects Equipment Governmental Fund Governmental

Fund Fund Replacement Fund Debt Service Fund Funds

REVENUES

Taxes 7,341,717$           -$                         -$                               563,043$                         7,904,760$               

Franchise fees 651,534                -                           -                                 -                                       651,534                    

Permits 499,777                -                           -                                 -                                       499,777                    

Animal control 1,120                    -                           -                                 -                                       1,120                        

Fines and forfeits 139,753                -                           -                                 -                                       139,753                    

Utility management fee 206,955                -                           -                                 -                                       206,955                    

Other fees and services 59,735                  -                           -                                 -                                       59,735                      

Interest 4,286                    -                           -                                 59                                    4,345                        

Miscellaneous 219,181                -                           -                                 -                                       219,181                    

Total revenues 9,124,058             -                           -                                 563,102                           9,687,160                 

EXPENDITURES

Current:

Mayor and council 4,774                    -                           -                                 -                                       4,774                        

Administration 589,236                73,776 -                                 -                                       663,012                    

City secretary 223,748                6,600 -                                 -                                       230,348                    

HR and communications 211,478                9,391 -                                 -                                       220,869                    

Finance 322,851                -                           -                                 -                                       322,851                    

Municipal court 192,956                -                           -                                 -                                       192,956                    

Public safety 2,750,573             49,525 -                                 -                                       2,800,098                 

Engineering and planning 969,802                6,452 -                                 -                                       976,254                    

Public works 534,829                47,703 -                                 -                                       582,532                    

Building codes and permits 253,665                -                           -                                 -                                       253,665                    

Information technology 324,525                69,763 394,288                    

Non-departmental 152,060                -                           -                                 -                                       152,060                    

Capital projects/outlay 316,341                -                           -                                 -                                       316,341                    

Debt service:

Principal -                            -                           -                                 445,000                           445,000                    
Interest and fiscal charges -                            -                           -                                 106,075                           106,075                    

Total expenditures 6,846,838             263,210                -                                 551,075                           7,661,123                 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
 over (under) expenditures 2,277,220             (263,210)              -                                 12,027                             2,026,037                 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Sale of assets 26,330                  -                           -                                 -                             26,330                      
Transfers in 287,339                182,000 290,493 -                                       759,832                    
Transfers out (472,493)               -                           (287,339)                    -                                       (759,832)                   

Total other financing sources (uses) (158,824)               182,000                3,154                         -                                       26,330                      

Net change in fund balances 2,118,396             (81,210)                3,154                         12,027                             2,052,367                 

Fund balance - beginning 5,237,166             1,154,394             869,615                     32,310                             7,293,485                 

Fund balance - ending 7,355,562$           1,073,184$           872,769$                   44,337$                           9,345,852$               

Major Fund
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Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds  $     2,052,367 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activites are different because:

Governmental funds report all capital outlays as expenditures.   However, in the statement of
 activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as
 depreciation expense.  This is the amount by which depreciation exceeded capital outlay.

Current year additions 316,341          
Current year depreciation (636,980)         
Loss on disposal (6,482)            

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are
 not reported as revenues in the funds.

Ad valorem revenue 38,020            

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to
 governmental funds, which the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the
 current financial resources of the governmental funds.  Neither transaction, however, has
 any affect on net position.  This amount is the net effect of these differences in the
 treatment of long-term debt and related items.

Princial repayments 445,000          
Amortization of bond premiums 6,673             

Governmental funds report required contributions to employee pension as expenditures.
 However, in the statement of activities, the cost of the pension is recorded based on the
 actuarially determined cost of the plan.  This is the amount that contributions exceeded
 the actuarially determined pension expense. 25,674            

Governmental funds report required contributions to employee OPEB as expenditures.
 However, in the statement of activities, the cost of the OPEB is recorded based on the
 actuarially determined cost of the plan.  This is the amount that contributions exceeded
 the actuarially determined OPEB expense. (12,125)          

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in govermental funds:

Compensated absences (126,292)         

Change in net position - governmental activities 2,102,196$      
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Business-Type
Activities

Assets Water/Sewer Fund
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 8,633,713$                 
Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles):

Accounts 468,539
Inventories 123,206
Prepaids 75,561                        

Total current assets 9,301,019                   
Capital assets:

Land 53,600
Construction in progress 538,019
Utility plant and easements 18,424,624
Vehicles and equipment 1,124,837

Accumulated depreciation (9,629,697)                 
Total capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 10,511,383                 

Total assets 19,812,402                 

Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred OPEB related outflows 9,968
Deferred pension related outflows 151,576                      

Total deferred outflows of resources 161,544                      

Liabilities
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 237,113

Accrued liabilities 56,828
Other liabilities 109,077
Unearned revenue 1,389,846                   
Due within one year 333,793                      

Total current liabilities 2,126,657                   

Noncurrent liabilities:
Due in more than one year 2,171,379

OPEB liability 33,622

Net pension liability 127,502                      

Total noncurrent liabilities 2,332,503                   

Total liabilities 4,459,160                   

Deferred inflows of resources

Deferred pension related inflows 76,735                        

Deferred OPEB related inflows 3,343                          

Total deferred inflows of resources 80,078                        

Net position
Net investment in capital assets 8,081,383                   
Unrestricted 7,353,325                   

Total net position 15,434,708$               
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Business-Type
Activities

Water/Sewer Fund

Operating revenues
Charges for utility service 5,681,369$            

Operating expenses
Personnel services 1,397,405
Contractual services 6,946
Maintenance 360,518
Equipment lease 1,334
Supplies 100,772
Office supplies 126,293
Postage 18,860
Utilities 221,979
Management fee 206,955
Professional fees 377,461
Permits and licenses 9,616
Water reservation fees 923,967
Insurance 39,923
Sludge disposal 269,334

Miscellaneous 37,071                  
Total operating expenses 4,098,434              

Operating income (loss) before depreciation 1,582,935              

Depreciation 749,206                

Operating income (loss) 833,729                

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Interest income 3,066
Interest and fiscal charges (25,847)                 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (22,781)                 

Income before transfers 810,948                

Change in net position 810,948                

Total net position - beginning 14,623,760            

Total net position - ending 15,434,708$          
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Business-Type
Activities

Water/Sewer Fund
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash received from customers 7,027,920$             
Cash paid for employee wages and benefits (1,414,266)             
Cash paid for suppliers for goods and services (2,541,760)             
Cash paid to general fund for management fee (206,955)                

Net cash provided (used) in operating activities 2,864,939              

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Purchase/construction of capital assets (293,070)                
Principal payments on long-term debt (201,302)                
Interest and fiscal charges paid (25,847)                 

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities (520,219)                

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment interest received 3,066                    

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 3,066                    

Net increase (decrease) in cash and investments 2,347,786              

Cash and investments at beginning of year 6,285,927              

Cash and investments at end of year 8,633,713$             

Reconciliation of net operating income to net cash
  provided to net cash (used) by operating activities

Operating income (loss) 833,729$               
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided 
  (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation 749,206                 
Change in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 105,757                 
(Increase) decrease in inventories (3,418)                   
(Increase) decrease in prepaids 14,597                   
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (58,865)                 
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities 19,266                   
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities (36,127)                 

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 2,864,939$             

Actuarially determined change in net pension liability 42,038$                 
Other postemployment benefit liability 8,858                    

SCHEDULE OF NONCASH CAPITAL ACTIVITIES
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Private-Purpose
Trust Fund

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,609$                
Other receivable 2,814                  

Total assets 8,423                  

Liabilities
Due to local government 2,814                  

Net position
Restricted for individuals 5,609$                
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Private-Purpose
Trust Fund

Additions
Contributions from employees 19,528$                  

Deductions
Benefit payments 13,919                    

Net change in fiduciary net position 5,609                      

Net position - beginning -                            

Net position - ending 5,609$                    
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(1)  Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

The financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP) as applied to government units.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is 
the accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  
The more significant of the City’s accounting policies are described below: 
 
Reporting entity 

 
As required by generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements present the government and 
its component units, entities for which the government is considered to be financially accountable.  Blended 
component unit, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the government’s operations; thus, 
data from these units, if any existed, would be combined with data of the primary government.  Discretely 
presented component units, on the other hand, are reported in a separate column in the government-wide 
financial statements to emphasize they are legally separate from the government.  As of September 30, 2021, 
the City had one component unit that is discretely presented in these financial statements: 

 
City of Fair Oaks Ranch Municipal Development District 

 
The City of Fair Oaks Municipal Development District (“MDD”) was organized in accordance with Chapter 
377 of the Texas Local Government Code for the purpose of developing and financing projects beneficial to 
the City.  The MDD collects a ½ cent sales tax to finance projects that promote the economic growth in the 
City.  The City Council appoints the governing Board of the MDD and approves annual budgets.  The MDD 
meets the criteria of a discretely presented component unit, described as above, and is presented in the 
government-wide financial statements.  Complete financial statements for the Fair Oaks Ranch Municipal 
Development District may be obtained at City Hall. 
  

Government-wide and fund financial statements 
 

The government-wide financial statements include the statement of net position and the statement of activities.  
Government-wide statements report information on all of the activities of the City.  Governmental activities are 
supported mainly by taxes and intergovernmental revenues.  Business-type activities are financed in whole or 
in part by fees charged to external parties for goods and services. 

 
The statement of activities reflects the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment is 
offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function.  
Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from 
goods, services or privileges provided by a given function and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and other items not 
properly included in program revenues are reported as general revenues. 
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(1)  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Measurement focus and basis of accounting and financial statement presentation 
 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting.  This measurement focus is also used for the proprietary fund financial 
statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, 
regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which 
they are levied.  Major revenue types, which have been accrued, are revenue from the investments, 
intergovernmental revenue and charges for services.  Grants are recognized as revenue when all applicable 
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider are met. 
 
Revenues are classified as program revenues and general revenues.  Program revenues include 1) charges to 
customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 
3) capital grants and contributions.  General revenues include all taxes, grants, interest, and miscellaneous 
income not restricted to specific programs and investment earnings. 
 
Governmental fund level financial statements are reported using current financial resources measurement focus 
and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable 
and available.  Revenues are considered available when they are collectible within the current period or soon 
enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  Measurable and available revenues include revenues 
expected to be received within 60 days after the fiscal year ends.  Receivables which are measurable but not 
collectible within 60 days after the end of the fiscal period are reported as unearned revenue. 
 
Expenditures generally are recorded when a fund liability is incurred; however, debt service expenditures, as 
well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when the 
liability has matured and payment is due. 
 
The government reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
The general fund is the general operating fund of the City and is always classified as a major fund.  The general 
fund is used to account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.  
Major revenue sources include property taxes, charges for services, intergovernmental revenues and investment 
of idle funds.  Primary expenditures are for general administration, public safety, public works, public health, 
capital acquisition and municipal court. 
 
Strategic projects fund is used to account for the funds assigned for various capital projects. 
 
Equipment replacement fund is used to account for funds assigned for capital equipment additions.   
 
Proprietary fund level financial statements are used to account for activities, which are similar to those often 
found in the private sector.  The measurement focus is upon determination of net income, financial position and 
cash flows.  The City’s proprietary fund is the water/sewer fund (used to account for the provision of water and 
sewer services to residents). 
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(1)  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Measurement focus and basis of accounting and financial statement presentation (continued) 
 

The proprietary fund is accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting as follows: 
 
1.   Revenues are recognized when earned, and expenses are recognized when the liabilities are incurred. 
2.  Current-year contributions, administrative expenses and benefit payments, which are not received or paid 

until the subsequent year, are accrued. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating.  Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a 
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. 
 
Fiduciary fund is used to account for resources held in trust for employees to pay for employee medical 
expenses.  Contributions into the fund come from the employees.   

 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash deposits and investments with a maturity date within three (3) months 
of the date acquired by the City. 
 

Investments 
 
State statutes authorize the City to invest in (a) obligations of the United States or its agencies and 
instrumentalities; (b) direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies; (c) other obligations, the principal 
and interest of which are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the State of Texas or the United States; (d) 
obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political subdivisions of any state having been rated 
as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm and having received a rating of not 
less than A or its equivalent; (e) certificates of deposit by state and national banks domiciled in this state that 
are (i) guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or its successor; or (ii) secured by 
obligations that are described by (a)-(d); or, (e).  Statutes also allow investing in local government investment 
pools organized and rated in accordance with the Interlocal Cooperation Act, whose assets consist exclusively 
of the obligations of the United States or its agencies and instrumentalities and repurchase assessments 
involving those same obligations.  The City has all its monies in interest bearing checking accounts and public 
funds investment pools.  Earnings from these investments are added to each account monthly or quarterly.   

 
Accounts receivable 
 

Property taxes are levied based on taxable value at January 1 prior to September 30 and become due October 
1, 2020  and past due after January 31, 2021.  Accordingly, receivables and revenues for property taxes are 
reflected on the government-wide statement based on the full accrual method of accounting.  Property tax 
receivables for prior year’s levy are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible. 
 
Accounts receivable from other governments include amounts due from grantors for approved grants for 
specific programs and reimbursements for services performed by the City.  Program grants are recorded as 
receivables and revenues at the time all eligibility requirements established by the provider have been met. 

Page 76

Item #9.



CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

September 30, 2021 
 
 

34 

(1)  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Accounts receivable (continued) 
 

Reimbursements for services performed are recorded as receivables and revenues when they are earned in the 
government-wide statements.  Included are fines and costs assessed by the court action and billable services for 
certain contracts.  Revenues received in advance of the costs being incurred are recorded as unearned revenue 
in the fund statements.  Receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles. 
 

Short-term interfund receivables/payables 
 

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds for goods provided or 
services rendered.  These receivables and payables are classified as “due from other funds” or “due to other 
funds” on the fund statements.  Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and 
business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances”. 
 

Inventories and prepaid items 
 
Inventories of repair and replacement parts for the utility system are valued at cost, which approximates market, 
using the moving average cost method. 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid 
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 

Restricted net assets 
 

Certain proceeds of General Obligation Bonds, as well as certain resources set aside for their repayment, and 
revenues received with constraints to specific purposes by their providers, through constitutional provisions, or 
by enabling legislation are classified as restricted assets on the balance sheet because their use is limited. 
 

Capital assets 
 

Capital assets, which include land, buildings and improvements, equipment, infrastructure, and construction in 
progress assets, are reported in the applicable governmental or business type activities column in the 
government-wide financial statements.  Capital assets such as equipment are defined as assets with a cost of 
$5,000 or more.  Infrastructure assets include City-owned streets, sidewalks, curbs and bridges.  Construction 
in progress assets include infrastructure assets which are not yet complete and in use.  Capital assets are recorded 
at historical costs if purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the 
date of donation. 
 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset 
lives are not capitalized.  Interest has not been capitalized during the construction period on property, plant and 
equipment. 
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(1)  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Capital assets (continued) 
 

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 

ASSETS  YEARS 

Land improvements  5 to 10 years 
Building and improvements  20 to 40 years 
Utility system in service  20 to 40 years 
Infrastructure  5 to 40 years 
Machinery and equipment  5 to 10 years 

 
Deferred inflows/outflows of resources 

  
Pensions 
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Texas 
Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) and additions to/deductions from TMRS’s fiduciary net position have 
been determined on the same basis as they are reported by TMRS.  For this purpose, plan contributions are 
recognized in the period that compensation is reported for the employee, which is when contributions are legally 
due.  Benefits payments and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  
Investments are reported at fair value. 

 
Other postemployment benefits 
 
The other postemployment benefit liability of the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) Supplemental 
Death Benefit Plan (SDBF) has been determined using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and 
full accrual basis of accounting. This includes for purposes of measuring the other postemployment benefit 
(OPEB) liability and deferred outflows of resources related to the other postemployment benefits, (OPEB) 
expense. Benefit payments are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. 
Contributions are utilized to fund active member deaths on a pay-as-you-go basis; any excess contributions and 
investment income over payments then become net position available for benefits. 
 
The statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. 
This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net 
position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expenditure) 
until then.  
 
The statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. 
This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net 
position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until 
that time.  
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(1)  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Compensated absences 
 

The City allows employees who are eligible for vacation and sick leave (compensated absences) to accumulate 
and carry over the accumulation to subsequent years within certain limitations.  Liabilities for compensated 
absences are recognized in the fund statements to the extent the liabilities have matured (i.e. are due for 
payment).  Compensated absences are accrued in the government-wide statements. 
 
Sick leave days are not paid when an employee leaves City employment; therefore a liability is not reported for 
unpaid sick leave. 
 

Unearned revenue 
 

Unearned revenues arise when assets are recognized before revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied. 
 

Long-term obligations 
 

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities under governmental activities or proprietary fund type statement of net position.  On new bond issues, 
bond premiums and discounts, are amortized over the life of the discount.  Bond issuance costs are reported as 
expenses in the year of issuance. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as 
bond issuance costs during the current period.  The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing 
sources.  Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt 
issuances are reported as other financing uses.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt 
proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 

Fund equity 
 

Fund balances in governmental funds are classified as follows: 
 
Nonspendable – represents amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not in spendable form (such as 
inventory or prepaid items) or legally required to remain intact. 
 
Restricted – represents amounts that are constrained by external parties, constitutional provisions or enabling 
legislation. 
 
Committed – represents amounts that can only be used for a specific purpose determined by a formal action of 
the government’s highest level of decision making authority.  The governing council is the highest level of 
decision-making authority for the government that can, by adoption of an ordinance prior to the end of the fiscal 
year, commit fund balance.  Once adopted, the limitation imposed by the ordinance remains in place until a 
similar action is taken (the adoption of another ordinance) to remove or revise the limitation. 
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(1)  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Fund equity (continued) 

 
Assigned – represents amounts which the City intends to use for a specific purpose but do not meet the criteria 
of restricted or committed.  The City Council and the City Administrator are the only entities that may make 
assignments at this time. 
 
Unassigned – represents the residual balance that may be spent on any other purpose of the City. 
 
When an expenditure is incurred for a purpose in which multiple classifications are available, the City considers 
restricted balances spent first, committed second, assigned third, and unassigned fourth. 

 
Net position 
 

Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities.  Net investment in capital assets consists 
of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowing used 
for the acquisition, construction or improvements of those assets, and adding back unspent proceeds.  Net 
position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling 
legislation adopted by the City or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or 
regulations of other governments. 
 

Interfund transactions 
 

Legally authorized transfers are treated as interfund transfers and are included in the results of operations of 
both governmental and proprietary funds. 

 
The City charges the utility (proprietary) fund a management fee for administrative costs associated with the 
utility fund.  During the year ended September 30, 2021, management fees totaled $206,955. 
 

Operating revenues and expenses 
 

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of the enterprise.  
For the City, those revenues are charges for water and sewer services.  Operating expenses are the necessary 
costs incurred to provide the service that is the primary activity.  Revenues and expenses not meeting these 
definitions are reported as nonoperating. 
 

Use of estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 
Fiduciary activity 
 

During the fiscal year the City established a private-purpose trust fiduciary fund in accordance with GASB 
Statement No. 84 “Fiduciary Activities.”  

 

Page 80

Item #9.



CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

September 30, 2021 
 
 

38 

(2)  Cash and cash equivalents 
 

The City’s funds are required to be deposited and invested under the terms of a depository contract.  The 
depository bank deposits for safekeeping and trust with the City’s agent bank approved pledge securities in an 
amount sufficient to protect City funds on a day-to-day basis during the period of the contract.  The pledge of 
approved securities is waived only to the extent of the depository bank’s dollar amount of Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insurance. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Custodial credit risk – deposits.  At September 30, 2021, the carrying amount of the City’s deposits in the bank 
was $1,632,479 and the bank balance was $1,698,267.  Of the bank balance, $250,000 was covered by federal 
deposit insurance and the City’s depository had pledged securities having a market value of $2,209,000 as 
collateral for the City’s deposits.  All of the City’s cash was fully collateralized.  The City maintains $1,175 of 
cash-on-hand at September 30, 2021. 
 
At September 30, 2021, the carrying amount of the Municipal Development District’s deposits in the bank was 
$94,497 and the bank balance was the same.  The bank balance was fully covered by federal deposit insurance.  
All of the District’s cash was fully collateralized. 
 

Investments 
 
The City is required by Government Code Chapter 2256, The Public Funds Investment Act, to adopt, 
implement, and publicize an investment policy.  That policy must address the following areas: (1) safety of 
principal and liquidity, (2) portfolio diversification, (3) allowance investments, (4) acceptable risk levels, (5) 
expected rates of return, (6) maximum allowable stated maturity of portfolio investments, (7) maximum average 
dollar-weighted maturity allowed based on the stated maturity date for the portfolio, (8) investment staff quality 
and capabilities, and (9) bid solicitation preferences for certificates of deposit. 
 
The Public Funds Investment Act (“Act”) requires an annual audit of investment practices.  Audit procedures 
in this area conducted as a part of the audit of the basic financial statement disclosed that in the areas of 
investment practices, management reports and establishment of appropriate policies, the City has adhered to 
the requirements of the Act.  Investment practices of the City were in accordance with local policies.  The Act 
determines the types of investments which are allowable for the City.  These include, with certain restrictions, 
1) obligations of the U.S. Treasury, U.S. agencies, and the State of Texas, 2) certificates of deposit, 3) money 
market mutual funds, and 4) eligible public funds investment pools. 
 
The City’s investments at September 30, 2021 were as shown below: 
 

Rating Value Weighted Average Maturity (Days)
TexPool AAAm 16,850,217$     37
(valued at amortized cost)  
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(2)  Cash and investments (continued) 
 
Investments (continued) 
 

The Municipal Development District’s investments at September 30, 2021 were as shown below: 
 

  

Rating Value Weighted Average Maturity (Days)
TexPool AAAm 1,622,339$      37
(valued at amortized cost)  

 
Custodial credit risk   
 

For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the City will not be able 
to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in possession of an outside party.  All of 
the City’s investments are held by its agents in the City’s name.   

 
Interest rate risk 
 

In accordance with its investment policy, the City manages its exposure to declines in fair values by limiting 
the weighted average maturity of its operating investment portfolio to less than 13 months.  The City’s 
investment policy limits the final stated maturity of any security to no more than two years.  As a matter of 
policy, the City holds all investments to maturity. 

 
Credit risk 
 

The City’s investment policy states that investments in local government pools will be no lower than AAA or 
AAA-m or an equivalent rating by at least one nationally recognized rating service.   

 
Investment accounting policy 

 
The City’s general policy is to report money market investments and short-term participating interest-earning 
investment contracts at amortized cost and to report nonparticipating interest-earning investment contracts using 
a cost-based measure.  However, if the fair value of an investment is significantly affected by the impairment 
of the credit standing of the issuer or by other factors, it is reported at fair value.  All other investments are 
reported at fair value unless a legal contract exists which guarantees a higher value.  The term “short-term” 
refers to investments which have a remaining term of one year or less at time of purchase.  The term 
“nonparticipating” means that the investment’s value does not vary with market interest rate changes.  
Nonnegotiable certificates of deposit are examples of nonparticipating interest-earning investment contracts. 
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(2)  Cash and investments (continued) 
 

Public funds investment pools 
 
Public funds investment pools in Texas (“Pools”) are established under the authority of the Interlocal 
Cooperation Act, Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code, and are subject to the provisions of the Public 
Funds Investment Act (the “Act”), Chapter 2256 of the Texas Government Code.  In addition to other provisions 
of the Act designed to promote liquidity and safety of principal, the Act requires Pools to: 1) have an advisory 
board composed of participants in the pool and other persons who do not have a business relationship with the  
pool and are qualified to advise the pool; 2) maintain a continuous rating of no lower than AAA or AAA-m or 
an equivalent rating by at least one nationally recognized rating service; and 3) maintain the market value of its  
underlying investment portfolio within one half of one percent of the value of its shares.  TexPool is an 
investment pool that meets these criteria.

TexPool is an investment pool in which the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts is the sole officer, director, 
and shareholder of the Texas Treasury Safekeeping Trust Company (The Trust Company).  The Trust Company 
is authorized to operate the pool.  Federated Investors, Inc. manages the assets under an agreement with the 
Comptroller, acting on behalf of the Trust Company.  TexPool is reported at amortized cost and it does not have 
any limitations or restrictions on participants’ withdrawals.   
 

(3)  Property tax 
 

Taxes were levied on and payable as of January 1. The City contracts with the Bexar County Tax  
Assessor-Collector to collect taxes on its behalf.  Current year taxes become delinquent February 1.  Current year 
delinquent taxes not paid by July 1 are turned over to attorneys for collection action. 
 
For fiscal year 2021, the assessed tax rate for the City was $.3735 per $100 on an assessed valuation of 
$1,727,885,074.  The tax rate is split $.3409 for general maintenance and operations and $.0326 for interest and 
sinking.  Total tax levy for fiscal year 2021 is $6,453,874.  As of September 30, 2021, the delinquent taxes were 
$171,547. 
 
The City is permitted by the Constitution of the State of Texas to levy taxes up to $2.50 per $100 of taxable 
assessed valuation for all governmental purposes.  Pursuant to a decision of the Attorney General of the State of 
Texas up to $1.50 per $100 of assessed valuation may be used for the payment of long-term debt.  The combined 
tax rate to finance general governmental services, including the payment of principal and interest on long-term 
debt, for the year ended September 30, 2021, was $.3735 per $100 of assessed value, which means that the City 
has a tax margin of $2.1265 for each $100 value and could increase its annual tax levy by approximately 
$36,743,476 based upon the present assessed valuation of $1,727,885,074 before the limit is reached.  However, 
the City may not adopt a tax rate that exceeds the tax rate calculated in accordance with the Texas Property Tax 
Code without holding two public hearings.  The Property Tax Code subjects an increase in the proposed tax rate 
to a referendum election, if petitioned by registered voters, when the effective tax rate increase is more than three 
and a half percent (3.5%) of the previous year’s maintenance and operations tax rate. 
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(4)  Interfund balances and transfers 
 

Interfund balances represent reimbursements for expenditures paid or cash received on behalf of other funds and 
are expected to be liquidated in the next fiscal year.  At September 30, 2021, the City did not have any due to/due 
from balances outstanding. 
 
Transfers between City funds during the year ended September 30, 2021 consist of the following: 

 
Transfer Out Transfer In Amount Purpose

General Fund Strategic Projects Fund 182,000$        Capital Improvement Plan
General Fund Equipment Replacement Fund 290,493          Capital Equipment Replacement
Equipment Replacement Fund General Fund 287,339          Capital Replacement

Total 759,832$         
 
(5)  Capital assets 

 
Capital asset activity in the governmental fund for the year ended September 30, 2021, was as follows: 

 
Balance Balance

October 1, 2020 Additions Disposals September 30, 2021

Governmental activities
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land 116,798$              -$                         -$                         116,798$                
Construction in progress 4,655                    -                           (4,655)                  -                             

Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings and land improvements 4,037,292             -                           -                           4,037,292               
Vehicles and equipment 1,990,684             320,996                (103,029)              2,208,651               
Infrastructure 10,148,595           -                           -                           10,148,595             

Total capital assets  16,298,024           320,996                (107,684)              16,511,336             

Less accumulated depreciation

Buildings and land improvements (1,216,516)           (112,683)              -                           (1,329,199)             

Vehicles and equipment (1,180,439)           (271,429)              96,547                  (1,355,321)             

Infrastructure (1,430,984)           (252,868)              -                           (1,683,852)             

Total accumulated depreciation (3,827,939)           (636,980)              96,547                  (4,368,372)             

Governmental capital assets, net 12,470,085$         (315,984)$            (11,137)$              12,142,964$           
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(5)  Capital assets (continued) 
 

Capital asset activity in the proprietary fund for the year ended September 30, 2021, was as follows: 
 

Balance Balance

October 1, 2020 Additions Disposals September 30, 2021

Business-type activities
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land 53,600$                -$                         -$                         53,600$                  
Construction in progress 404,749                133,270                -                           538,019                  

Capital assets being depreciated
Utility plant and easements 18,428,801           -                           (4,177)                  18,424,624             

Vehicles and equipment 982,768                159,800                (17,731)                1,124,837               

Totals capital assets 19,869,918           293,070                (21,908)                20,141,080             

Less accumulated depreciation
Utility plant and easements (8,281,587)           (661,627)              4,177                    (8,939,037)              

Vehicles and equipment (620,812)              (87,579)                17,731                  (690,660)                 

Total accumulated depreciation (8,902,399)           (749,206)              21,908                  (9,629,697)              

Business-type capital assets, net 10,967,519$         (456,136)$            -$                         10,511,383$            
 

Depreciation expense was charged to the governmental functions as follows: 
 

Administration 48,332$            
Public safety 248,190            
Public works 340,458            

  Total depreciation expense -
governmental activities 636,980$           

 
 
(6)  Unearned revenue 
 

Water Supply Agreements 
 

The City has entered into agreements with certain developers to provide water and sewer services to planned 
future developments.  The City has agreed to provide treated water from the City’s water production, storage 
and distribution system and to provide sewer service from the City’s wastewater treatment plant, both of which 
may require expansion or modifications.  The developers have agreed to extend utilities from their present 
locations to the boundaries of the developed properties and to provide for offsets and/or credits toward 
“Contributions in Aid of Construction”.  The City will credit the contributions in aid provided by the developers 
against impact fees due upon development of the property.  Impact fees are collected at the time a building 
permit is issued for a particular lot.  Therefore, the contributions in aid are unearned until such time as the lots 
are permitted for construction.  The City received $0 contributions in aid during the year ended September 30, 
2021.  The City has received $622,528 in contributions in aid to date and has earned a total of $476,816 in fees.  
The remaining $145,712 of contributions are reported as unearned revenue accordingly. 
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(6)  Unearned revenue (continued) 
 
Unspent Grant Funds 
 

During 2021 the City received $1,244,133 of Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (CLFRF) that had not 
been expended and recognized as revenue as of September 30, 2021.   

 
(7)  Long-term liabilities 
 

Primary government 
 

At September 30, 2021, the City’s long-term debt consisted of the following: 
 

Range of
Interest Unpaid Current Long-Term

Governmental activities: Rates Principal Maturities Maturities
General Obligation Bond, 

Series 2015 1.0 - 3.0% 4,435,000$      450,000$        3,985,000$     

Range of
Interest Unpaid Current Long-Term

Business-type activities Rates Principal Maturities Maturities
Certificate of Obligation Bond

Series 2020 1.01% 2,430,000$      315,000$        2,115,000$      
 

On April 16, 2015 the City issued general obligations bonds, series 2015 for $7,000,000.  The proceeds were 
used for designing, acquiring, constructing, renovating, improving and equipping City streets, curbs, sidewalks, 
and gutter improvements, demolition, repair, and rebuilding of existing streets, completing necessary or 
incidental utility relocation and drainage in connection with the foregoing and the purchase of land, easements, 
and right-of-way. 

 
On September 23, 2020 the City issued tax and limited pledge revenue certificate of obligation bonds, series 
2020 for $2,660,000.  The proceeds were used to refinance capital equipment purchased through capital lease 
agreements and acquire other equipment and materials for City water projects.     
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(7)  Long-term liabilities (continued) 
 

Changes in the City’s long-term liabilities during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021: 
 

Balance Balance
Original Outstanding Current Current Outstanding Due Within

Governmental activities: Amount Oct. 1, 2020 Additions Reductions Sept. 30, 2021 One Year
Long-term debt:

GO Bonds, Series 2015 7,000,000$   4,880,000$      -$                  (445,000)$      4,435,000$      450,000$    
Premium on bonds 66,725            -                    (6,673)           60,052            6,673         

Total long-term debt 4,946,725       -                    (451,673)        4,495,052       456,673      
Other long-term liabilities:

Compensated absences 171,267          169,109          (42,817)         297,559          74,390       

Total governmental activities 5,117,992$      169,109$        (494,490)$      4,792,611$      531,063$    

Business-type activities:
Long-term debt:

CO Bonds, Series 2020 2,660,000$   2,660,000$      -$                  (230,000)$      2,430,000$      315,000$    
Other long-term liabilities:

Compensated absences 46,474            40,316            (11,618)         75,172            18,793       

Total business-type activities 2,706,474       40,316            (241,618)        2,505,172       333,793      

Total changes in long-term liabilities 7,824,466$      209,425$        (736,108)$      7,297,783$      864,856$     
 
The compensated absences attributable to the governmental activities will be liquidated primarily by the general 
fund. The compensated absences attributable to the business-type activities will be liquidated by the 
water/sewer fund. The net and total pension liabilities and the OPEB liability will be liquidated primarily from 
the general fund, approximately 77%, with the remaining amounts from the water and sewer fund. 

 
The annual requirements to amortize all long-term bonded debt outstanding as of September 30, 2021, including 
principal and interest payments, are as follows: 

 
Year Ending

September 30, Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total
2022 450,000$     99,185$      549,185$     315,000$     22,952$      337,952$     
2023 460,000       92,130       552,130       320,000       19,745       339,745       
2024 470,000       83,163       553,163       320,000       16,513       336,513       
2025 480,000       72,475       552,475       325,000       13,256       338,256       
2026 490,000       60,950       550,950       325,000       9,974         334,974       

2027 - 2030 2,085,000    115,388      2,200,388    825,000       10,782       835,782       

4,435,000$  523,291$    4,958,291$  2,430,000$  93,222$      2,523,222$  

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities
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(8)  Employees’ retirement systems 
 

Texas Municipal Retirement System 
 
Plan description 
 
The City of Fair Oaks Ranch participates as one of 895 plans in the defined benefit cash-balance pension plan 
administered by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS).  TMRS is a statewide public retirement plan 
created by the State of Texas and administered in accordance with the TMRS Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas 
Government Code (the TMRS Act) as an agent multiple-employer retirement system for employees of Texas 
participating cities.  The TMRS Act places the general administration and management of the system with a 
six-member, Governor appointed Board of Trustees; however, TMRS is not fiscally dependent on the State of 
Texas.  TMRS issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report (Annual Report) that can be 
obtained at www.tmrs.com. 
 
All eligible employees of the City are required to participate in TMRS. 
 
Benefits provided 
 
TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits.  Benefit provisions are adopted by the governing 
body of the City, within the options available in the State statutes governing TMRS. 
 
At retirement, the member’ benefit is calculated based on the sum of the member’s contributions, with interest, 
and the City-financed monetary credits with interest.  The retiring members may select one of seven monthly 
benefit payment options.  Members may also choose to receive a portion of their benefit as a partial lump sum 
distribution in an amount equal to 12, 24, or 36 monthly payments, which cannot exceed 75% of the total 
member’s contribution and interest. 
 
The plan provisions are adopted by the governing body of the City, within the options available in the state 
statutes governing TMRS. Members are eligible to retire at age sixty (60) and above with five (5) or more years 
of service or with twenty (20) years of service regardless of age. A member is vested after five (5) years. The 
contribution rate for the employees is 7%, and the City matching percent is currently 2 to 1. 
 
Employees covered by benefit terms 
 
At the December 31, 2020 valuation and measurement dates, the following employees were covered by the 
benefit terms: 
 

 Inactive employees or beneficiaries receiving benefits   18 
 Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits  42 
 Active employees                   65 
 Total                   125 
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(8)  Employees’ retirement systems (continued) 
 

Texas Municipal Retirement System (continued) 
 
Contributions 
 
The contribution rates in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of the member’s total compensation, and the City 
matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, both as adopted by the governing body of the City.  
Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each city is determined annually by the actuary 
using the entry age normal (EAN) actuarial cost method.  The City’s contribution rate is based on the actuarially 
determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the cost of benefits earned by employees during 
the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. 
 

Employees for the City were required to contribute 7% of their annual compensation during the fiscal year.  The 
contribution rates for the City were 11.57% and 11.71% in calendar years 2021 and 2020, respectively.  The 
City’s contributions to TMRS for the year ended September 30, 2021, were $490,444, and were equal to the 
required contributions. 
 

Net pension liability 
 

The City’s net pension liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2020, and the total pension liability 
(TPL) used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

 
Actuarial assumptions  
 

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions: 
 

  Inflation    2.5% per year 
  Overall payroll growth  2.75% per year, adjusted down for population declines, if any 

 Investment rate of return*   6.75%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation  

 * presented net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation 

Salary increases are based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members are based on the PUB 
(10) mortality tables with the Public Safety table used for males and the general employee table used for 
females. Mortality rates for healthy retirees and beneficiaries are based on the gender-distinct 2019 Municipal 
Retirees of Texas mortality tables. The rates for actives, healthy retirees and beneficiaries are projected on a 
fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortality improvements. For disabled annuitants, 
the same mortality tables for healthy retirees is used with a 4-year set-forward for males and a 3-year set-
forward for females. In addition, a 3.5% and 3.0% minimum mortality rate is applied, for males and females 
respectively, to reflect the impairment for younger members who become disabled. The rates are projected on 
a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortality improvements subject to the floor. 
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(8)  Employees’ retirement systems (continued) 
 

Texas Municipal Retirement System (continued) 
 

Actuarial assumptions (continued) 
 

The actuarial assumptions were developed primarily from the actuarial investigation of the experience of TMRS 
over the four-year period from December 31, 2014 through December 31, 2018.  They were adopted in 2019 
and first used in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation.  The post-retirement mortality assumption for 
annuity purchase rates (APRs) is based on the Mortality Experience Investigation Study covering 2009 through 
2011 and dated December 31, 2013.  Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with an emphasis on both 
capital appreciation as well as the production of income in order to satisfy the short-term and long-term funding 
needs of TMRS. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building block 
method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension 
plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These ranges are combined to 
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target 
asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.  In determining their best estimate of a 
recommended investment return assumption under the various alternative asset allocation portfolios, GRS 
focused on the area between (1) arithmetic mean (aggressive) without an adjustment for time (conservative) 
and (2) geometric mean (conservative) with an adjustment for time (aggressive). 

 
The target allocation and best estimate of real rates of return for each major asset class in fiscal year 2021 are 
summarized in the following tables: 
 

Long-Term 
 Expected Real

Target Rate of Return 
Asset Class Allocation  (Arithmetic)

Global Equity 30.00% 5.30%
Core Fixed Income 10.00% 1.25%
Non-Core Fixed Income 20.00% 4.14%
Real Return 10.00% 3.85%
Real Estate 10.00% 4.00%
Absolute Return 10.00% 3.48%
Private Equity 10.00% 7.75%

Total 100.00%
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(8)  Employees’ retirement systems (continued) 
 

Texas Municipal Retirement System (continued) 
 
Discount rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.75%.  The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that member and employer contributions will be made at the rates specified 
in statute.  Based on that assumption, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to 
make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive members.  Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to 
determine the total pension liability. 
 
Changes in net pension liability 

 
The schedule below presents the changes in the net pension liability (asset) as of December 31, 2020: 
 

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension

Liability Net Position Liability

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balance at 12/31/2019 8,933,286$           8,409,543$           523,743$              

Changes for the year:

Service cost 687,662                -                           687,662                

Interest 618,696                -                           618,696                

Changes of benefit terms -                           -                           -                           

Difference between expected and actual experience 100,676                -                           100,676                

Changes of assumptions -                           -                           -                           

Contributions - employer -                           464,390                (464,390)              

Contributions - employee -                           277,603                (277,603)              

Net investment income -                           640,072                (640,072)              

Benefit payments,

including refunds of employee contributions (222,498)              (222,498)              -                           

Administrative expenses -                           (4,131)                  4,131                    

Other changes -                           (161)                     161                       

Net changes 1,184,536             1,155,275             29,261                  

Balance at 12/31/2020 10,117,822$         9,564,818$           553,004$              

Increase (Decrease)
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(8)  Employees’ retirement systems (continued) 
 

Texas Municipal Retirement System (continued) 
 
Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate 

 
The following presents the net pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 6.75% as well 
as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage 
point lower (5.75%) or 1-percentage point higher (7.75%) than the current rate: 
 

1% Decrease in 1% Increase in

Discount Rate (5.75%) Discount Rate (6.75%) Discount Rate (7.75%)

Net pension liability (asset) 2,348,453$                        553,004$                           (874,111)$                     

 
 

Pension plan fiduciary net position 
 
 Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the schedule of changes in 

fiduciary net position, by participant city.  The report may be obtained at trms.com. 
 

Pension expense and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to pensions 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2021, the City recognized pension expense of $402,455.   
 
At September 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Difference between expected and actual 
  economic experience 116,683$              74,132$                 

Changes in actuarial assumptions 31,594                  -                           

Difference between projected and actual
investment earnings -                          238,803                 

Contributions made subsequent to the
measurement date 358,059                -                           

Total 506,336$              312,935$               
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(8)  Employees’ retirement systems (continued) 
 

Texas Municipal Retirement System (continued) 
 
Pension plan fiduciary net position (continued) 
 
The City reported $358,059 as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date, and will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for the 
year ending September 30, 2022.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related 
to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 
Year Ended Amortization

September 30, Expense
2022 (65,442)$         
2023 19,598            
2024 (117,046)         
2025 (1,768)            
2026 -                    

Thereafter -                    

(164,658)$       
 

 
(9)  Other postemployment benefits 
 

Plan description 
 
The City participates in a single-employer defined benefit plan, which operates like a group-term life insurance 
plan, operated by TMRS known as the Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (SDBF). The City elected, by 
ordinance, to provide group-term life insurance coverage to both current and retired members. The City may 
terminate coverage under and discontinue participation in the SDBF by adopting an ordinance before November 
1 of any year to be effective the following January 1. 

 
Benefits provided 

 
The death benefit for active members provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal to the member’s 
annual salary (calculated based on the employee’s actual earnings, for the 12-month period preceding the month 
of death); retired members are insured for $7,500; this coverage is an “other postemployment benefit” or OPEB.  
As the SDBF covers both active and retiree members, with no segregation of assets, the SDBF is considered to 
be an unfunded OPEB plan (i.e. no assets are accumulated). 

 
Contributions 

 
The City contributes to the SDBF at a contractually required rate as determined by an annual actuarial valuation. 
The rate is based on the mortality and service experience of all employees covered by the SDBF and the 
demographics specific to the workforce of the City.  There is a one-year delay between the actuarial valuation 
that serves as the basis for the City’s contribution rate and the calendar year when the rate goes into effect.  The 
funding policy for the SDBF program is to assure that adequate resources are available to meet all death benefit 
payments for the upcoming year.  The intent is not to pre-fund retiree term life insurance during employees’ 
entire careers.
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(9)  Other postemployment benefits (continued) 
 

Contributions (continued) 
 

The contribution rate for the City was 0.14% for calendar years 2020 and 2021.  The City’s contributions to 
TMRS for the SDBF program for the year ended September 30, 2021 were $5,664, and were equal to the 
required contributions. 
 

Employees covered by benefit terms 
 
At the December 31, 2020 valuation and measurement dates, the following employees were covered by the 
benefit terms: 
 
 Inactive employees or beneficiaries receiving benefits   12 
 Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits    7 
 Active employees                   65 
 Total                     84 
 

Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability 
 
The City’s total OPEB liability of $139,610 was measured as of December 31, 2020 and was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of that date. 

 
Actuarial assumptions: 

 
The total OPEB liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise 
specified: 
 

Inflation 2.5%

Salary increases 3.50% to 11.5% including inflation

Discount rate * 2.00%

Retirees' share of benefit-related costs $0
Administrative expenses All administrative expenses are paid through the Pension Trust and accounted for 

under reporting requirements under GASB Statement No. 68.

Mortality rates - service retirees 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables.  The rates are projected on a 
fully generational basis with scale UMP.

Mortality rates - disabled retirees 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables with a 4 year set-forward for 
males and a 3 year set-forward for females. In addition, a 3.5% and 3% minimum 
mortality rate will be applied to reflect the impairment for younger members who 
become disabled for males and females, respectively. The rates are projected on a 
fully generational basis by scale UMP to account for future mortality improvements 
subject to the floor.

 
 
* The discount rate was based on the Fidelity Index’s “20-Year Municipal GO AA Index” rate as of December 31, 2020. 
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2020 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience 
study for the period December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2018. 
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(9)  Other postemployment benefits (continued) 
 

Changes in the total OPEB liability: 
 
Balance at 12/31/2019 112,615$        

Changes for the year:

Service cost 10,311            

Interest on total OPEB liability 3,233              

Changes of benefit terms -                      

Difference between expected and actual experience (6,486)             

Changes of assumptions 20,334            

Benefit payments (397)                

Net changes 26,995            

Balance at 12/31/2020 139,610$         
 
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate: 

 
The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 2.00%, as well 
as what the City’s total OPEB liabilities would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-
point lower (1.00%) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.00%) than the current rate: 
 

1% Decrease in Current Single Rate 1% Increase in

Discount Rate (1.00%) Assumption (2.00%) Discount Rate (3.00%)

Total OPEB liability (asset) 174,211$                        139,610$                    113,312$                         
 

OPEB expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB: 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2021, the City recognized OPEB expense of $17,812. 
 
At September 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to OPEB from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Difference between expected and actual 
  economic experience 1,566$                  9,848$               

Changes in actuarial assumptions 35,313                  4,009                

Difference between projected and actual
investment earnings -                           -                       

Contributions made subsequent to the
measurement date 4,333                    -                       

Total 41,212$                 13,857$             
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(9)  Other postemployment benefits (continued) 
 

OPEB expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 
(continued) 

 
The City reported $4,333 as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the OPEB liability for the year ending 
September 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB 
will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Year Ended Amortization
September 30, Expense

2022 4,268$        
2023 4,268          
2024 4,268          
2025 3,700          
2026 3,713          

Thereafter 2,805          

23,022$       
 

(10)  Risk management 
 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of and damage to, and destruction of assets; 
business interruption; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; employee health benefits and other claims of 
various natures.  The City contracts with the Texas Municipal League (TML) to provide insurance coverage for 
property and casualty, and workers compensation. TML is a multi-employer group that provides for a combination 
of risk sharing among pool participants and stop loss coverage.  Contributions are set annually by the provider.  
Liability by the City is generally limited to the contributed amounts.  Annual contributions for the year ended 
September 30, 2021 were $154,298 for property and casualty and workers compensation coverage. 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

 Required supplementary information includes financial information and disclosures that are  
 required by the GASB but are not considered a part of the basic financial statements.    
  

Such information includes: 
 

 Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund 
 Schedule of Changes – Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios 
 Schedule of Contributions – Net Pension Liability 
 Schedule of Changes – OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 
 Schedule of Contributions – OPEB  
 Notes to Required Supplementary Information 
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Variance with
Final Budget-

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues
Taxes 6,161,691$                6,584,928$           7,341,717$              756,789$                
Franchise fees 632,700                     632,700                651,534                   18,834                    
Permits 242,750 242,750 499,777 257,027                  
Animal control 3,400 3,400 1,120 (2,280)                    
Fines and forfeits 100,263 100,263 139,753 39,490                    
Utility management fee 202,261 202,261 206,955 4,694                      
Other fees & services 66,450 66,450 59,735 (6,715)                    
Interest 69,000 69,000 4,286 (64,714)                  

Miscellaneous 18,400                       18,400                  219,181                   200,781                  

Total revenues 7,496,915                  7,920,152             9,124,058                1,203,906               

Expenditures
Mayor and council:

Supplies and maintenance 6,350 6,350 286 6,064                      

Services 24,350                       24,350                  4,488                       19,862                    

Total mayor and council 30,700                       30,700                  4,774                       25,926                    

Administration:
Personnel 457,105 584,030 447,437 136,593                  

Maintenance and supplies 1,800 1,800 288 1,512                      

Services 125,425                     125,425                141,511                   (16,086)                  

Capital outlay 24,000                       24,000                  -                              24,000                    

Total administration 608,330                     735,255                589,236                   146,019                  

City secretary:
Personnel 168,811 160,903 160,911 (8)                           
Supplies, maintenance and operations 2,044 2,044 1,709 335                         

Services 47,585                  47,585             61,128                (13,543)             

Total city secretary 218,440                     210,532                223,748                   (13,216)                  

Human resources and communications:

Personnel 171,339 190,257 177,649 12,608                    

Supplies, maintenance and operations 3,500 3,500 2,624 876                         

Services 82,835 82,835 31,205 51,630                    

Capital outlay -                           16,000             12,777                3,223                 

Total human resources and communications 257,674                     292,592                224,255                   68,337                    

Finance:

Personnel 258,246 261,566 259,706 1,860                      
Supplies, maintenance and operations 2,075 2,075 1,070 1,005                      

Professional services 88,816                  88,816             62,075                26,741               

Total finance 349,137                     352,457                322,851                   29,606                    

Budgeted Amounts

 
 

(continued)
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Variance with
Final Budget-

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Expenditures (continued)

Municipal court:
Personnel 146,311$                   144,496$              141,139$                 3,357$                    
Supplies, maintenance and operations 18,550 18,550 5,158 13,392                    

Services 62,630                  62,630             46,659                15,971               

Total municipal court 227,491                     225,676                192,956                   32,720                    

Public safety:
Personnel 2,446,431 2,380,907 2,108,923 271,984                  
Supplies, maintenance and operations 101,230 101,230 84,778 16,452                    
Services 570,244 571,364 556,872 14,492                    

Capital outlay 216,000                385,648           295,385              90,263               

Total public safety 3,333,905                  3,439,149             3,045,958                393,191                  

Engineering and planning:
Personnel 311,106 313,562 272,732 40,830                    
Supplies, maintenance and operations 445,321 445,321 468,412 (23,091)                  

Services 205,618                265,618           228,658              36,960               

Total engineering and planning 962,045                     1,024,501             969,802                   54,699                    

Public works:

Personnel 445,593                     469,477                411,591                   57,886                    

Supplies, maintenance and operations 109,875 118,875 121,355 (2,480)                    

Services 9,640 9,640 1,883 7,757                      

Capital outlay -                           8,179               8,179                  -                        

Total public works 565,108                     606,171                543,008                   63,163                    

Building codes and permits:
Personnel 248,445 238,797 239,426 (629)                       
Supplies, maintenance and operations 2,580 2,580 2,618 (38)                         

Services 14,675                  14,675             11,621                3,054                 

Total building codes and permits 265,700                     256,052                253,665                   2,387                      

Information technology:

Personnel 98,601 103,073 85,853 17,220                    
Supplies, maintenance and operations 500 500 283 217                         

Services 11,500                  11,500             3,842                  7,658                 

Shared services 233,674                243,424           234,547              8,877                 

Total information technology 344,275                     358,497                324,525                   33,972                    

Civic center

Personnel 2,500 2,500               -                         2,500                 

Shared services 3,750                    3,750               -                         3,750                 

Total civic center 6,250                         6,250                    -                              6,250                      

Non-departmental and shared services:
Supplies, maintenance and operations 6,000 17,464 32,723 (15,259)                  
Shared services 134,042                     154,042                119,337                   34,705                    

Total non-departmental and shared services 140,042                     171,506                152,060                   19,446                    

Total expenditures 7,309,097                  7,709,338             6,846,838                862,500                  

Budgeted Amounts

 
(continued)
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Variance with

Final Budget-

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

  over (under) expenditures 187,818$                   210,814$              2,277,220$              2,066,406$             

Other financing sources (uses)

Sale of assets -                                -                           26,330                     26,330                    

Transfers in (out) (442,993)                   (457,993)              (472,493)                 (14,500)                  

Transfers in (out) 240,000                     405,648                287,339                   (118,309)                

Total other financing sources (uses) (202,993)                   (52,345)                (158,824)                 (106,479)                

Net change in fund balance (15,175)                     158,469                2,118,396                1,959,927               

Fund balance, beginning 3,710,568                  3,710,568             5,237,166                -                             

Fund balance, ending 3,695,393$                3,869,037$           7,355,562$              3,486,525$             

Budgeted Amounts

Page 102

Item #9.



CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY AND 
 TEXAS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM RELATED RATIOS 

 
For the measurement year ended December 31,  

 
 

60 

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Total pension liability

Service cost 687,662$             648,430$             577,241$             483,263$             415,604$             372,932$             314,855$             

Interest (on the total pension liability) 618,696               550,195               478,426               428,795               377,577               347,674               303,986               

Changes of benefit terms -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

Difference between expected and actual experience 100,676               (79,808)                86,113                 (101,894)              47,016                 (72,739)                66,156                 

Changes of assumptions -                           51,465                 -                           -                           -                           51,102                 -                           

Benefit payments, 

including refunds of employee contributions (222,498)              (127,623)              (100,655)              (143,110)              (87,360)                (99,327)                (80,511)                

Net change in total pension liability 1,184,536            1,042,659            1,041,125            667,054               752,837               599,642               604,486               

Total pension liability - beginning 8,933,286            7,890,627            6,849,502            6,182,448            5,429,611            4,829,969            4,225,483            

Total pension liability - ending 10,117,822$        8,933,286$          7,890,627$          6,849,502$          6,182,448$          5,429,611$          4,829,969$          

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions - employer 464,390$             437,261$             400,446$             318,292$             276,800$             265,412$             234,399$             

Contributions - employee 277,603               261,163               232,624               194,528               172,450               158,118               143,051               

Net investment income 640,072               1,052,635            (193,745)              742,178               316,200               6,418                   219,419               

Benefit payments, 

including refunds of employee contributions (222,498)              (127,623)              (100,655)              (143,110)              (87,360)                (99,327)                (80,511)                

Administrative expense (4,131)                  (5,933)                  (3,738)                  (3,841)                  (3,568)                  (3,909)                  (2,290)                  

Other (161)                     (178)                     (195)                     (195)                     (192)                     (193)                     (188)                     

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 1,155,275            1,617,325            334,737               1,107,852            674,330               326,519               513,880               

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 8,409,543            6,792,218            6,457,481            5,349,629            4,675,299            4,348,780            3,834,900            

Plan fiduciary net position - ending 9,564,818$          8,409,543$          6,792,218$          6,457,481$          5,349,629$          4,675,299$          4,348,780$          

Net pension liability 553,004$             523,743$             1,098,409$          392,021$             832,819$             754,312$             481,189$             

Plan fiduciary net position 

  as a percentage of total pension liability 94.53% 94.14% 86.08% 94.28% 86.53% 86.11% 90.04%

Covered payroll 3,965,754$          3,730,898$          3,323,206$          2,778,969$          2,463,571$          2,258,825$          2,043,586$          

Net pension liability as a percentage

  of covered payroll 13.94% 14.04% 33.05% 14.11% 33.81% 33.39% 23.55%

 
 
 
GASB 68 requires 10 fiscal years of data to be provided in this schedule.  This is the seventh year of implementation of GASB 
68.  The City will develop the schedule prospectively.
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Schedule of contributions: 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Actuarially determined contributions 490,444$             479,231$             427,169$             375,269$             306,515$             272,041$             238,287$             

Contributions in relation to the 

  actuarially determined contribution 490,444               479,231               427,169               375,269               306,515               272,041                 238,287               

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         

Covered payroll 4,045,825$          4,091,573$          3,616,851$          3,150,696$          2,689,459$          2,387,202$          2,103,123$          

Contributions as a percentage of

  covered payroll 12.12% 11.71% 11.81% 11.91% 11.40% 11.40%   11.33%

 
 
 
GASB 68 requires 10 fiscal years of data to be provided in this schedule.  This is the seventh year of implementation of GASB 
68.  The City will develop the schedule prospectively.
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2020 2019 2018 2017
Total OPEB liability

Service cost 10,311$          7,462$            7,311$            5,280$            
Interest on the total OPEB liability 3,233             3,385             2,830             2,653             
Changes of benefit terms -                    -                    -                    -                    
Difference between expected and actual experience (6,486)            (5,875)            2,643             -                    
Changes of assumptions 20,334            20,311            (6,763)            6,688             
Benefit payments, 

including refunds of employee contributions (397)               (373)               (332)               (278)               

Net change in total OPEB liability 26,995            24,910            5,689             14,343            

Total OPEB liability - beginning 112,615          87,705            82,016            67,673            

Total OPEB liability - ending 139,610$        112,615$        87,705$          82,016$          

Covered payroll 3,965,754$      3,730,898$      3,323,206$      2,778,969$      

OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 3.52% 3.02% 2.64% 2.95%

 
 
 
GASB 75 requires 10 fiscal years of data to be provided in this schedule.  This is the fourth year of implementation 
of GASB 75.  The City will develop the schedule prospectively.
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Schedule of contributions: 2021 2020 2019 2018

Actuarially determined contributions 5,664$              5,728$              4,871$              4,017$              

Contributions in relation to the 
  actuarially determined contribution 5,664                5,728                4,871                4,017                

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

Covered payroll 4,045,825$        4,091,573$        3,616,851$        3,150,696$        

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 0.14% 0.14% 0.13% 0.13%  
 
 
GASB 75 requires 10 fiscal years of data to be provided in this schedule.  This is the fourth year of implementation 
of GASB 75.  The City will develop the schedule prospectively. 
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(1)  Budgetary information 
 

The budget is prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  The City maintains strict budgetary controls.  The objective of these controls is to ensure compliance 
with legal provision embodied in the annual appropriated budget approved by the City Council and as such is a 
good management control device.  The general fund, debt service fund, strategic project fund, and equipment 
replacement fund maintain legally adopted budgets. 

 
Budgetary preparation and control is exercised at the department level.  Actual expenditures may not legally 
exceed appropriations at the fund level. 
 
Encumbrances represent commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods or services.  Encumbrance 
accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for the expenditure of resources are 
recorded to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is utilized in the governmental funds.  
Encumbrances lapse at year-end and do not constitute expenditures or liabilities because the commitments must 
be reappropriated and honored during the subsequent year. 

 
(2)  Schedule of contributions 
 

Valuation date:

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31  and become effective in January, 13 months later.

Methods and assumption used to determine contribution rates:
Method Entry age normal

Method Level percentage of payroll, closed

Amortization 26 years

Method 10 year smoothed market, 12% soft corridor

Assumption:

Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases 3.5% to 11.50%  including inflation

Investment rate of return 6.75%

Retirement age Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the City's plan of benefits. Last updated for 
the 2019 valuation pursuant to an experience study of the period 2014 - 2018.

Mortality Post-retirement: 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables. The rates are projected on a 
fully generational basis with scale UMP.  Pre-retirement: PUB (10) mortality tables, with the 
public safety table used for males and the general employee table used for females. The rates are 
projected on a fully generational basis with scale UMP.

Other information:

There were no benefit changes during the year.  
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

 Supplementary information includes financial information and schedules that are not required by 
the GASB, nor a part of the basic financial statements, but are presented for purposes of additional 
analysis.     

  
Such information includes: 

 
 Budgetary Comparison Schedules: 

 Debt Service Fund 
 Strategic Project Fund 
 Equipment Replacement Fund 
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Variance with

Final Budget-

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues

Taxes 553,153$                   557,469$                   563,043$                   5,574$                       

Interest 1,000                         1,000                         59                              (941)                          

Total revenues 554,153                     558,469                     563,102                     4,633                         

Expenditures

Debt service:

Principal 445,000                     445,000                     445,000                     -                                

Interest and fiscal charges 106,075                106,075                106,075                -                           

Total debt service 551,075                     551,075                     551,075                     -                                

Total expenditures 551,075                     551,075                     551,075                     -                                

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

  over (under) expenditures 3,078                         7,394                         12,027                       4,633                         

Net change in fund balance 3,078                         7,394                         12,027                       4,633                         

Fund balance, beginning 32,310                       32,310                       32,310                       -                                

Fund balance, ending 35,388$                     39,704$                     44,337$                     4,633$                       

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance with

Final Budget-

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues

Miscellaneous revenue 600,000$                    600,000$                    -$                               (600,000)$                  

Expenditures

City administration 1,357,729                   1,439,697                   73,776                        1,365,921                   

City secretary 36,000                43,850                6,600                  37,250                        

HR and communications 29,000                32,034                9,391                  22,643                        

Public safety 75,000                75,000                49,525                25,475                        

Engineering and planning 15,000                15,000                6,452                  8,548                          

Public works 10,000                42,754                47,703                (4,949)                        

Information technology 178,685                      178,685                      69,763                        108,922                      

Total expenditures 1,701,414                   1,827,020                   263,210                      1,563,810                   

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

 over (under) expenditures (1,101,414)                 (1,227,020)                 (263,210)                    963,810                      

Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers in 152,500                      167,500                      182,000                      14,500                        

Net change in fund balances (948,914)                    (1,059,520)                 (81,210)                      978,310                      

Fund balance - beginning 1,154,394                   1,154,394                   1,154,394                   -                                 

Fund balance - ending 205,480$                    94,874$                      1,073,184$                 978,310$                    

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance with

Final Budget-

Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 290,493$                    290,493$                    290,493$                    -$                               

Transfers out (240,000)                    (405,648)                    (287,339)                    118,309                      

Total other financing sources (uses) 50,493                        (115,155)                    3,154                          118,309                      

Fund balance - beginning 869,615                      869,615                      869,615                      -                                 

Fund balance - ending 920,108$                    754,460$                    872,769$                    118,309$                    

Budgeted Amounts

Page 111

Item #9.



 
STATISTICAL SECTION 

 

Page 112

Item #9.



  

Page 113

Item #9.



71 

STATISTICAL SECTION 
 

This part of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas annual financial report represents detailed information as a context 
for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary 
information says about the City’s overall financial health. 
 
 
Contents        Tables  
 
Financial Trends 1 through 4 
 Net Position by Component 
 Change in Net Position 
 Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
 Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
 
These tables contain trend information to help the reader understand how the City’s financial 
performance and well-being have changed over time. 
 
Revenue Capacity 5 through 10 
 Tax Revenues by Source – Governmental Funds 
 Top 10 Sales Tax Providers 
 Property Tax Levies and Collections 
 Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates 
 Assessed Value and Actual Taxable Property 
 Principal Property Taxpayers 
 
These tables contain information to help the reader assess the factors affecting the City’s 
ability to generate its property and sales tax. 
 
Debt Capacity 11 through 14 
 Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type  
 Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding 
 Legal Debt Margin Information 
 Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt 
 
These tables present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the City’s 
current levels of outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 
 
Demographic and Economic Information 15 through 16 
 Principal Employers 
 Demographic and Economic Statistics 
 
These tables offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand how 
the City’s financial activities take place and to help make comparisons over time and with 
other governments. 
 
Operating Information 17 through 19 
 Operating Indicators by Function 
 Capital Asset Statistics by Function 
 Full-Time Equivalent City Government Employees by Function 
 
These tables contain information about the City’s operations and resources to help the reader 
understand how the City’s financial information relates to the services the City provides and 
the activities it performs. 
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2012 2013 2014 2015*

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITES

Net investment in capital assets 4,675,461$              4,658,498$                3,886,740$                4,103,711$                
Restricted 48,355                     64,787                       68,071                       66,909                       
Unrestricted 3,452,484                3,887,116                  4,580,595                  3,798,804                  

Total government activities
  net position 8,176,300$              8,610,401$                8,535,406$                7,969,424$                

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Net investment in capital assets 5,842,767$              6,255,433$                7,847,915$                6,751,803$                
Unrestricted 2,972,799                3,331,135                  2,551,317                  4,753,811                  

Total business-type activities
  net position 8,815,566$              9,586,568$                10,399,232$              11,505,614$              

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

Net investment in capital assets 10,518,228$            10,913,931$              11,734,655$              10,855,514$              
Restricted 48,355                     64,787                       68,071                       66,909                       
Unrestricted 6,425,283                7,218,251                  7,131,912                  8,552,615                  

Total primary government 

 net position 16,991,866$            18,196,969$              18,934,638$              19,475,038$              

* Change in accounting principle pursuant to GASB 68 applied prospectively October 1, 2014.
** Change in accounting principle pursuant to GASB 75 applied prospectively October 1, 2017.  
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TABLE 1 
 

2016 2017 2018** 2019 2020 2021

6,606,072$                6,898,385$                7,006,399$                7,576,143$                7,523,360$                7,647,912$                
77,162                       76,346                       105,589                     108,461                     132,938                     153,339                     

2,089,120                  2,714,487                  8,797,107                  5,128,445                  6,712,007                  8,669,250                  

8,772,354$                9,689,218$                15,909,095$              12,813,049$              14,368,305$              16,470,501$              

6,667,928$                8,682,584$                8,210,039$                8,466,058$                8,307,519$                8,081,383$                
5,372,865                  4,474,678                  6,234,524                  5,686,797                  6,316,241                  7,353,325                  

12,040,793$              13,157,262$              14,444,563$              14,152,855$              14,623,760$              15,434,708$              

13,274,000$              15,580,969$              15,216,438$              16,042,201$              15,830,879$              15,729,295$              
77,162                       76,346                       105,589                     108,461                     132,938                     153,339                     

7,461,985                  7,189,165                  15,031,631                10,815,242                13,028,248                16,022,575                

20,813,147$              22,846,480$              30,353,658$              26,965,904$              28,992,065$              31,905,209$              
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2012 2013 2014 2015*

EXPENSES

Governmental Activities
City administration 588,562$                    638,151$                    921,009$                    1,796,709$                 
Mayor and council -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
City secretary -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
HR and communications -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
Finance -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
Municipal court 77,131                        79,538                        81,522                        81,316                        
Public safety 1,342,773                   1,521,426                   1,588,137                   1,735,259                   
Public health/emergency 255,789                      282,238                      286,999                      293,092                      
Engineering and planning -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
Building codes 88,521                        98,196                        119,338                      161,821                      
Public works 815,467                      933,879                      1,074,375                   869,328                      
Information technology -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
Non-departmental -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
Culture/recreation/other 125,537                      139,671                      63,517                        33,233                        
Interest on long term debt -                                 -                                 -                                 136,008                      

Total governmental activities expenses 3,293,780                   3,693,099                   4,134,897                   5,106,766                   

Business-Type Activities
Water/sewer utility 2,954,021                   3,013,859                   3,242,807                   3,352,439                   

Total business-type activities expenses 2,954,021                   3,013,859                   3,242,807                   3,352,439                   

Total primary government expenses 6,247,801                   6,706,958                   7,377,704                   8,459,205                   

PROGRAM REVENUES

Governmental Activities:
Charges for services:

City administration 241,201                      249,506                      198,992                      171,929                      
Municipal court 126,633                      156,452                      158,407                      158,352                      
Public safety 6,824                          7,079                          8,664                          9,034                          
Public health/emergency 6,580                          7,245                          5,325                          5,245                          
Building codes 127,522                      196,062                      281,831                      298,806                      
Operating grants and contributions -                                 605                             1,715                          2,149                          

Capital grants and contributions -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 

Total governmental activities
  program revenues 508,760                      616,949                      654,934                      645,515                      

Business-Type Activities
Charges for services:

Water/sewer utility 3,427,533                   3,744,856                   4,107,471                   4,454,644                   
Capital grants and contributions 4,463,303                   -                                 -                                 -                                 

Total primary government
  program revenues 8,399,596$                 4,361,805$                 4,762,405$                 5,100,159$                 

* Change in accounting principle pursuant to GASB 68 applied prospectively October 1, 2014.
** Change in accounting principle pursuant to GASB 75 applied prospectively October 1, 2017.
Comparative information has not been restated.
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TABLE 2 

 
2016 2017 2018** 2019 2020 2021

950,918$                    1,431,472$                 1,499,717$                 682,316$                      1,235,258$                   711,344$                    
-                                 -                                 -                                 11,381                          23,568                          4,774                          
-                                 -                                 -                                 153,944                        159,376                        230,348                      
-                                 -                                 -                                 114,659                        168,794                        220,869                      
-                                 -                                 -                                 271,247                        339,295                        322,851                      

86,288                        92,032                        131,153                      161,422                        184,553                        192,956                      
2,017,858                   2,124,882                   2,394,097                   2,915,589                     3,001,619                     3,161,031                   

307,665                      299,734                      322,918                      -                                    -                                    -                                 
-                                 -                                 -                                 270,309                        718,380                        976,254                      

179,577                      177,495                      198,266                      241,097                        248,414                        253,665                      
869,215                      982,474                      992,400                      740,477                        870,398                        922,990                      

-                                 -                                 -                                 -                                    -                                    394,288                      
-                                 -                                 -                                 301,984                        459,298                        251,462                      

57,833                        44,896                        89,710                        -                                    -                                    -                                 
153,011                      119,880                      114,211                      109,849                        -                                    -                                 

4,622,365                   5,272,865                   5,742,472                   5,974,274                     7,408,953                     7,642,832                   

3,933,872                   3,846,778                   4,215,641                   4,746,849                     5,418,730                     4,873,487                   

3,933,872                   3,846,778                   4,215,641                   4,746,849                     5,418,730                     4,873,487                   

8,556,237                   9,119,643                   9,958,113                   10,721,123                   12,827,683                   12,516,319                 

177,050                      201,334                      215,959                      237,193                        297,808                        274,550                      
161,818                      129,260                      126,152                      137,176                        101,409                        139,753                      

9,448                          3,715                          10,026                        6,845                            5,410                            1,350                          
5,711                          2,500                          2,415                          -                                    -                                    -                                 

314,738                      274,079                      228,715                      253,815                        405,231                        499,547                      
-                                 13,295                        51,102                        15,579                          3,728                            190,841                      
-                                 -                                 15,908                        -                                    -                                    -                                 

668,765                      624,183                      650,277                      650,608                        813,586                        1,106,041                   

4,463,303                   4,930,347                   4,908,925                   4,875,781                     5,839,886                     5,681,369                   
-                                 -                                 -                                 -                                    -                                    -                                 

5,132,068$                 5,554,530$                 5,559,202$                 5,526,389$                   6,653,472$                   6,787,410$                 

(continued)
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2012 2013 2014 2015*

Net (Expense) Revenues
Governmental activities (2,785,020)$               (3,076,150)$               (3,479,963)$               (4,461,251)$               
Business-type activities 4,936,815                   730,997                      864,664                      1,102,205                   

Total primary government

 net expenses 2,151,795                   (2,345,153)                 (2,615,299)                 (3,359,046)                 

Governmental Revenues and Other
  Changes in Net Position

Governmental activities
Taxes

Property taxes 2,345,006                   2,561,039                   2,634,353                   2,823,221                   
Non-property taxes 662,271                      750,966                      903,592                      1,028,559                   

Interest and investment earnings 7,213                          7,094                          1,633                          25,359                        
Gain on sale of capital assets -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
Miscellaneous 95,435                        225,123                      24,100                        18,130                        

Transfers -                                 (33,971)                      -                                 -                                 
Total governmental activities 3,109,925                   3,510,251                   3,563,678                   3,895,269                   

Business-Type Activities
Interest and investment earnings 4,900                          6,034                          4,447                          4,177                          
Transfers -                                 33,971                        -                                 -                                 

Total business-type activities 4,900                          40,005                        4,447                          4,177                          

Total primary government 3,114,825                   3,550,256                   3,568,125                   3,899,446                   

Changes in Net Position
Governmental activities 324,905                      434,101                      83,715                        (565,982)                    

Business-type activities 4,941,715                   771,002                      869,111                      1,106,382                   

Total primary government 5,266,620$                 1,205,103$                 952,826$                    540,400$                    

* Change in accounting principle pursuant to GASB 68 applied prospectively October 1, 2014.
** Change in accounting principle pursuant to GASB 75 applied prospectively October 1, 2017.
Comparative information has not been restated.
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TABLE 2 (continued) 
 

2016 2017 2018** 2019 2020 2021

(3,953,600)$               (4,648,682)$               108,886$                    (5,323,666)$               (6,595,367)$               (6,536,791)$               
529,431                      1,083,569                   410,790                      128,932                      421,156                      807,882                      

(3,424,169)                 (3,565,113)                 519,676                      (5,194,734)                 (6,174,211)                 (5,728,909)                 

3,587,677                   4,264,687                   4,712,247                   5,742,831                   6,202,561                   6,482,238                   
1,109,048                   1,192,774                   1,328,220                   1,496,073                   1,796,558                   2,112,076                   

38,950                        56,545                        94,557                        150,030                      72,151                        4,345                          
-                                 23,874                        16,452                        20,206                        12,534                        19,848                        

20,855                        27,666                        11,402                        9,711                          66,819                        20,480                        

-                                 -                                 -                                 9,850                          -                                 -                                 

4,756,530                   5,565,546                   6,162,878                   7,428,701                   8,150,623                   8,638,987                   

5,748                          32,900                        120,778                      120,778                      49,749                        3,066                          
-                                 -                                 -                                 (9,850)                        -                                 -                                 

5,748                          32,900                        120,778                      110,928                      49,749                        3,066                          

4,762,278                   5,598,446                   6,283,656                   7,539,629                   8,200,372                   8,642,053                   

802,930                      916,864                      6,271,764                   2,105,035                   1,555,256                   2,102,196                   

535,179                      1,116,469                   531,568                      239,860                      470,905                      810,948                      

1,338,109$                 2,033,333$                 6,803,332$                 2,344,895$                 2,026,161$                 2,913,144$                 
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2012* 2013 2014 2015

Nonspendable Fund Balance:

Prepaid items 24,104$                25,631$                24,220$                43,625$                

Restricted Fund Balance:

Court technology 9,477                    15,845                  15,285                  14,802                  

Court security 38,436                  44,497                  44,420                  47,270                  

Court efficiency 64                         16                         110                       140                       

Felony forfeiture 378                       3,937                    3,937                    378                       

Other court restrictions -                           -                           -                           -                           

PEG fees -                           3,492                    4,319                    4,319                    

Public safety -                           -                           -                           -                           

Debt service -                           -                           -                           -                           

Capital projects -                           -                           -                           6,919,193             

Total restricted fund balance 48,355                  67,787                  68,071                  6,986,102             

Committed Fund Balance:

Public safety committee 250,000                30,451                  30,451                  -                           

Wildlife research study 45,779                  16,928                  -                           -                           

TxDOT projects -                           -                           810,000                -                           

Partnership water study -                           -                           100,000                -                           

Total committed fund balance 295,779                47,379                  940,451                -                           

Assigned Fund Balance:

Capital projects -                           1,000,000             720,000                2,448,838             

Capital equipment -                           -                           -                           -                           

Legal issues -                           50,000                  50,000                  50,000                  

Encumbrances -                           -                           -                           -                           

Six month operating reserve -                           -                           -                           -                           

Total assigned fund balance -                           1,050,000             770,000                2,498,838             

Unassigned 3,158,573             2,794,225             3,052,965             1,581,382             

Total government funds 3,526,811$           3,985,022$           4,855,707$           11,109,947$         

*The City implemented the fund balance categories of GASB 54 beginning with the 2012 fiscal year.

Fiscal Year
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TABLE 3 
 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

14,563$                19,281$                54,260$                53,275$                82,635$                96,070$                

14,047                  11,535                  15,700                  11,386                  14,520                  17,819                  

49,816                  51,473                  52,996                  54,849                  57,330                  57,924                  

140                       292                       333                       401                       438                       439                       

378                       378                       5,514                    8,954                    10,774                  10,901                  

-                           -                           -                           -                           1,428                    4,753                    

4,319                    4,319                    4,319                    4,319                    4,319                    4,319                    

-                           1,104                    8,087                    9,912                    11,819                  12,847                  

8,462                    7,245                    8,604                    18,640                  32,310                  44,337                  

6,252,941             2,319,870             456,345                128,162                -                           -                           

6,330,103             2,396,216             551,898                236,623                132,938                153,339                

-                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

-                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

-                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

-                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

-                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

553,000                906,921                223,508                1,110,229             1,154,394             1,073,184             

-                           -                           760,599                816,395                869,615                872,769                

50,000                  50,000                  50,000                  50,000                  50,000                  50,000                  

-                           -                           -                           -                           -                           -                           

-                           -                           2,566,167             3,517,472             3,678,069             3,835,321             

603,000                956,921                3,600,274             5,494,096             5,752,078             5,831,274             

1,807,719             2,065,994             -                           -                           1,309,011             3,265,169             

8,755,385$           5,438,412$           4,206,432$           5,783,994$           7,276,662$           9,345,852$           

Fiscal Year
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2012 2013 2014 2015

REVENUES

Taxes 2,665,673$                 2,960,445$             3,084,356$            3,358,145$            

Franchise fees 323,308                      346,006                  453,279                 496,714                 

Licenses and permits 135,992                      203,307                  287,156                 304,051                 

Animal Control -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Fines and forfeits 126,633                      156,452                  158,407                 158,352                 

Utility management fee and other 159,435                      169,357                  166,093                 171,929                 

Other Fees and services -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Interest 7,213                          7,094                      1,633                     25,359                   

Donations -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Capital contributions -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Miscellaneous 182,135                      316,504                  622,574                 30,789                   

Total revenues 3,600,389                   4,159,165               4,773,498              4,545,339              

EXPENDITURES

Current:

City administration 548,635                      609,674                  717,511                 1,749,973              

Mayor and council -                                 -                             -                             -                             

City secretary -                                 -                             -                             -                             

HR and communications -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Finance -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Municipal court 75,754                        83,854                    80,509                   81,918                   

Public safety 1,282,550                   1,402,730               1,463,524              1,653,785              

Public heath/emergency 242,174                      271,023                  275,784                 281,876                 

Engineering and planning -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Building codes 88,663                        95,948                    119,507                 162,100                 

Public works 700,305                      747,165                  962,447                 759,233                 

Information techonology -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Non-departmental -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Culture and recreation 125,537                      139,671                  63,517                   33,233                   

Capital projects/outlays 89,425                        319,918                  217,014                 568,981                 

Debt service

Principal payments -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Interest -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Bond issuance costs -                                 -                             -                             100,090                 

Total expenditures 3,153,043                   3,669,983               3,899,813              5,391,189              

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

  over (under) expenditures 447,346                      489,182                  873,685                 (845,850)                

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Sale of assets -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Proceeds of bond issuance -                                 -                             -                             7,000,000              

Premiums on bond issuance -                                 -                             -                             100,090                 

Transfer (to) from other funds -                                 (33,971)                  -                             -                             

Proceeds from disposal of equipment -                                 -                             -                             -                             

Total other financing sources (uses) -                                 (33,971)                  -                             7,100,090              

Net change in fund balances 447,346$                    455,211$                873,685$               6,254,240$            

Debt service as a percentage of 

noncapital expenditures 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.1%
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TABLE 4 
 

 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

4,148,224$           4,907,367$           5,472,987$           6,570,863$           7,387,684$           7,904,760$           

527,109                540,605                576,181                618,758                605,103                651,534                

320,449                280,294                236,020                257,220                410,641                499,777                

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            1,120                    

161,818                129,260                126,152                137,176                101,409                139,753                

177,050                195,334                205,959                192,808                214,908                206,955                

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            59,735                  

38,950                  56,545                  94,557                  150,030                72,151                  4,345                    

-                            -                            32,920                  5,915                    59,925                  -                            

-                            -                            15,908                  -                            -                            -                            

53,714                  46,961                  44,721                  67,200                  93,522                  219,181                

5,427,314             6,156,366             6,805,405             7,999,970             8,945,343             9,687,160             

931,255                1,380,476             1,461,708             644,481                1,188,519             663,012                

-                            -                            -                            11,381                  23,568                  4,774                    

-                            -                            -                            150,845                158,624                230,348                

-                            -                            -                            112,797                168,057                220,869                

-                            -                            -                            266,445                337,815                322,851                

84,869                  90,428                  131,267                158,322                183,851                192,956                

1,811,200             1,920,485             2,234,431             2,696,334             2,781,577             2,800,098             

296,450                288,066                311,250                -                            -                            -                            

-                            -                            -                            264,128                717,010                976,254                

176,077                172,849                198,648                235,603                247,209                253,665                

748,454                852,315                871,371                413,041                521,395                582,532                

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            394,288                

-                            -                            -                            301,985                372,665                152,060                

57,833                  44,896                  89,710                  -                            -                            -                            

3,111,050             4,196,145             2,214,919             644,693                312,344                316,341                

390,000                425,000                430,000                435,000                440,000                445,000                

174,688                126,553                122,278                117,409                111,940                106,075                

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

7,781,876             9,497,213             8,065,582             6,452,464             7,564,574             7,661,123             

(2,354,562)            (3,340,847)            (1,260,177)            1,547,506             1,380,769             2,026,037             

-                            -                            -                            -                            128,721                26,330                  

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

-                            -                            -                            9,850                    -                            -                            

-                            23,874                  28,197                  20,206                  -                            -                            

-                            23,874                  28,197                  30,056                  128,721                26,330                  

(2,354,562)$          (3,316,973)$          (1,231,980)$          1,577,562$           1,509,490$           2,052,367$           

11.9% 10.4% 9.4% 9.5% 7.6% 7.5%
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TABLE 5 
 

Fiscal Property Sales Franchise Mixed Beverage

Year Tax Tax Tax Tax Total

2012 2,326,710$           325,128$              323,308$              13,835$                2,988,981$        

2013 2,555,485             389,722                346,066                15,178                  3,306,451          

2014 2,634,043             431,575                453,279                18,738                  3,537,635          

2015 2,826,300             513,040                496,714                18,805                  3,854,859          

2016 3,566,285             562,501                527,109                19,437                  4,675,332          

2017 4,255,198             632,030                540,605                20,139                  5,447,972          

2018 4,720,949             728,224                576,181                23,814                  6,049,168          

2019 5,693,547             854,582                618,758                22,734                  7,189,621          

2020 6,196,229             1,174,547             605,103                16,908                  7,992,787          

2021 6,444,218             1,435,763             651,534                24,779                  8,556,294           
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TABLE 6 
 

Rank % of Total Rank % of Total Rank % of Total Rank % of Total Rank % of Total
Business
Electronic shopping 1 16.5% 1 17.4% 2 5.2% 2 5.1% 2 5.1%
Full-service restaurant 2 10.5% 2 10.9% 1 17.4% 1 19.0% 1 19.0%
Gasoline station with convenience store 3 2.1% 3 2.3% 7 2.0% 9 2.0% 9 2.0%
New single-family housing construction 4 1.9% 9 1.7% 10 1.8% 10 1.8%
Pharmacies and drugstores 5 1.9% 5 1.9% 4 2.7% 4 3.2% 4 3.2%
Wireless telecommunication carrier 6 1.7% 4 2.3% 3 3.3% 5 3.2% 5 3.2%
Data processing, hosting, and related svc 7 1.6%
Gasoline station with convenience store 8 1.6% 7 1.6%
Wired telecommunication carrier 9 1.5% 8 1.5% 6 2.2% 6 3.9% 6 3.9%
Cable and other subscription programming 10 1.5% 6 1.7% 5 2.3% 8 2.3% 8 2.3%
Limited-service restaurant 9 1.4% 8 2.0% 7 2.5% 7 2.5%
Beer, wine and liquor store 10 1.3% 10 1.4%
Security guard and patrol 3 4.3% 3 4.3%

Source: Texas Comptroller

Ten years of data will be accumulated. Data prior to 2017 is not currently available.

Texas Tax Code 321.3022 c declares specific information on vendor and amounts to be confidential and is not subject to
 public inspection.

20172018201920202021
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TABLE 7 
 

Fiscal Year Taxes Levied Collections
Ended for the Percentage in Subsequent Percentage

September 30, Fiscal Year Amount * of Levy Years Amount of Levy

2012 2,381,119$        2,357,934$        99.03% 19,658$             2,377,592$        99.85%
2013 2,604,255          2,577,855          98.99% 22,569               2,600,424          99.85%
2014 2,672,104          2,653,136          99.29% 15,019               2,668,155          99.85%
2015 2,877,185          2,859,530          99.39% 13,706               2,873,236          99.86%
2016 3,861,722          3,827,841          99.12% 28,378               3,856,219          99.86%
2017 4,332,469          4,297,290          99.19% 25,250               4,322,540          99.77%
2018 4,813,737          4,788,010          99.47% 15,902               4,803,912          99.80%
2019 5,718,331          5,652,427          98.85% 40,458               5,692,885          99.56%
2020 6,182,363          6,126,458          99.10% 21,270               6,147,728          99.44%
2021 6,453,874          6,389,402          99.00% -                         6,389,402          99.00%

Source: Bexar County 
* Includes discounts allowed for early payments.

Fiscal Year of the Levy
Collected within the

Total Collections to Date
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TABLE 8 
 

Boerne

Fiscal School Bexar Kendall Comal

Period City District County County County Total

2012 0.24610 1.314 0.326866 0.37000 0.350421 2.607387

2013 0.26630 1.294 0.326866 0.39500 0.350421 2.587387

2014 0.26630 1.294 0.326866 0.39400 0.342921 2.559387

2015 0.26630 1.294 0.314500 0.39400 0.342921 2.561621

2016 0.30730 1.294 0.314500 0.38670 0.342921 2.595421

2017 0.32336 1.316 0.293250 0.41270 0.357921 2.638131

2018 0.32950 1.354 0.291229 0.41270 0.357921 2.745350

2019 0.36678 1.354 0.277429 0.41270 0.377915 2.788824

2020 0.37350 1.284 0.277429 0.41270 0.392553 2.740182

2021 0.37350 1.2519 0.277429 0.41270 0.358515 2.674044  
 
Note:  Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, within the geographic boundaries of the City.  This 
schedule estimates the portion of outstanding debt of those overlapping governments that is borne by the residents and 
businesses of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas.  This process recognizes that, when considering the City of Fair Oaks Ranch's 
ability to issue and repay long-term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and businesses should be taken into 
account.  However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a resident, and therefore responsible for repaying the debt of each 
overlapping government.
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TABLE 9 
 

Fiscal Year Less: Total Taxable Total
Ended Residential Commercial Tax-Exempt Assessed Direct

September 30, Property Property Property Value * Tax Rate

2012 937,057,120$        86,472,850$         54,659,715$            968,870,255$          0.24610%
2013 943,904,242          92,123,352           57,650,996              978,376,598            0.26630%
2014 958,417,836          105,566,114         60,565,527              1,003,418,423         0.26630%
2015 1,026,612,835       107,240,362         53,423,214              1,080,429,983         0.26630%
2016 1,193,076,434       128,637,815         65,052,850              1,256,661,399         0.30730%
2017 1,265,114,959       150,509,495         73,244,068              1,342,380,386         0.32336%
2018 1,487,818,815       185,977,352         123,984,901            1,549,811,266         0.32950%
2019 1,472,341,175       187,839,320         101,155,026            1,559,025,469         0.36678%
2020 1,617,484,586       154,205,210         116,629,493            1,655,060,303         0.37350%
2021 1,698,422,549       181,448,336         151,985,811            1,727,885,074         0.37350%

Source: Kendall County, Bexar County and Comal County Appraisal Districts.

* Total taxable assessed value and total estimated actual value of taxable property is the same.  
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TABLE 10 
 

Percentage Percentage
of Total City of Total City

Taxable Taxable Taxable Taxable
Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed

Taxpayer Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

Fair Oaks Club Corp 7,995,640$        1         0.46% 6,868,779$        1         0.71%
HPI Fair Oaks Storage LLC 6,100,000          2         0.35%
T&J Fair Oaks LLC 5,200,000          3         0.30% -                        -                    
Hicks, Jerry S & Esther W 5,000,230          4         0.29% -                        -                    
SA Front Gate LLC 4,675,590          5         0.27% -                        
Frost Bank 3,981,604          6         0.23% 2,486,600          4         0.26%
Bella Vista CMI LTD 3,383,460          7         0.20% -                        -                    
Fair Oaks Country Store LLC 2,982,970          8         0.17% -                        -                    
Fair Oaks Parkway Associates LLC 2,825,360          9         0.16% -                        -                    
Ashton San Antonio LLC 2,784,820          10       0.16% -                        -                    
Fair Oaks Village II LTD -                        -                    4,216,000          2         0.44%
Greenland Ventures -                        -                    3,360,040          3         0.35%
B&M Fair Oaks -                        -                    2,096,668          5         0.22%
MTC Holdings Ltd -                        -                    2,067,550          6         0.21%
Guadalupe Valley Telephone -                        -                    1,760,764          7         0.18%
P. Steldt -                        -                    1,440,580          8         0.15%
K. Moore -                        -                    1,373,350          9         0.14%

Ralph E. Fair, Inc. -                        -                    1,362,670          10       0.14%

TOTAL 44,929,674$      2.59% 27,033,001$      2.80%

2021 2012
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TABLE 11 
 

Percentage
Fiscal Certificates of Total of Household Per
Year GO Bonds Capital Leases Capital Leases Obligation Government Income Capita*

2012 -$                         -$                          -$                          1,855,000$           1,855,000$              0.5% 305$               
2013 -                           -                            -                            1,515,000             1,515,000                0.4% 239                 
2014 -                           -                            3,128,356             1,160,000             4,288,356                1.1% 653                 
2015 7,100,090            -                            3,128,356             790,000                11,018,446              3.0% 1,662              
2016 6,703,417            -                            3,128,356             405,000                10,236,773              2.7% 1,467              
2017 6,721,744            -                            3,128,356             -                           9,850,100                2.1% 1,087              
2018 5,835,071            -                            3,070,798             -                           8,905,869                1.9% 980                 
2019 5,393,398            -                            2,814,779             -                           8,208,177                1.6% 846                 
2020 4,946,725            -                            -                            2,660,000             7,606,725                1.3% 757                 
2021 4,495,052            -                            -                            2,430,000             6,925,052                1.1% 644                 

Notes:
Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.
*  See population figures on Table 16.

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities
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TABLE 12 
 

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities 

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

September 30,
General 

Obligation Bonds
Certificate of 

Obligation Bonds
Total Primary 
Government

Amounts 
Available in 
Debt Service 

Fund
Net Debt 

Outstanding

Estimated 
Actual Taxable 

Value of 
Propery 

Per 
Capita

2012  $                           -  $           1,855,000  $     1,855,000 -$                    1,855,000$       0.19% 305$     
2013                               -               1,515,000         1,515,000 -                      1,515,000         0.16% 239       
2014                               -               1,160,000         1,160,000 -                      1,160,000         0.12% 177       
2015                7,100,090                  790,000         7,890,090 -                      7,890,090         0.79% 1,201    
2016                6,703,417                  405,000         7,108,417 -                      7,108,417         0.66% 1,028    
2017                6,721,744                              -         6,721,744 (7,245)             6,714,499         0.53% 777       
2018                5,835,071                              -         5,835,071 (7,201)             5,827,870         0.43% 641       
2019                5,393,398                              -         5,393,398 (10,940)           5,382,458         0.35% 555       
2020                4,946,725               2,660,000         7,606,725 (30,969)           7,575,756         0.49% 770       
2021                4,495,052               2,430,000         6,925,052 (44,337)           6,880,715         0.42% 640       
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Total assessed value 1,727,885,074$       

Debt limit ($1.50 of total assessed value) 25,918,276$            

Debt applicable to limit:

  General bonded debt outstanding 4,495,052$              
  Less:  Amount set aside for repayment of general bonded debt -                              

      Total net debt applicable to limit 4,495,052                

Legal debt margin 21,423,224$            

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Debt limit 14,533,054$      14,675,649$      15,051,276$      16,206,450$      18,849,921$            

Total net debt applicable to limit -                        -                        -                        7,000,000          6,610,000                
Legal debt margin 14,674,786$      14,533,054$      14,675,649$      9,206,450$        12,239,921$            
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TABLE 13 
 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

20,165,764$      23,247,169$      23,385,382$      24,825,905$      25,918,276$      

6,185,000          5,835,071          5,393,398          4,946,725          4,495,052          
13,980,764$      17,412,098$      17,991,984$      19,879,180$      21,423,224$      

Page 134

Item #9.



CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 
 

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES DEBT 
 

September 30, 2021 
 

92 

TABLE 14 
 

Estimated
Debt Percentage Estimated Share of

Governmental Unit Outstanding Applicable Overlapping Debt

Debt repaid with property taxes:

Alamo CCD 578,325,000$       0.57% 3,296,453$          
Bexar Co 1,896,160,000      0.57% 10,808,112          
Bexar Co Hosp Dist 902,130,000        0.57% 5,142,141            
Boerne ISD 302,723,908        18.17% 55,004,934          
Comal Co 129,825,000        0.96% 1,246,320            
Comal ISD 671,245,179        0.38% 2,550,732            
Kendall Co 21,135,000          5.81% 1,227,944            

Subtotal - overlapping debt 79,276,636          

City of Fair Oaks Ranch - direct debt 6,865,000            

Total direct and overlapping debt 86,141,636$        

Source: Municipal Advisory Council of Texas.

 
 
*Note:  Overlapping governments are those that coincide, as least in part, within the geographical boundaries of the 
City.  This schedule estimates the portion of outstanding debt of those overlapping governments that is borne by 
the residents and businesses of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas.  This process recognizes that, when considering 
the City of Fair Oaks Ranch’s ability to issue and repay long-term debt, the entire debt burden borne by residents 
and businesses should be taken into account.  However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a resident, and 
therefore, responsible for repaying the debt of each overlapping government. 
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TABLE 15 
 

Percentage Percentage
of Total City of Total City

Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment

Joint Base San Antonio (JBSA) - 
      Lackland, Fort Sam & Randolph 73,707         1          6.96% 100,578       1,2,3 12.10%
H.E.B. Food Stores 22,000         2          2.08% 14,588         3 1.75%
United Services Automobile Assoc 19,400         3          1.83% 15,000         4 1.80%
Northside Independent School District 13,498         4          1.28% 12,244         5 1.47%
City of San Antonio 11,183         5          1.06% 12,211         7 1.47%
Methodist Healthcare System 9,620          6          0.91% 7,747          8 0.93%
North East Independent School District 8,386          7          0.79% -                 
San Antonio Independent School District 7,338          8          0.69% -                 
Baptist Health System 6,383          9          0.60% 6,310          9 0.76%
Wells Fargo 5,152          10         0.49%
University of Texas Health Science -                 6,153          10 0.74%

Total 176,667       16.69% 174,831       21.02%

The City of Fair Oaks Ranch is located near the City of San Antonio and data is not available for the employers in Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas.

The above data is for the City of San Antonio.

Source:  City of San Antonio Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Year Ended September 30, 2020. The current year information is

is not available.

2021 2012
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TABLE 16 
 

Per Capita San Antonio
Fiscal Personal Median School Unemployment
Year Population Income Age Enrollment Rate

2012 6,084                    60,195                    50.9 776                          5.9%

2013 6,326                    57,945                    50.9 697                          5.7%

2014 6,569                    57,306                    50.9 650                          4.5%

2015 6,569                    55,586                    51.2 650                          3.8%

2016 6,914                    54,829                    47.9 650                          3.9%

2017 8,645                    52,917                    46.7 916                          3.2%

2018 9,091                    51,482                    45.9 1,321                       3.3%

2019 9,700                    52,094                    47.1 1,391                       3.0%

2020 9,833                    57,939                    46.3 1,575                       6.3%

2021 10,756                  57,939                    46.3 1,502                       4.5%

Sources:
Population, per capita income and median age provided by the United States Census Bureau and World Population Review.
Fair Oaks Ranch Elementary School enrollment information was provided by the Boerne Independent School District.
Unemployment rate information was provided by the United States Bureau of Labor.
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TABLE 17 
 

Function 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Police
Incidents/offenses 666 589 504                    501                    444                    
Arrests 199 157 207                    224                    191                    
Calls for service 3,955 3,482 3,913                 3,716                 3,664                 
Trafficstops 4,041 2,924 4,893                 5,271                 4,217                 

Public Works
Street resurfacing (square yards) 107,108             80,557               155,468             64,496               183,323             
Preventative street maintenance (square yards) 999                    211,529             49,477               65,244               101,646             

Building Codes
Permits issued 244                    157                    118                    190                    142                    

Utilities
Account service orders
     Meter install / change 217                    86                      252                    222                    288                    
     Occupancy change 370                    320                    288                    330                    322                    
     Customer service inquiry 401                    338                    297                    247                    291                    

Billing (water, sewer, fees, all charges) 4,758,791$        5,002,084$        4,550,072$        4,683,010$        4,892,525$        

Water
Service connections 3,157                 3,083                 3,002                 2,948                 2,929                 
Purchased (gallons) 324,549,963      337,047,000      318,044,000      276,418,000      296,164,000      
Pumped (gallons) 217,061,572      231,668,112      174,702,326      168,328,487      241,088,931      
Billed consumption (gallons) 485,043,800      523,698,900      436,094,700      457,611,000      502,639,000      
Non-billed & bulk water sold (gallons) 2,310,900          3,192,400          3,350,000          3,476,900          5,182,505          

Wastewater/Sewer
Service connections 1,943                 1,886                 1,820                 1,775                 1,733                 
Average daily treatment in gallons 256,037             242,174             225,255             235,917             224,046             

Source: Various City departments.

Note: Schedule to be built over the next 10 fiscal years.

 

Page 138

Item #9.



CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 
 

CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION 
 

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021 
 

96 

TABLE 18 
 

Function 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Administration
Vehicles 2 1 1 1 1

Police
Stations 1 1 1 1 1
Patrol units 15 14 14 13 15

Animal Control
Control vehicle 1 1 1 1 1

Building Inspections
Vehicles 2 2 2 2 2

Public Works
Vehicles 12 12 12 10 9
Other equipment 16 16 16 12 10

Utilities
Vehicles 11 11 11 11 11
Other equipment 18 18 18 16 16

Streets
Paved streets (in miles) 81.6 81.6 81.6 81.6 81.6
Paved streets maintained by the City 60 60 68.1 68.1 68.1

Water
Water mains (in miles) 76 76 76 76 76
Wells 40 40 40 40 40
Treatment plants 5 5 5 5 5
Number of hydrants 266 266 266 266 228

Sewer
Lift stations 6 6 6 6 6
Sewer lines (in miles) 33 33 33 33 33
Treatment plants 1 1 1 1 1

Note: Schedule to be built over the next 10 fiscal years.  
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TABLE 19 
 

Function 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

General Government 16 15 15 9 8 7

Public Safety
Police 23 23 23 21 20 19
Animal control 1 1 1 1 1 1
Municipal court 2 2 2 2 1 1
Code enforcement 4 4 4 2.5 1.5 1.5
Administration 4 4 4 3 2 2

Public Works 14 14 14 13 9 9.5

Water and Sewer 11 11 11 10 9 10

75 74 74 61.5 51.5 51

Note: Schedule to be built over the next 10 fiscal years.
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CITY COUNCIL CONSIDERATION ITEM 
CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

February 17, 2022 
 

 

AGENDA TOPIC: Consideration and possible action approving a Resolution allocating the 
Fiscal Year 2020-21 General Fund Balances and carryover of encumbrances 
and continuing appropriations 

DATE: February 17, 2022 

DEPARTMENT: Finance 

PRESENTED BY: Scott Huizenga, Assistant City Manager, Administrative Services 

 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 

The purpose of this resolution is to formally document the affirmation of fund balance allocations 
after the audit results have been accepted. 

The carryover of continuing appropriations is necessary when appropriation and encumbrance 
balances from a fiscal year that has ended remain unspent. These amounts are required to be 
carried forward into the next fiscal year to facilitate the completion of projects, contracts, or 
activities for which the funds were originally awarded.   

POLICY ANALYSIS/BENEFIT(S) TO CITIZENS: 

Compliance with Governmental Accounting Standards, citizen transparency and best practices in 
financial management. 

LONGTERM FINANCIAL & BUDGETARY IMPACT: 

The fiscal impact is an increase in appropriations for Fiscal Year 2021-22 in the amount of $55,579 
for encumbrances and $488,943 in continuing appropriations for strategic projects. 

LEGAL ANALYSIS: 

Resolution approved as to form by City Attorney. 

RECOMMENDATION/PROPOSED MOTION: 

I move to approve a Resolution allocating portions of the General Fund balance and authorizing 
the Finance Director to carry forward continuing appropriations for year-end encumbrances, 
contractual commitments, and capital projects. 
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A RESOLUTION 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 
ALLOCATING PORTIONS OF THE GENERAL FUND BALANCE AND AUTHORIZING THE 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE TO CARRY FORWARD CONTINUING APPROPRIATIONS TO FY 
2021-22. 

 
WHEREAS, on August 18, 2011, the City Council of the City of the City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas 
(City Council) approved Resolution 2011-12 adopting the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board’s Statement 54 (“GASB 54”); and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to GASB 54, nonspendable fund balance is the portion of fund balance that 
cannot be spent because it is either not in a spendable form or is legally or contractually required 
to be maintained intact; and, 

WHEREAS, all of the City’s General Fund nonspendable balance has been allocated pursuant to 
GASB 54; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to GASB 54, restricted fund balances have constraints that are either 
externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws, or externally imposed by 
constitutional provisions; and, 

WHEREAS, all of the City’s General Fund restricted balances have been allocated pursuant to GASB 
54; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to GASB 54, committed fund balance is the portion of the fund balance that 
is constrained to specific purposes by City Council, and that only City Council can unconstrain; and, 

WHEREAS, the City has no General Fund balances meeting the definition of “committed” as 
defined by GASB 54; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to GASB 54, assigned fund balances are the portion of General Fund balance 
that the City (Council or authorized administrator) designates for specific purposes; and, 

WHEREAS, after all other categories of General Fund balances have been allocated, the annual 
financial report for fiscal year ending September 30, 2021, reports a remaining balance in the 
General Fund unassigned category of $1,918,456; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to GASB 54, City Council desires for any remaining unassigned balance after 
all other required allocations are made to remain unassigned until further action is taken,  
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIR OAKS 
RANCH, TEXAS that after all required fund balance allocations are made, any remaining 
unassigned General Fund balance is to remain unassigned until further Council Action is taken. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Director of Finance is hereby authorized to carry forward 
continuing appropriations for year-end encumbrances, contractual commitments, and capital 
projects to FY 2021-22. 
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PASSED, APPROVED, and ADOPTED on this 17th day of February 2022. 

  ____________________________________________________  
Gregory C. Maxton, Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
 ___________________________________________   ____________________________________________________  
Christina Picioccio, City Secretary  Denton Navarro Rocha Bernal & Zech, P.C., 

City Attorney 
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Encumbrances

Fund Account Number PO# Department Requested Amount Description

01 ‐ General Fund 01‐630‐803 21‐00017 Administration 27,360                          2021 Ford Explorer (new Admin vehicle)

01 ‐ General Fund 01‐613‐201 21‐00026 Human Resources 519                                HP Printer

01 ‐ General Fund 01‐613‐200 21‐00026 Human Resources 427                                HP Ink cartridges

01 ‐ General Fund 01‐630‐201 21‐00021 Public Safety 3,601                            Ammunition

01 ‐ General Fund 01‐630‐351 21‐00015 Public Safety 398                                Texas Criminal and Traffic Law Manual

01 ‐ General Fund 01‐630‐351 21‐00029 Public Safety 1,701                            Canon digital camera for investigations

01 ‐ General Fund 01‐630‐803 21‐00030 Public Safety 1,698                            Print and installation of vehicle graphics

01 ‐ General Fund 01‐640‐201 21‐00027 Maintenance 2,000                            Wacker Neuson Plate Compactor

05 ‐ Utility Fund 05‐502‐150 21‐00012 Wastewater 7,627                            Odessa pump and equipment

05 ‐ Utility Fund 05‐502‐150 21‐00013 Wastewater 7,446                            4" volute submersible pump

05 ‐ Utility Fund 05‐502‐150 21‐00020 Wastewater 29,464                          Barco pump with trailer

05 ‐ Utility Fund 05‐502‐150 21‐00022 Wastewater 11,042                          Lonestar Armature

Total Encumbrance Carryover 55,579                         

Transfers

Fund Account Number Department Requested Amount Description

01 ‐ General Fund 01‐400‐984 Transfer In 27,360                          Transfer from Equipment Replacement Fund

31 ‐ Equipment Replacemen31‐500‐123 Transfer Out (27,360)                         Transfer to the General Fund

Total Transfer Carryover ‐                               

Continuing Appropriations

Fund Account Number Department Requested Amount Description

02 ‐ SAP Fund 02‐506‐107 Information Technology 96,422                          IT Risk Analysis

02 ‐ SAP Fund 02‐506‐111 Information Technology 12,500                          Ticketing with GIS Capability

02 ‐ SAP Fund 02‐506‐102 Human Resources 3,034                            Employee Handbook

02 ‐ SAP Fund 02‐506‐105 Human Resources 19,610                          Communications & Marketing Strategy

02 ‐ SAP Fund 02‐506‐106 City Secretary 7,850                            Records Management

02 ‐ SAP Fund 02‐506‐109 City Secretary 26,000                          City Records Digitization

02 ‐ SAP Fund 02‐509‐303 Administration 260,301                        City Campus Renovation FFE

02 ‐ SAP Fund 02‐505‐101 Public Safety 11,794                          Fire Services Program Review

02 ‐ SAP Fund 02‐505‐103 Public Safety 17,394                          EMS Program Review

22 ‐ Water CIP 22‐505‐105 Water 3,326                            EPA Risk Assessment

25‐ Wastewater CIP 25‐505‐103 Wastewater 30,712                          EPA Risk Assessment

Total Continuing Appropriations 488,943                       

Page 145

Item #10.



 

CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

February 17, 2022 
 

 
AGENDA TOPIC: Consideration and possible action authorizing the City Manager to sign 

Professional Service Agreements for On-Call Engineering Services in support 
of Roadway CIP, Drainage CIP, Water, Wastewater and Reuse CIP, and 
general civil engineering projects 

DATE: February 17, 2022 

DEPARTMENT: Public Works Department 

PRESENTED BY: Clayton Hoelscher, Procurement Manager 
 Grant Watanabe, P.E., Director of Public Works & Engineering Services 

 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 

The City of Fair Oaks Ranch is seeking consulting firms to provide on-call engineering services to 
support various utility and infrastructure projects for the next several years. These projects 
include those identified in approved Capital Improvement Plans (CIP) and other engineering 
assignments.  To support this, the City issued a Request for Qualifications for On-Call Engineering 
Services in November 2021. Consultants had the option to be considered for any or all of the 
following categories: Roadway CIP, Drainage CIP, Water and Wastewater CIP, and General Civil 
Engineering.  The City received the following number of submittals for each category:  

 

Roadway 
CIP:  

Drainage 
CIP:     

Water, Wastewater and 
Reuse CIP:                         

General Civil 
Engineering:     

14 16 13 17 

 

In each category, consultants were scored, ranked and selected based on the following criteria 
published in the RFQ:  

 Team Qualifications and Experience (25 points) 
 Project Manager Experience (25 points) 
 Project Approach and Work Plan (30 points) 
 Quality Control/Quality Assurance (10 points) 
 Overall Proposal Quality (10 points) 

After evaluation, the City selected a number of top-ranked consultants in each category based on 
the expected engineering workload associated with that category.  The largest number of 
consultants (5 total) were selected for the Water, Wastewater and Reuse CIP category since that 
category potentially represents 24 projects valued at $46.2M. A lesser number of consultants were 
selected for the Roadway CIP (represents 8 projects valued at $17.4M) and Drainage CIP 
(represents 22 projects valued at $6.2M) categories. The General Civil Engineering category will 
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cover additional projects that may come up over the course of the contract term.  By executing 
agreements with these firms, the City establishes a preauthorized list of firms for each category 
which will allow the City to execute more efficiently. The following firms were selected in each 
category: 

Roadway CIP Drainage CIP Water,Wastewater and 
Reuse CIP 

General Civil 
Engineering 

 Ardurra 
 CDS Muery 
 CP&Y 
 Pape Dawson 

 Halff Associates 
 CP&Y 
 Ardurra 
 Pape Dawson 

 Pape Dawson 
 Weston Solutions 
 Kimley-Horn 
 Ardurra 
 Freese and Nichols 

 Pape Dawson 
 RPS 

 Halff Associates 

 
A contract mirroring the standardized Professional Services Agreement following this 
consideration page will be executed for each consultant. Hourly rates for each consultant have 
been determined to be fair and reasonable and will be included in each individual PSA upon award.  

Executing these on-call agreements does not guarantee any compensation to the consultants. 
Compensation will be defined in specific future work authorizations executed throughout the 
duration of the agreements. These projects would be approved by City Council in the fiscal year 
budget and executing work authorizations would not require additional City Council approval. City 
Council approval would be required for projects that were not included in the fiscal year budget 
before a work authorization is issued. 

POLICY ANALYSIS/BENEFIT(S) TO CITIZENS: 

 Supports Strategic Action Plan items for Responsible Growth Management and Reliable and 
Sustainable Infrastructure. 

 Having multiple qualified firms under contract will allow the City to quickly negotiate and 
execute proposals for future design work for the next 4 years. 

 Complies with Texas Professional Services Procurement Act guidelines. 

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL & BUDGETARY IMPACT: 

Executing these on-call agreements does not guarantee any compensation to the selected 
consultants., nor do they obligate the city in any way.  These agreements serve as a vehicle for 
executing projects approved as part of the normal budget process. 

LEGAL ANALYSIS: 

Consultant will be required to sign and adhere to the City’s Standard Professional Service 
Agreement prior to the commencement of work. 

RECOMMENDATION/PROPOSED MOTION: 

I move to authorize the City Manager to sign Professional Services Agreements with the selected 
consultants and for future work authorizations to be issued utilizing these agreements provided 
work authorizations are for approved projects included in our annual budgets. 
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Standard Professional Services Agreement – 10-22-21 Page 1 
 

CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH 
STANDARD PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
KENDALL COUNTY § 

 
 
This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered by and between the 
City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas, (the “City”) a Texas municipality, and ____________ 
(“Professional”). 
 
Section 1. Duration.  This Agreement shall become effective upon execution by the City and 
shall remain in effect until satisfactory completion of the Scope of Work unless terminated as 
provided for in this Agreement. 
 
Section 2. Scope of Work.   
 
(A) Professional shall perform the Services as more particularly described in the Scope of 
Work attached hereto as Exhibit “A”.  The work as described in the Scope of Work constitutes 
the “Project”.  Unless otherwise provided in the Scope of Work, the anticipated submittal of all 
Project deliverables is immediately upon completion of the Project.   
 
(B) The Quality of Services provided under this Agreement shall be performed with the 
professional skill and care ordinarily provided by competent Professionals practicing in the 
same or similar locality and under the same or similar circumstances and professional license, 
and as expeditiously as is prudent considering the ordinary professional skill and care of a 
competent Professional holding the same professional license. 
 
(C)  The Professional shall perform its Services for the Project in compliance with all 
statutory, regulatory and contractual requirements now or hereafter in effect as may be 
applicable to the rights and obligations set forth in the Agreement. 
 
(D) The Professional may rely upon the accuracy of reports and surveys provided to it by 
the City except when defects should have been apparent to a reasonably competent 
professional or when it has actual notice of any defects in the reports and surveys. 
 
Section 3.  Compensation. 
 
(A)  The Professional shall be paid in the manner set forth in Exhibit “B’ and as provided 
herein. 

(B) Billing Period:  The Professional may submit monthly, or less frequently, an invoice for 
payment based on the estimated completion of the described tasks and approved work 
schedule.  Subject to Chapter 2251, Texas Government Code (the “Prompt Payment Act”), 
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Standard Professional Services Agreement – 10-22-21 Page 2 
 

payment is due within thirty (30) days of the City’s receipt of the Professional’s invoice.  Interest 
on overdue payments shall be calculated in accordance with the Prompt Payment Act. 
 
(C) Reimbursable Expenses: Any and all reimbursable expenses related to the Project shall 
be included in the scope of services (Exhibit A) and accounted for in the total contract amount 
in Exhibit “B”.  If these items are not specifically accounted for in Exhibit A they shall be 
considered subsidiary to the total contract amount. 
 
Section 4. Changes to the Project Work; Additional Work. 
 
(A)  Changes to Work:  Professional shall make such revisions to any work that has been 
completed as are necessary to correct any errors or omissions as may appear in such work.  If 
the City finds it necessary to make changes to previously satisfactorily completed work or parts 
thereof, the Professional shall make such revisions if requested and as directed by the City and 
such services will be considered as additional work and paid for as specified under following 
paragraph. 
 
(B)  Additional Work:  The City retains the right to make changes to the Scope of Work at any 
time by a written order.  Work that is clearly not within the general description of the Scope of 
Work and does not otherwise constitute special services under this Agreement must be 
approved in writing by the City by supplemental agreement before the additional work is 
undertaken by the Professional.  If the Professional is of the opinion that any work is beyond 
that contemplated in this Agreement and the Scope of Work governing the project and therefore 
constitutes additional work, the Professional shall promptly notify the City of that opinion, in 
writing.  If the City agrees that such work does constitute additional work, then the City and the 
Professional shall execute a supplemental agreement for the additional work and the City shall 
compensate the Professional for the additional work on the basis of the rates contained in the 
Scope of Work.  If the changes deduct from the extent of the Scope of Work, the contract sum 
shall be adjusted accordingly.  All such changes shall be executed under the conditions of the 
original Agreement.  Any work undertaken by Professional not previously approved as 
additional work shall be at risk of the Professional. 
 
Section 5.  Time of Completion. 

The prompt completion of the services under the Scope of Work is critical to the City.  
Unnecessary delays in providing services under a Scope of Work shall be grounds for dismissal 
of the Professional and termination of this Agreement without any or further liability to the City 
other than a prorated payment for necessary, timely, and conforming work done by 
Professional prior to the time of termination.  The Scope of Work in each work authorization 
shall provide, in either calendar days or by providing a final date, a time of completion prior to 
which the Professional shall have completed all tasks and services described in the Scope of 
Work.  
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Standard Professional Services Agreement – 10-22-21 Page 3 
 

Section 6.  Insurance. 
 

Before commencing work under this Agreement, Professional shall obtain and maintain the 
liability insurance provided for in attached Exhibit C throughout the term of this Agreement and 
thereafter as required herein. 
 
In addition to the insurance provided for in Exhibit C, Professional shall maintain the following 
limits and types of insurance: 

 
Professional Liability Insurance: professional errors and omissions liability insurance with limits 
of liability not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence covering all work performed by the 
Professional, its employees, sub-contractors, or independent contractors. If this coverage can 
only be obtained on a “claims made” basis, the certificate of insurance must clearly state 
coverage is on a “claims made” basis and coverage must remain in effect for at least two years 
after final payment with the Professional continuing to furnish the City certificates of insurance.  
  
Workers Compensation Insurance: The Professional shall carry and maintain during the term 
of this Agreement, workers compensation and employers’ liability insurance meeting the 
requirements of the State of Texas on all the Professional’s employees carrying out the work 
involved in this contract.  
  
General Liability Insurance: The Professional shall carry and maintain during the term of this 
Agreement, general liability insurance on a per occurrence basis with limits of liability not less 
than $1,000,000 for each occurrence and for fire damage. For Bodily Injury and Property 
Damage, coverage shall be no less than $1,000,000. As a minimum, coverage for Premises, 
Operations, Products and Completed Operations shall be $2,000,000. This coverage shall 
protect the public or any person from injury or property damages sustained by reason of the 
Professional or its employees carrying out the work involved in this Agreement.  The general 
aggregate shall be no less than $2,000,000.  
  
Automobile Liability Insurance: Professional shall carry and maintain during the term of this 
Agreement, automobile liability insurance with either a combined limit of at least $1,000,000 
per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage or split limits of at least $1,000,000 for 
bodily injury per person per occurrence and $1,000,000 for property damage per occurrence. 
Coverage shall include all owned, hired, and non-owned motor vehicles used in the 
performance of this contract by the Professional or its employees.   
  
Subcontractor: In the case of any work sublet, the Professional shall require subcontractor and 
independent contractors working under the direction of either the Professional or a 
subcontractor to carry and maintain the same workers compensation and liability insurance 
required of the Professional.  
  
Qualifying Insurance: The insurance required by this Agreement shall be written by non-
assessable insurance company licensed to do business in the State of Texas and currently 
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Standard Professional Services Agreement – 10-22-21 Page 4 
 

rated "B+" or better by the A.M. Best Companies. All policies shall be written on a “per 
occurrence basis” and not a “claims made” form. 
 
Evidence of such insurance shall be attached as Exhibit “E”. 
 
Section 7.  Miscellaneous Provisions. 
 
(A) Subletting.  The Professional shall not sublet or transfer any portion of the work under this 
Agreement, or any Scope of Work issued pursuant to this Agreement unless specifically 
approved in writing by the City, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  
Subcontractors shall comply with all provisions of this Agreement and the applicable Scope of 
Work.  The approval or acquiescence of the City in the subletting of any work shall not relieve 
the Professional of any responsibility for work done by such subcontractor.
 
(B) Ownership of Documents.  Upon completion or termination of this Agreement, all 
documents prepared by the Professional or furnished to the Professional by the City shall be 
delivered to and become the property of the City.  All drawings, charts, calculations, plans, 
specifications and other data, including electronic files and raw data, prepared under or 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be made available, upon request, to the City without restriction 
or limitation on the further use of such materials PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT SUCH 
MATERIALS ARE NOT INTENDED OR REPRESENTED TO BE SUITABLE FOR REUSE BY 
THE CITY OR OTHERS.  ANY REUSE WITHOUT PRIOR VERIFICATION OR ADAPTATION 
BY THE PROFESSIONAL FOR THE SPECIFIC PURPOSE INTENDED WILL BE AT THE 
CITY’S SOLE RISK AND WITHOUT LIABILITY TO THE PROFESSIONAL.  Where applicable, 
Professional shall retain all pre-existing proprietary rights in the materials provided to the City 
but shall grant to the City a non-exclusive, perpetual, royalty-free license to use such 
proprietary information solely for the purposes for which the information was provided.  The 
Professional may, at Professional’s expense, have copies made of the documents or any other 
data furnished to the City under or pursuant to this Agreement.  
 
(C) Professional's Seal.  To the extent that the Professional has a professional seal it shall 
placed on all documents and data furnished by the Professional to the City.  All work and 
services provided under this Agreement will be performed in a good and workmanlike fashion 
and shall conform to the accepted standards and practices of the Professional’s industry.  The 
plans, specifications and data provided by Professional shall be adequate and sufficient to 
enable those performing the actual work to perform the work as and within the time 
contemplated by the City and Professional.  The City acknowledges that Professional has no 
control over the methods or means of work nor the costs of labor, materials or equipment.  
Unless otherwise agreed in writing, any estimates of costs by the Professional are for 
informational purposes only and are not guarantees. 
 
(D)  Compliance with Laws.  The Professional shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, 
statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any courts, 
administrative, or regulatory bodies in any matter affecting the performance of this Agreement, 
including, without limitation, worker’s compensation laws, minimum and maximum salary and 
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PSA – On-Call Engineering                                                  Page 5 

 

wage statutes and regulations, and licensing laws and regulations.  When required, the 
Professional shall furnish the City with satisfactory proof of compliance. 
 
(E) Independent Contractor.  Professional acknowledges that Professional is an independent 
contractor of the City and is not an employee, agent, official or representative of the City.  
Professional shall not represent, either expressly or through implication, that Professional is an 
employee, agent, official or representative of the City.  Income taxes, self-employment taxes, 
social security taxes and the like are the sole responsibility of the Professional. 
 
(F)  Non-Collusion.  Professional represents and warrants that Professional has not given, 
made, promised or paid, nor offered to give, make, promise or pay any gift, bonus, commission, 
money or other consideration to any person as an inducement to or in order to obtain the work 
to be provided to the City under this Agreement.  Professional further agrees that Professional 
shall not accept any gift, bonus, commission, money, or other consideration from any person 
(other than from the City pursuant to this Agreement) for any of the services performed by 
Professional under or related to this Agreement.  If any such gift, bonus, commission, money, 
or other consideration is received by or offered to Professional, Professional shall immediately 
report that fact to the City and, at the sole option of the City, the City may elect to accept the 
consideration for itself or to take the value of such consideration as a credit against the 
compensation otherwise owing to Professional under or pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
(G)  Force Majeure.  If the performance of any covenant or obligation to be performed 
hereunder by any party is delayed as a result of circumstances which are beyond the 
reasonable control of such party (which circumstances may include, without limitation, pending 
litigation, acts of God, war, acts of civil disobedience, fire or other casualty, shortage of 
materials, adverse weather conditions [such as, by way of illustration and not of limitation, 
severe rain storms or below freezing temperatures, or tornados] labor action, strikes or similar 
acts, moratoriums or regulations or actions by governmental authorities), the time for such 
performance shall be extended by the amount of time of such delay, but no longer than the 
amount of time reasonably occasioned by the delay.  The party claiming delay of performance 
as a result of any of the foregoing force majeure events shall deliver written notice of the 
commencement of any such delay resulting from such force majeure event not later than seven 
(7) days after the claiming party becomes aware of the same, and if the claiming party fails to 
so notify the other party of the occurrence of a force majeure event causing such delay and the 
other party shall not otherwise be aware of such force majeure event, the claiming party shall 
not be entitled to avail itself of the provisions for the extension of performance contained in this 
subsection. 
 
(H) In the case of any conflicts between the terms of this Agreement and wording contained 
within the Scope of Services, this Agreement shall govern.   The Scope of Services is intended 
to detail the technical scope of services, fee schedule, and contract time only and shall not 
dictate Agreement terms. 
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Section 8. Termination. 
 
(A) This Agreement may be terminated: 

(1)  By the mutual agreement and consent of both Professional and City; 
 

(2)  By either party, upon the failure of the other party to fulfill its obligations as set forth 
in either this Agreement or a Scope of Work issued under this Agreement; 
 

(3)  By the City, immediately upon notice in writing to the Professional, as consequence 
of the failure of Professional to perform the services contemplated by this Agreement in a timely 
or satisfactory manner; 
 

(4)  By the City, at will and without cause upon not less than thirty (30) days written 
notice to the Professional. 
 
(B) If the City terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 5 or subsection 8(A)(2) or (3), 
above, the Professional shall not be entitled to any fees or reimbursable expenses other than 
the fees and reimbursable expenses then due and payable as of the time of termination and 
only then for those services that have been timely and adequately performed by the 
Professional considering the actual costs incurred by the Professional in performing work to 
date of termination, the value of the work that is nonetheless usable to the City, the cost to the 
City of employing another Professional to complete the work required and the time required to 
do so, and other factors that affect the value to the City of the work performed at time of 
termination.  In the event of termination that is not the fault of the Professional, the Professional 
shall be compensated for all basic, special, and additional services actually performed prior to 
termination, together with any reimbursable expenses then due. 
 
Section 9.  Indemnification.  Professional shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 
City of Fair Oaks Ranch, Texas and its officials, employees and agents (collectively 
referred to as “Indemnitees”) and each of them from and against all loss, costs, 
penalties, fines, damages, claims, expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees) or 
liabilities (collectively referred to as “Liabilities”) by reason of any injury to or death of 
any person or damage to or destruction or loss of any property arising out of, resulting 
from, or in connection with  (i) the performance or non-performance of Services 
contemplated by this Agreement but only to the extent caused by the negligent acts, 
errors or omissions, intentional torts, intellectual property infringement, or a failure to 
pay a sub-contractor or supplier committed by Professional or Professional’s agent, 
consultant under contract, or another entity over which Professional exercises control 
(whether active or passive) of Professional or its employees, agents or sub-contractors 
(collectively referred to as “Professional”)  (ii) the failure of Professional to comply with 
any of the paragraphs herein or the failure of Professional to conform to statutes, 
ordinances, or other regulations or requirements of any governmental authority, federal, 
state or local, in connection with the performance of this Agreement.  Professional 
expressly agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Indemnitees, or any one of them, 
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from and against all liabilities which may be asserted by an employee or former 
employee of Professional, or any of its sub-contractors, as provided above, for which 
Professional’s liability to such employee or former employee would otherwise be limited 
to payments under State Workers’ Compensation or similar laws.  Nothing herein shall 
require Professional to indemnify, defend, or hold harmless any Indemnitee for the 
Indemnitee’s own negligence or willful misconduct.  Any and all indemnity provided for 
in this Agreement shall survive the expiration of this Agreement and the discharge of all 
other obligations owed by the parties to each other hereunder and shall apply 
prospectively not only during the term of this Agreement but thereafter so long as any 
liability could be asserted in regard to any acts or omissions of Professional in 
performing Services under this Agreement. 
 
For Professional Liability Claims, Professional shall be liable for reasonable defense 
costs incurred by Indemnitees but only after final adjudication and to the extent and 
percent that Professional or Professional’s agents are found negligent or otherwise at 
fault.  As used in this Agreement, final adjudication includes any negotiated settlement 
and release of claims, without limitation as to when a negotiated settlement and release 
of claims occurs.  
 
Section 10.  Notices.  Any notice required or desired to be given from one party to the other 
party to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given and shall be deemed to have been 
served and received (whether actually received or not) if (i) delivered in person to the address 
set forth below; (ii) deposited in an official depository under the regular care and custody of the 
United States Postal Service located within the confines of the United States of America and 
sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, and addressed to such party at the address 
hereinafter specified; or (iii) delivered to such party by courier receipted delivery.  Either party 
may designate another address within the confines of the continental United States of America 
for notice, but until written notice of such change is actually received by the other party, the last 
address of such party designated for notice shall remain such party's address for notice. 
 
Section 11.  No Assignment.  Neither party shall have the right to assign that party's interest 
in this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party. 
 
Section 12.  Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid 
or unenforceable, the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining terms or provisions of 
this Agreement shall not be affected thereby, and in lieu of each such illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable term or provision, there shall be added automatically to this Agreement a legal, 
valid or enforceable term or provision as similar as possible to the term or provision declared 
illegal, invalid or unenforceable. 
 
Section 13.  Waiver.  Either City or the Professional shall have the right to waive any 
requirement contained in this Agreement that is intended for the waiving party's benefit, but, 
except as otherwise provided herein, such waiver shall be effective only if in writing executed 
by the party for whose benefit such requirement is intended.  No waiver of any breach or 
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violation of any term of this Agreement shall be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of 
any other breach or violation, whether concurrent or subsequent, and whether of the same or 
of a different type of breach or violation. 
 
Section 14.  Governing Law; Venue.  This Agreement and all of the transactions 
contemplated herein shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
State of Texas.  The provisions and obligations of this Agreement are performable in Kendall 
County, Texas such that exclusive venue for any action arising out of this Agreement shall be 
in Kendall County, Texas. 
 
Section 15.  Paragraph Headings; Construction.  The paragraph headings contained in this 
Agreement are for convenience only and shall in no way enlarge or limit the scope or meaning 
of the various and several paragraphs hereof.  Both parties have participated in the negotiation 
and preparation of this Agreement and this Agreement shall not be construed either more or 
less strongly against or for either party. 
 
Section 16.  Binding Effect.  Except as limited herein, the terms and provisions of this 
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their 
respective heirs, devisees, personal and legal representatives, successors and assigns. 
 
Section 17.  Gender.  Within this Agreement, words of any gender shall be held and construed 
to include any other gender, and words in the singular number shall be held and construed to 
include the plural, unless the context otherwise requires. 
 
Section 18.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each 
of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall constitute but one and the same 
instrument. 
 
Section 19.  Exhibits.  All exhibits to this Agreement are incorporated herein by reference for 
all purposes wherever reference is made to the same. 
 
Section 20.  Entire Agreement.  It is understood and agreed that this Agreement contains the 
entire agreement between the parties and supersedes any and all prior agreements, 
arrangements or understandings between the parties relating to the subject matter.  No oral 
understandings, statements, promises or inducements contrary to the terms of this Agreement 
exist.  This Agreement cannot be changed or terminated orally. 
 
Section 21.  Relationship of Parties.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed 
or construed by the parties hereto or by any third party to create the relationship of principal 
and agent or of partnership or of joint venture or of any association whatsoever between the 
parties, it being expressly understood and agreed that no provision contained in this Agreement 
nor any act or acts of the parties hereto shall be deemed to create any relationship between 
the parties other than the relationship of  independent parties contracting with each other solely 
for the purpose of effecting the provisions of this Agreement. 
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Section 22.  Right To Audit.  City shall have the right to examine and audit the books and 
records of Professional with regards to the work described in Exhibit A, or any subsequent 
changes, at any reasonable time. Such books and records will be maintained in accordance 
with generally accepted principles of accounting and will be adequate to enable determination 
of: (1) the substantiation and accuracy of any payments required to be made under this 
Agreement; and (2) compliance with the provisions of this Agreement. 
 
Section 23.  Dispute Resolution. In accordance with the provisions of Subchapter I, Chapter 
271, TEX. LOCAL GOV’T CODE, the parties agree that, prior to instituting any lawsuit or other 
proceeding arising from a dispute under this agreement, the parties will first attempt to resolve 
the dispute by taking the following steps:  (1)  A written notice substantially describing the 
nature of the dispute shall be delivered by the dissatisfied party to the other party, which notice 
shall request a written response to be delivered to the dissatisfied party not less than 5 days 
after receipt of the notice of dispute.  (2)  If the response does not reasonably resolve the 
dispute, in the opinion of the dissatisfied party, the dissatisfied party shall give notice to that 
effect to the other party whereupon each party shall appoint a person having authority over the 
activities of the respective parties who shall promptly meet, in person, in an effort to resolve 
the dispute.  (3)  If those persons cannot or do not resolve the dispute, then the parties shall 
each appoint a person from the highest tier of managerial responsibility within each respective 
party, who shall then promptly meet, in person, in an effort to resolve the dispute. 
 
Section 24.  Disclosure of Business Relationships/Affiliations; Conflict of Interest 
Questionnaire.  Professional represents that it is in compliance with the applicable filing and 
disclosure requirements of Chapter 176 of the Texas Local Government Code. 
 
Section 25.  Boycott Israel. The City may not enter into a contract with a company for goods 
and services unless the contract contains a written verification from the company; (i) it does 
not Boycott Israel; and (ii) will not Boycott Israel during the term of the contract. (Texas 
government code chapter 2270) by entering this agreement, Professional verifies that it does 
not Boycott Israel, and agrees that during the term of the agreement will not Boycott Israel as 
that term is defined in the Texas Government Code Section 808.001, as amended. 
 
Section 26.  Energy Company Boycotts.  Professional represents and warrants that: (1) it 
does not, and will not for the duration of the contract, boycott energy companies or (2) the 
verification required by Section 2274.002 of the Texas Government Code does not apply to the 
contract.  If circumstances relevant to this provision change during the course of the contract, 
Professional shall promptly notify City. 
 
Section 27.  Firearm Entities and Trade Association Discrimination.  Professional verifies 
that: (1) it does not, and will not for the duration of the contract, have a practice, policy, 
guidance, or directive that discriminates against a firearm entity or firearm trade association or 
(2) the verification required by Section 2274.002 of the Texas Government Code does not apply 
to the contract.  If circumstances relevant to this provision change during the course of the 
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contract, Professional shall promptly notify City. 
 
Section 28.  Multiyear contract. “The Parties acknowledge and agree that Article 11, Sections 
5 and 7 of the Texas Constitution prohibits municipalities from incurring debt beyond its current 
budget year without first providing for a 2% percent sinking fund. As this Agreement provides 
for payment not to exceed the City’s fiscal year budget, the Parties hereby agree that: 
notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary the City’s obligation to 
make payment on this Agreement shall terminate according to Section 8 of this 
agreement. Should City Council fail to provide such funding, the City shall have no 
further financial obligation under this agreement after September 30th of the required 
year, and the Professional shall have no further obligation under this Agreement save 
and except its obligation to complete all work for which payment was made by City. It is 
City Council’s intent to use its best efforts to obtain and appropriate funds for payment. 
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EXECUTED, by the City on _____________________________________________. 
 
 
CITY:                               

 PROFESSIONAL:                               
  

 
By:_________________________        By:__________________________ 
 
Name: Tobin Maples, AICP   Name:   
 
Title: City Manager     Title:________________________   
 
ADDRESS FOR NOTICE: 
 
CITY        PROFESSIONAL 
 
City of Fair Oaks Ranch     
Attn:  City Secretary      
7286 Dietz Elkhorn      
Fair Oaks Ranch, TX  78015    
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EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 
This agreement is for on-call engineering services. A specific scope of work for each  
project will be included in each work authorization. This agreement shall remain valid 
for a period of four (4) years from contract execution and may be extended upon 
agreement by both parties. This agreement does not guarantee any compensation to 
consultant. Compensation will be defined in specific work authorizations executed 
throughout the duration of this contract.  
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EXHIBIT B 
COMPENSATION 

 
Hourly rates for each consultant have been determined to be fair and reasonable and 
will be included in each individual PSA upon award. 
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EXHIBIT “C” 
 

REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL INSURANCE DOCUMENTS 
 

The Professional shall comply with each, and every condition contained herein. The 
Professional shall provide and maintain the minimum insurance coverage set forth below 
during the term of its agreement with the City. Any Subcontractor(s) hired by the Professional 
shall maintain insurance coverage equal to that required of the Professional. It is the 
responsibility of the Professional to assure compliance with this provision. The City of Fair Oaks 
Ranch accepts no responsibility arising from the conduct, or lack of conduct, of the 
Subcontractor. 

 
INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETION OF INSURANCE DOCUMENT 

With reference to the foregoing insurance requirements, Professional shall specifically endorse 
applicable insurance policies as follows: 

1. The City of Fair Oaks Ranch shall be named as an additional insured with respect to 

General Liability and Automobile Liability on a separate endorsement. 

2. A waiver of subrogation in favor of The City of Fair Oaks Ranch shall be contained in 

the Workers Compensation and all liability policies and must be provided on a separate 

endorsement. 

3. All insurance policies shall be endorsed to the effect that The City of Fair Oaks Ranch 

will receive at least thirty (30) days written notice prior to cancellation or non-renewal of 

the insurance. 

4. All insurance policies, which name The City of Fair Oaks Ranch as an additional insured, 

must be endorsed to read as primary and non-contributory coverage regardless of the 

application of other insurance. 

5. Chapter 1811 of the Texas Insurance Code, Senate Bill 425 82(R) of 2011, states 

that the above endorsements cannot be on the certificate of insurance. Separate 

endorsements must be provided for each of the above. 

6. All insurance policies shall be endorsed to require the insurer to immediately notify The 

City of Fair Oaks Ranch of any material change in the insurance coverage. 

7. All liability policies shall contain no cross-liability exclusions or insured versus insured 

restrictions. 

8. Required limits may be satisfied by any combination of primary and umbrella liability 

insurances. 

9. Professional may maintain reasonable and customary deductibles, subject to approval 

by The City of Fair Oaks Ranch. 

10. Insurance must be purchased from insurers having a minimum AmBest rating of B+. 

11. All insurance must be written on forms filed with and approved by the Texas Department 

of Insurance. (ACORD 25 2010/05). Coverage must be written on an occurrence form. 

12. Contractual Liability must be maintained covering the Professionals obligations 

contained in the contract. Certificates of Insurance shall be prepared and executed by 
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the insurance company or its authorized agent and shall contain provisions representing 

and warranting all endorsements and insurance coverages according to requirements 

and instructions contained herein. 

13. Upon request, Professional shall furnish The City of Fair Oaks Ranch with certified 

copies of all insurance policies. 

14. A valid certificate of insurance verifying each of the coverages required above shall be 

issued directly to the City of Fair Oaks Ranch within ten (10) business days after contract 

award and prior to starting any work by the successful Professional’s insurance agent 

of record or insurance company. Also, prior to the start of any work and at the same time 

that the Certificate of Insurance is issued and sent to the City of Fair Oaks Ranch, all 

required endorsements identified in sections A, B, C and D, above shall be sent to the 

City of Fair Oaks Ranch. The certificate of insurance and endorsements shall be sent 

to: 

City of Fair Oaks Ranch  
emailed to: choelscher@fairoaksranchtx.org   
Attn: Clayton Hoelscher, Procurement Manager 
7286 Dietz Elkhorn 
Fair Oaks Ranch, TX 78015 
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EXHIBIT “D” 
 

EVIDENCE OF INSURANCE 
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CITY COUNCIL CONSIDERATION ITEM 
CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

February 17, 2022 
 

 
AGENDA TOPIC: Consideration and possible action on filling the Planning & Zoning 

Commission’s Place 5 unexpired term 

START DATE: February 17, 2022 

DEPARTMENT: City Secretary 

PRESENTED BY: Mayor Gregory Maxton 
P&Z Chairperson Bobbe Barnes 

 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 

Section 3.04 (d) of the City Charter provides the Mayor shall appoint, upon nomination by majority 
vote of the City Council, the members of citizen advisory boards and commissions. 

 On March 19, 2018, under Resolution 2018-06, the City Council appointed Douglas Leonard 
to serve on the P&Z Commission as Commissioner, Place 5. 

 On September 17, 2020, under Resolution 2020-19, Commissioner Leonard was re-
appointed to serve October 1, 2020 through September 30, 2023.   

 On December 29, 2021, the City received notification of Commissioner Leonard’s 
resignation from the Commission.  

Section 2.1 of the Commission’s Rules of Procedure states, “The Planning and Zoning Commission 
was established, under Ordinance 2018-03, and members serve at the will of the City Council. 
Appointments/reappointments to the Planning and Zoning Commission shall be made annually 
based on the term expiration and expressed interest of members to continue to serve, or at such other 
times as may be authorized by State Law. Terms shall coincide with the city’s fiscal year (October 1 
through September 30). Appointments to fill unexpired terms will be made on an as need basis.   

Tonight’s agenda item is to receive guidance from the City Council on how staff is to proceed with 
the unexpired term: 

 Appoint to fill the unexpired term 
o City Council to appoint directly; or 
o City Council to perform the standardized appointment process (interviews) 

 Leave the unexpired term unfilled until October 2022. 

Note:  There are no open applications on file in the City Secretary’s office and all candidates 
interviewed in September 2021 were placed on a city committee, board, or commission.   

This agenda item was originally brought for council consideration at the January 20, 2022, council 
meeting.  Council deferred the item at that time, desiring feedback from the P&Z Chairperson.  
Mayor Maxton reached out to Chairperson Barnes, who expressed interest in filling the position 
as soon as possible. 
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POLICY ANALYSIS/BENEFIT(S) TO CITIZENS: 

1. Complies with Section 2.1 of the Planning and Zoning Commission’s Rules of Procedure relative 
to a filling a Commissioner’s unexpired term. 

2. Provides the City Council with two options on addressing the unexpired term. 

LONGTERM FINANCIAL & BUDGETARY IMPACT: 

None. 

LEGAL ANALYSIS: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDATION/PROPOSED MOTION: 

Two potential motions: 
 
A.  I move to fill Place 5 P&Z Commissioner’s unexpired term by direct appointment or by 

utilizing the city’s standardized appointment process. 

B. I move to leave Place 5 P&Z Commissioner’s unexpired term unfilled until October 1, 2022. 
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CITY COUNCIL CONSIDERATION ITEM 
CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

February 17, 2022 
 

 
AGENDA TOPIC: Consideration and possible action on filling the open Zoning Board of 

Adjustment Place 1 and Alternate Places 6 and 7. 

DATE:  February 17, 2022 

DEPARTMENT: City Secretary 

PRESENTED BY: Christina Picioccio, TRMC, City Secretary 

 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 

The City’s Zoning Ordinance, Section 14.01.004 (a) entitled, “Zoning Board of Adjustment” 
provides for the structure and procedure of the Zoning Board of Adjustment (“the Board”): 

(1) Creations, Appointment and Removal 

a. The Zoning Board of Adjustment is established in accordance with Chapter 211 of 
the Texas Local Government Code (LGC).  The Board Members are appointed by the 
City Council. 

b. The Board shall consist of five (5) members who shall be appointed by majority vote 
of the city Council. 

c. A member may only be removed for cause. 

d. A vacancy on the Board shall be filled for the unexpired term. 

e. City Council, by majority vote, shall appoint two individuals as alternate board 
members to serve in the absence of one or more regular members when requested 
to do so by the Mayor or City Manager.  An alternate member serves for the same 
period as a regular member and is subject to removal in the same manner as a 
regular member4.  A vacancy among the alternate embers is filled in the same 
manner as a vacancy among the regular members. 

During the last appointment process at the end of Fiscal Year 2020-2021, due to limited 
applications received, the city was unable to fill Place 1 and Alternate Places 6 & 7. 

In addition, Section 14.01.004 (b) of the City’s Zoning Ordinance entitled, ”Meetings and Vote” 
states: 

(1) Each case that goes before the ZBOA must be heard by at least four (4) of the five (5) 
members. 

(2) The concurring vote of four (4) of the five (5) members of the ZBOA is necessary to: 
a. Reverse an order, requirement, decision, or determination of an administrative 

official, or 

b. Authorize a variation from the terms of a zoning regulation.   

To properly perform their role and allow for potential absenteeism, it will require its’ five (5) 
regular members and at least one (1) alternate. 
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Tonight’s agenda item is to receive guidance from the City Council on how staff is to proceed with 
the filling these open seats as the City anticipates receiving an application to go before the ZBOA 
very soon. 

a. City Council can appoint directly; or 

b. City Council can perform the standardized appointment process (interviews) 

Note:  There are no open applications on file in the City Secretary’s office and all candidates 
interviewed in September 2021 were placed on a city committee, board, or commission.   

POLICY ANALYSIS/BENEFIT(S) TO CITIZENS: 

1. Complies with Section 14.01.004 (a) of the Zoning Ordinance. 

2. Provides the City Council with two options on addressing filling the open seats. 

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL & BUDGETARY IMPACT: 

N/A 

LEGAL ANALYSIS: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDATION/PROPOSED MOTION: 

Two potential motions: 
 
A.  I move to fill Place 1 and Alternate Places 6 & 7 of the Zoning Board of Adjustment by direct 

appointment. 

B. I move to fill Place 1 and Alternate Places 6 & 7 of the Zoning Board of Adjustment by utilizing 
the City’s standardized appointment process. 
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CITY COUNCIL REPORT 
CITY OF FAIR OAKS RANCH, TEXAS 

February 17, 2022 
 

 

AGENDA TOPIC: Presentation of Financial Update and Quarterly Investment Report for Q1 of 
Fiscal Year 2022 

DATE: February 17, 2022 

DEPARTMENT: Finance  

PRESENTED BY: Scott Huizenga, Assistant City Manager, Administrative Services 

 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 

Pursuant to Texas Government Code Section 2256.023 and the City’s Investment Policy Section 
12, City staff is required, on a quarterly basis, to prepare and submit to City Council a written 
report of investment transactions that have occurred since the previous report, and the market 
value of the current investments. 

The attached presentation is being made to comply with PFIA reporting requirements and provide  
a financial update for Q1 of FY22. 

POLICY ANALYSIS/BENEFIT(S) TO CITIZENS: 

Frequent review and reporting of the City’s assets and investment vehicles is both prudent and 
necessary to verify that the City’s investment portfolio is being managed according to the 
investment policy. 

LONGTERM FINANCIAL & BUDGETARY IMPACT: 

The investment portfolio shall be managed in accordance with the objectives specified in the 
investment policy (safety, liquidity, diversification, and yield). The portfolio should obtain a 
market average rate of return during a market/economic environment of stable interest rates.  

LEGAL ANALYSIS: 

Not applicable at this time. 

RECOMMENDATION/PROPOSED MOTION: 

This presentation is for informational purposes only and to comply with requirements under 
Texas Government Code Section 2256.023 and the City’s Investment Policy. 
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FINANCIAL UPDATE AND 

QUARTERLY INVESTMENT 

REPORT
Presented by Scott Huizenga, Assistant City 

Manager

February 17, 2022
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General Fund

2 Page 170

Item #15.



General Fund Revenues

Type FY 2021 
Actual

FY 2022 
Budget

FY 2022 
Projection

Q1 Actual % of 
Budget

Property Tax $5,881,175 $5,769,476 $5,769,476 $2,330,827 40.4%

Sales Tax 1,435,762 1,570,018 1,570,018 126,633 8.1%

Franchise Fees 651,534 618,200 618,200 27,589 4.5%

Permits 499,777 400,000 400,000 84,941 21.2%

Fines & Forfeitures 139,753 129,923 129,923 42,538 32.7%

All Other 829,727 575,901 583,851 103,181 17.9%

Totals $9,437,728 $9,063,518 $9,071,468 $2,715,708 30.0%
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General Fund Expenses

Type FY 2021 
Actual

FY 2022 
Budget

FY 2022 
Projection

Q1 Actual % of 
Budget

Personnel $4,305,366 $5,205,922 $5,211,275 $1,024,797 19.7%

Supplies, Maint, Ops 721,305 1,325,097 1,325,197 60,137 4.5%

Prof. Services 1,149,943 1,427,218 1,427,218 205,497 14.4%

Shared Services 353,885 513,773 513,729 202,158 39.3%

Capital Outlay 316,341 389,500 418,558 29,058 7.5%

Transfers 472,493 1,140,185 1,140,185 1,140,185 100.0%

Totals $7,319,333 $10,001,695 $10,036,162 $2,661,833 26.6%
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Property Taxes

40.7% of Budgeted Ad 

Valorem Tax levy 
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Residential Permits

33 New Residential Home 

permits issued this 

quarter as compared to 

61 the same time last 

year.

6
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Sales Tax
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Enterprise Fund
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Enterprise Fund Highlights
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Utility Revenues

Type FY 2021 
Actual

FY 2022 
Budget

FY 2022 
Projection

Q1 Actual % of 
Budget

Water Revenues $4,268,594 $4,325,991 $4,326,491 $915,579 21.2%

Wastewater 
Revenues

1,415,841 2,290,608 2,290,608 331,256 14.5%

Totals $5,684,435 $6,616,599 $6,617,099 $1,246,835 18.8%
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Utility Expenses and Non-

Cash Adjustments

Type FY 2021 
Actual

FY 2022 
Budget

FY 2022 
Projection

Q1 Actual % of 
Budget

Personnel $1,389,854 $1,792,534 $1,792,096 $387,967 21.6%

Supplies, Maint, Ops 2,179,467 2,531,775 2,533,201 635,482 25.1%

Services 377,461 289,991 289,991 73,800 25.4%

Total Expenses $3,946,782 $4,614,300 $4,615,289 $1,097,429 23.8%

Total Capital and 
Non-Cash Adjust

$926,704 $1,225,621 $1,225,621 $194,540 15.9%
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Quarterly Investment 

Report
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Investment Report

13

Security Yield Beg Bal
Transfers 

In/(Out) *

Interest 

Earnings
Ending Bal Ending Market

Weighted 

Avg 

Maturity **

Pool (Texpool 004) General 0.04% 15,415,251      1,963,828           1,500            17,380,579        17,380,579       41 days

Pool (Texpool 006) Debt Service  0.04% 35,522             -                       3                    35,525               35,525               41 days

Pool (Texpool 001) Utility 0.04% 1,135,684        -                       106               1,135,790          1,135,790          41 days

Pool (Texpool 002) Water Cap 0.04% 179,433           -                       17                 179,449             179,449             41 days

Pool (Texpool 003)  Sewer Cap 0.04% 84,328             -                       8                    84,336               84,336               41 days

Pool (Texpool 005) 1997 CO 0.04% -                    -                       -                -                      -                      41 days

TOTAL 16,850,217      1,963,828           1,634            18,815,679        18,815,679       -                   

Investment Inventory

10/1/2021 - 12/31/2021

*  Transfers In/Out

Transfers out of TexPool accounts represent vendor payments made, or funding of city operations by transferring funds to   

the City’s operating cash account. Transfers into TexPool accounts represent deposits of property tax revenue.

** Weighted Average Maturity

Per the City's investment policy, the City will not directly invest in securities maturing more than 13 months from the date

of purchase. Reserve funds may be invested in securities up to 2 years. 
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Investment Report

14
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FINANCIAL UPDATE AND 

QUARTERLY INVESTMENT 

REPORT
Presented by Scott Huizenga, Assistant City 

Manager

February 17, 2022
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